STIMULUS RESPONSE COUPLING IN THE CAROTID BODY: A ROLE FOR METABOLIC SIGNALLING

by

ANDREW PHILLIP STEPHEN HOLMES

A thesis submitted to The University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> School of Clinical and Experimental Medicine College of Medical and Dental Sciences The University of Birmingham January 2013

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

Abstract

The mammalian carotid body (CB) is the primary sensory organ that responds to a reduction in arterial O₂ tension. Activation of the CB and stimulation of its chemoafferent fibres evokes a series of well characterised cardiovascular and respiratory reflexes that act to restore normal O₂ levels throughout the organism. A role for an elevated CB chemoafferent outflow in the aetiology and progression of a number of cardiorespiratory disease states has been identified, emphasising the importance of understanding the signalling mechanisms required to activate the CB in hypoxia. In this thesis evidence is provided indicating that the CB response to hypoxia is a consequence of a reduction in mitochondrial energy metabolism and stimulation of the liver kinase B 1/AMP activated protein kinase signalling cascade. Questions also remain over the potential for other stimuli to acutely stimulate the CB. Observations described in this investigation suggest that the CB is not directly sensitive to glucose deprivation and that it preserves energy status in these conditions by metabolism of stored glycogen. Finally, chemoafferent outflow is, ultimately, dependent upon neurotransmission and small molecule neuromodulation. This thesis demonstrates a previously uncharacterised key functional role for adenosine derived from extracellular catabolism of ATP in mediating chemoafferent activity.

Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank Prem Kumar, my lead supervisor and mentor, for all his valuable tutelage and guidance over the last three years. His enthusiasm and knowledge of the carotid body and oxygen sensing have been inspirational. Many thanks to David Hauton, my second supervisor, for his important help and advice, especially regarding metabolism. Special thanks to the Postgraduate School at the University of Birmingham for awarding me the A.E. Hills scholarships which allowed me to continue to study for the Ph.D. after the first year; I am extremely grateful to have been given this opportunity. Thank you to Wendy Leadbeater for her help with establishing the carotid body immunohistochemistry technique, Keith Buckler for allowing me to perform some of the experiments at the University of Oxford and to Mark Evans, at the University of Edinburgh, for the development and shipment of the transgenic animals used within this study. A special thank you to Clare Ray; a trusted advisor and friend. Thank you to Andy Coney for his valuable advice on how to improve my research techniques and presentation of data. Thank you to all of the friends I made in the link labs and especially to Fahima Syeda, Annie Stride and Will Rook for helping me to settle in when I first arrived. Thank you to Clare Box, Abu Gassama and Emma Thompson for putting up with me when I needed to talk things through.

Outside of the University I wish to thank my very close friend Jon Pitt for always being there to cheer me up when I needed it most. Thank you to Jeff Hancock, Wayne Mitchell, Rumel Ahmed and Luke Thackery for their friendship and continued encouragement. Many thanks to all of my team-mates and friends at Stourbridge Racketball Club for trying to make me realise that there is more to life than the carotid body.

Finally, and most important to me, I would like to thank my family. Without their unselfish support I would not have been able to complete my thesis. For this I will always owe a considerable debt of gratitude.

List of abbreviations

4-AP	4-aminopyridine
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptophan (serotonin)
8-SPT	8-(p-sulfophenyl) theophylline (adenosine receptor antagonist)
A ₂	adenosine receptor 2
ACh	acetylcholine
AChE	acetylcholine esterase
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
AICAR	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide
AMPK	AMP activated protein kinase
AOPCP	α , β -methylene ADP (CD73 inhibitor)
ARC	arcuate nucleus
ASIC3	acid sensing ion channel 3
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BK _{Ca}	large conductance Ca ²⁺ activated K ⁺ channel
BSA	bovine serum albumin
C57BL/6J	C57 black 6 mouse strain
CA	catecholamine
CAH	carbonic anhydrase
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
СВ	carotid body
CBS	cystathione β synthase
CCA	common carotid artery
CCCP	carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone
CD39	ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolyase 1
CD73	ecto-5'-nucleotidase
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
ChAT	choline acetyl transferase
CHF	chronic heart failure
ChTX	charybdotoxin

CIH	chronic intermittent hypoxia
СО	carbon monoxide
Compound C	6-[4-(piperidin-1-yl-ethoxy)-phenyl]-3-pyridin-4-yl-pyrrazolol-[1,5-a]-
	pyrimidine (AMPK inhibitor)
CSE	cystathione γ lyase
CSN	carotid sinus nerve
D ₂	dopamine receptor 2
DA	dopamine
DAB	1, 4-dideoxy-1, 4-imino D-arabinitol hydrochloride (glycogen
	phosphorylase inhibitor)
DAG	diacylglycerol
DMSO	dimethyl sulphoxide
DNP	2,4-dinitrophenol
ECA	external carotid artery
Em	membrane potential
ENT	equilibrative adenosine transporter
EPAC	exchange protein activated by cAMP
FADH ₂	reduced flavin adenine dinucleotide
FBS	foetal bovine serum
FCCP	carbonyl cyanide 4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone
GE	glucose stimulated neurone
GI	glucose inhibited neurone
GLUT	glucose transporter
GSH	reduced glutathione
GSSG	glutathione disulphide
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
H ₂ S	hydrogen sulphide
HEK 293	human embryonic kidney 293 cell line
HEX	hexamethonium
HIF	hypoxia inducible factor
hx	hypoxia
НО	haemoxygenase
ICA	internal carotid artery
K _m	Michaelis constant

КО	knock out
LH	lateral hypothalamic region
Lkb1	liver kinase B1
MABP	mean arterial blood pressure
Mb	myoglobin
MO25	mouse protein 25
MSNA	muscle sympathetic nerve activity
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NBTI	S-(4-nitrobenzyl)-6-thioinosine
nAChR	nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
NADH	reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NO	nitric oxide
NO ₂ ⁻	nitrite
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
NOX	NADPH oxidase
NTS	nucleus tractus solitarius
O ₂ ⁻	superoxide anion
OA	occipital artery
P ₂	purinergic receptor 2
рН _і	intracellular pH
рН _о	extracellular pH
PC12	pheochromocytoma 12 cell line
PKA	protein kinase A
РКС	protein kinase C
PKG	protein kinase G
PP2C	protein phosphatase 2C
ROS	reactive oxygen species
R-N-H ₂	amine group
R-S-H	thiol group
R-SNO	S-nitrosated thiol group
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
sAC	soluble adenylate cyclase
SCG	superior cervical ganglion

SDB	sleep disordered breathing
SDHD	succinate dehydrogenase anchoring protein
SiRNA	small interfering ribonucleic acid
sLTF	sensory long term facilitation
SNA	sympathetic nerve activity
SOD	superoxide dismutase
STRAD	Ste20-related adaptor
TASK	TWIK-related acid sensitive K^+ channel
TEA	tetraethylammonium
Thr 172	threonine residue on the $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ subunit of AMPK
tmAC	transmembrane adenylate cyclase
TWIK	two pore domain K ⁺ channel
TREK	TWIK-related K ⁺ channel
ТН	tyrosine hydroxylase
VChaT	vesicular acetylcholine transporter
VE	minute ventilation
VO ₂	O ₂ consumption
WT	wild type

Table of Contents

1. Introduction1
1.1 Summative overview1
1.2 Mechanisms of acute oxygen sensing in the mammalian carotid body4
1.2.1 Basic anatomy and histology of the carotid body4
1.2.2 Established hypoxic chemotransduction processes in the mammalian carotid body5
1.3 The mitochondrial hypothesis12
1.3.1 Chemoexcitation evoked through mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxia share a number
of similar chemotransduction processes12
1.3.2 The mitochondria in the carotid body type I cells appear to have a uniquely low affinity
for O ₂ 13
1.3.3 Interaction between mitochondrial inhibitors and hypoxia14
1.3.4 Is hypoxia coupled to a decrease in [ATP] _i ?16
1.3.5 Is chemoexcitation evoked in hypoxia dependent on mitochondrial reactive oxygen
species generation?17
1.4 Linking cellular metabolic stress to type I cell activation: a role for the Lkb1-AMPK
pathway20
1.4.1 Basic properties of AMPK and Lkb120
1.4.2 Physiological and pharmacological activation of AMPK24
1.4.3 Carotid body stimulation by hypoxia; a role for AMPK25
1.5 Gasotransmitters in the carotid body; alternative hypotheses for acute hypoxia
sensing in the carotid body26
1.5.1 A role for carbon monoxide in mediating the carotid body response to hypoxia27
1.5.2 Hydrogen sulphide in carotid body oxygen sensing
1.5.3 Regulation of the carotid body response to hypoxia by nitric oxide

1.5.4 Enzymatic nitric oxide generation from nitrite	35
1.5.5 Mitochondrial nitrite reduction as a novel mechanism for NO generation	36
1.5.6 Modification of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation by nitrite	37
1.6 Mechanisms of hypercapnic chemotransduction in the carotid body	41
1.6.1 Established hypercapnic chemotransduction processes in the carotid body	41
1.6.2 Linking hypercapnia with type I cell depolarisation; a role for carbonic anhydrase	and
H ⁺	42
1.6.3 Effects of CO_2 on carotid body function that are independent of pH changes	45
1.6.4 CO_2 - O_2 interactions in the carotid body	46
1.7 The carotid body in glucose sensing	47
1.7.1 General overview of the properties and mechanisms of some glucose sensitive	
tissues	47
1.7.2 A role for the carotid body in systemic glucose homeostasis	50
1.7.3 Altered chemosensitivity and ventilatory responses in hypoglycaemia	51
1.7.4 Acute sensitivity of the carotid body to low glucose in vitro	52
1.8 Neurotransmission and neuromodulation in the carotid body	55
1.8.1 Acetylcholine and ATP	55
1.8.2 Dopamine and serotonin	57
1.8.3 Adenosine signalling in normoxic/hyperoxic conditions	59
1.8.4 Adenosine generation and signalling in hypoxia	61
1.8.5 The mechanisms accounting for excitatory modulation of the carotid body by	
adenosine	64
1.9 The clinical implications of carotid body plasticity	66
1.9.1 Sleep disordered breathing and chronic intermittent hypoxia	66
1.9.2 Chronic heart failure and spontaneous hypertension	70
1.10 Overview of project aims	72

2. Methods	74
2.1 Extracellular electrophysiological recordings	74
2.1.1 Surgical procedures and carotid body tissue isolation	74
2.1.2 Superfusion system	76
2.1.3 Extracellular recordings of single and few-fibre chemoafferent neurones	77
2.1.4 Flow meter calibration	78
2.1.5 Oxygen electrode calibration	81
2.1.6 Generation of hypoxic response curves to monitor the hypoxic sensitivity of the	e
carotid body	83
2.1.7 Analysing the parameters of the hypoxic response curves to identify changes i	n
carotid body hypoxic sensitivity	88
2.1.8 Monitoring the chemoafferent response to an increase in superfusate PCO_2 to	assess
changes in carotid body hypercapnic sensitivity	91
2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca ²⁺ and NADH fluoreso	ence
2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca ²⁺ and NADH fluoreso	ence
2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca ²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation	:ence 93
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]_i 	cence 93 93 94
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]; 2.2.3 Solutions 	ence 93 93 94 96
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]_i 2.2.3 Solutions 2.3 Carotid body tissue immunohistochemistry 	ence 93 93 94 96 97
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation. 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]_i	2ence 93 94 96 97 oxia in
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]; 2.2.3 Solutions 2.3 Carotid body tissue immunohistochemistry 3. Examining the interaction between mild mitochondrial inhibition and hype the carotid body using exogenous nitrite. 	2ence 93 93 94 96 97 oxia in 100
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]; 2.3 Solutions 2.3 Carotid body tissue immunohistochemistry 3. Examining the interaction between mild mitochondrial inhibition and hype the carotid body using exogenous nitrite 3.1 Chapter introduction and overview 	ence 93 94 96 97 oxia in 100 100
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation	ence 93 93 94 96 97 oxia in 100 103
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation 2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]. 2.3 Solutions 2.3 Carotid body tissue immunohistochemistry 3. Examining the interaction between mild mitochondrial inhibition and hype the carotid body using exogenous nitrite 3.1 Chapter introduction and overview 3.2 Results 3.2.1 Nitrite causes dose dependent carotid body chemostimulation that is coupled of the carotid body chemostimulation t	cence 93 94 96 96 97 oxia in 97 oxia in 100 100 103 with an
 2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluoreso 2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation	2ence 93 93 94 96 97 oxia in 97 oxia in 100 103 with an 103

3.2.3 Mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite alters the carotid body response to hypoxia
3.2.4 Mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite alters the carotid body response to
hypercapnia112
3.2.5 Carotid body chemostimulation by mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite is mediated
through activation of AMPK114
3.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion117
3.3.1 Summary of key findings117
3.3.2 Mild inhibition of mitochondrial function changes the set point for hypoxia stimulus
response coupling in the carotid body118
3.3.3 The use of exogenous nitrite as a novel type I cell mitochondrial inhibitor
3.3.4 A role for endogenous nitric oxide in modulating type I cell mitochondrial function 121
3.3.5 Mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite sensitised the CB to hypercapnic stimulation 122
3.3.6 Carotid body chemoafferent stimulation produced by mitochondrial inhibition with
nitrite is regulated by activation of AMPK123
3.3.7 Conclusions126
4. Does the Lkb1-AMPK signalling pathway provide the key to carotid body
activation by hypoxia?127
4.1 Chapter introduction and overview127
4.2 Results131
4.2.1 Mouse model development and generation of carotid body type I cells deficient in
Lkb1131
4.2.2 Deletion of Lkb1 in carotid body type I cells virtually abolishes the chemoafferent
response to hypoxia134
4.2.3 Deletion of Lkb1 in carotid body type I cells attenuates the chemoafferent response to
hypercapnia140
4.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion143

4.3.1 Summary of key findings	143
4.3.2 Lkb1 expression in the carotid body is central to the generation of basal	
chemoafferent discharge frequency	144
4.3.3 Lkb1 provides the key to carotid body activation by hypoxia	145
4.3.4 Lkb1 deletion attenuates the carotid body response to hypercapnia; is this du	le to a
complete lack of type I cell function?	148
4.3.5 Conclusions	150
5. Studying the effects of glucose deprivation on the intact carotid body in	vitro:
low glucose sensing or metabolic depletion?	151
5.1 Chapter introduction and overview	151
5.2 Results	154
5.2.1 The impact of basal chemoafferent fibre discharge frequency on the time tak	en for the
carotid body to respond to glucose deprivation	154
5.2.2 Exposure of the carotid body to severe hypoxia reduces the time taken to res	spond to
subsequent glucose deprivation	157
5.2.3 The lack of acute excitation induced by glucose deprivation in the carotid boo	dy; a
functional role for glycogen	161
5.2.4 Stimulation evoked by glucose deprivation can be reversed by 1 mM glucose	;
evidence against the carotid body being a physiological glucose receptor	165
5.2.5 Excitation induced by glucose deprivation can be abolished or is rapidly reve	rsed by
lactate and pyruvate; evidence for a response to metabolic stress rather than direc	tly to low:
glucose	168
5.2.6 Evaluating the effects of glucose deprivation on acute hypoxic sensitivity	171
5.2.7 The impact of carotid body tissue incubation on the subsequent response to	glucose
deprivation	173
5.2.8 The impact of glucose deprivation on dissociated rat carotid body type I cells	176
5.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion	178

	5.3.1 Key Findings	178
	5.3.2 The mechanism of glucose free induced chemoexcitation in the intact carotid body	179
	5.3.3 The intact carotid body did not respond acutely to glucose deprivation; a role for	
	glycogen	181
	5.3.4 Is the chemoafferent response to glucose deprivation of type I cell origin?	184
	5.3.5 The effect of low glucose on the carotid body response to acute hypoxia	185
	5.3.6 The effect of tissue incubation on the carotid body response to glucose deprivation	1
		186
	5.3.7 A role for the carotid body in glucose homeostasis	188
	5.3.8 Conclusions	190
6. A	A functional role for adenosine derived from ecto-5'-nucleotidase in mediatin	a
the	carotid body responses to hypoxia, hypercannia and mitochondrial inhibitic	5 on
the		404
•••••		191
6	.1 Chapter introduction and overview	191
6	.2 Results	194
	6.2.1 Neuromodulation of the carotid body response to hypoxia by adenosine generated	
	from ecto-5'-nucleotidase	194
	6.2.2 Neuromodulation of the carotid body response to nitrite by extracellular adenosine	199
	6.2.3 Neuromodulation of the carotid body response to hypercapnia by extracellular	
	adenosine	203
	6.2.4 The impact of cAMP generated from transmembrane adenylate cyclase on the care	otid
	body response to hypercapnia	207
6	.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion	210
	6.3.1 Summary of key findings	210
	6.3.2 The neuromodulatory actions of extracellular adenosine derived from ecto-5'-	
	nucleotidase on the chemoafferent discharge frequency in normoxia	211
	6.3.3 The impact of adenosine on carotid body stimulation by hypoxia	211

	6.3.4 A role for adenosine derived from ecto-5'-nucleotidase on the carotid body s	ensory
	response to mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite	213
	6.3.5 The impact of adenosine and cAMP in establishing the carotid body sensitiv	ity to
	hypercapnia and other related stimuli.	215
	6.3.6 Justification of drug concentrations	217
	6.3.7 Conclusions	218
7.	Overall discussion	219
•	7.1 General summary of key findings	219
•	7.2 The carotid body mitochondrion as an acute O_2 sensor	220
•	7.3 Lkb1-AMPK signalling as a fundamental process that couples hypoxia to	
(chemoafferent excitation	222
	7.4 The importance of glycogen metabolism in the carotid body upon exposure	e to
ļ	glucose deprivation	223
•	7.5 Adenosine derived from ecto-5'-nucleotidase as an important neuromodula	ator in
1	the carotid body	
1	the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations	225
1	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations 7.6.1 Carotid body isolation 	225 227 227
1	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations 7.6.1 Carotid body isolation 7.6.2 The <i>in vitro</i> superfused whole organ carotid body preparation 	225 227 227 227
:	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations. 7.6.1 Carotid body isolation. 7.6.2 The <i>in vitro</i> superfused whole organ carotid body preparation 7.7 Future experiments. 	225 227 227 227 227
1	the carotid body	225 227 227 227 230 230
	the carotid body	225 227 227 227 230 230 s231
	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations	225 227 227 227 230 230 s231 232
1	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations	225 227 227 227 230 230 s231 232 d body
	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations	225 227 227 227 227 230 s230 s231 232 d body 233
	 the carotid body	225 227 227 227 230 230 s231 232 d body 233 233
	 the carotid body 7.6 Key method limitations. 7.6.1 Carotid body isolation. 7.6.2 The <i>in vitro</i> superfused whole organ carotid body preparation 7.7 Future experiments. 7.7.1 Characterisation of the carotid body mitochondrial complex IV 7.7.2 Confirmation of AMPK as the link between the mitochondria and K⁺ channel 7.7.3 Identification of a molecular mechanism involved in carotid body plasticity 7.7.4 Characterising the downstream targets of adenosine and cAMP in the carotit type I cell. 7.8 Concluding remarks 	225 227 227 227 230 230 s231 232 d body 233 233 234

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Hypoxic chemotransduction processes in the carotid body.	11
Figure 1.2 Regulation of AMPK phosphorylation status by Lkb1 and adenosine nucleotides	23
Figure 1.3 The mitochondria as metabolisers and targets of nitrite.	40
Figure 1.4 Summary of some of the neurotransmitters in the carotid body	63
Figure 2.1 Precision flow meter calibration data used to equilibrate the superfusate with a specific PO2	and
PCO ₂	80
Figure 2.2 Oxygen electrode calibration curve	82
Figure 2.3 An example of two consecutive carotid body chemoafferent responses to severe hypoxia	86
Figure 2.4 Two reproducible hypoxic response curves observed from the same single chemoafferent fi	ibre
in the same experiment	87
Figure 2.5 Examples of two methods used to define changes in carotid body responses to hypoxia	90
Figure 2.6 Example images showing the location of the carotid body in relation to the surrounding	
structures near the carotid bifurcation	99
Figure 3.1 Supraphysiological concentrations of exogenous nitrite evoke increases in carotid body	
chemoafferent activity.	.105
Figure 3.2 Supraphysiological concentrations of exogenous nitrite evoke increases in NADH	
autofluorescence indicative of a reduction in mitochondrial energy metabolism	.106
Figure 3.3 The carotid body type I cell [Ca ²⁺] _i response to nitrite is PO ₂ dependent	.108
Figure 3.4 Nitrite sensitises the carotid body to hypoxia	.111
Figure 3.5 Nitrite enhances the carotid body sensitivity to hypercapnia.	.113
Figure 3.6 Chemostimulation evoked by mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite is dependent on AMPK	
activation.	.116
Figure 4.1 A simplified schematic of the breeding patterns used to generate the first generation of mice	Э
partially or totally deficient in Lkb1 in tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expressing cells	.133
Figure 4.2 Sequential deletion of Lkb1 progressively attenuates the carotid body response to graded	
hypoxia	.137
Figure 4.3 Lkb1 deletion impairs basal chemoafferent activity and diminishes the hypoxic sensitivity of	the
<i>in vitro</i> mouse carotid body	.138
Figure 4.4 Lkb1 deletion depresses the carotid body hypoxic response curve exponential rate constant	t
and lowers the PO_2 at which the maximum discharge frequency is achieved.	.139
Figure 4.5 Lkb1 is an important mediator of the carotid body response to hypercapnia	.142
Figure 5.1 The time taken to respond to glucose deprivation is dependent on basal chemoafferent acti	vity. .156
Figure 5.2 The time taken to respond to glucose deprivation is significantly reduced by prior exposure	to
severe hypoxia.	.159
Figure 5.3 The amplitude of a chemoafferent excitation induced by glucose deprivation is significantly	less
than that evoked by severe hypoxia	.160

Figure 5.4 Co-localisation of tyrosine hydroxylase with glycogen synthase I and neuronal glycogen
phosphorylase in the rat carotid body
Figure 5.5 Glycogen is significant in maintaining chemoafferent discharge frequency during glucose
deprivation164
Figure 5.6 Stimulation evoked by glucose deprivation is completely reversed by 1 mM glucose167
Figure 5.7 Chemoexcitation evoked by glucose deprivation can be abolished or is rapidly reversed by
lactate and pyruvate170
Figure 5.8 Glucose deprivation moderately attenuates the carotid body response to hypoxia172
Figure 5.9 The duration of hyperoxic tissue incubation but not the generation of reactive oxygen species
alters the time for the carotid body to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation
Figure 5.10 Dissociated type I cells do not show an increase in [Ca ²⁺] _i in response to glucose deprivation
for up to 40 minutes of exposure177
Figure 6.1 Inhibition of CD73 almost completely abolishes the chemoafferent basal discharge frequency
but does not change the peak response to a single level of severe hypoxia
Figure 6.2 Adenosine generated from CD73 is important in establishing the hypoxic sensitivity of the in
vitro carotid body
Figure 6.3 Adenosine receptor blockade attenuates the carotid body response to mitochondrial inhibition
with 10 mM nitrite
Figure 6.4 Adenosine derived from CD73 is a critical mediator of the carotid body response to
mitochondrial inhibition with 10 mM nitrite202
Figure 6.5 Adenosine receptor blockade attenuates the carotid body response to hypercapnia205
Figure 6.6 Adenosine derived from CD73 is a critical neuromodulator of the carotid body chemoafferent
response to hypercapnia
Figure 6.7 Pharmacological inhibition of transmembrane adenylate cyclase attenuates basal
chemoafferent activity and the response to hypercapnia
Figure 7.1 Summary of key findings237

1. Introduction

1.1 Summative overview

The type I cell in the adult mammalian carotid body (CB) is widely acknowledged to be the key peripheral, systemic chemoreceptor, stimulated by acute hypoxia. CB activation in hypoxia evokes a series of well characterised respiratory and cardiovascular reflex responses and promotes the corrective regulation of arterial O₂ tension and cellular metabolism throughout the whole organism (1). It is becoming more apparent that chronic up-regulation of these reflex pathways, secondary to considerable modification in CB sensory activity, is associated with a number of important clinical conditions or diseases including sleep disordered breathing (SDB), chronic heart failure (CHF) and spontaneous/essential hypertension (2). The identification of selective pharmacological agents capable of reversing the increase in basal CB chemoafferent discharge frequency and CB hypersensitivity to hypoxia in these disease states may prove to be of significant clinical importance for improving patient prognoses.

The development of clinical interventions has, however, been limited due to the fact that the fundamental mechanism underpinning CB activation by hypoxia remains elusive. The essential feature of the O_2 sensor within the type I cell must be its ability to respond to variations in O_2 tension well above those that impact on the metabolism of other cell types. Whilst a considerable number of hypotheses have been proposed to account for this specific behaviour, none are currently universally accepted. Of all the proposed O_2 sensors only the type I cell mitochondria appear to be particularly sensitive to O_2 tensions within the physiological range at which the CB is stimulated (3, 4). Conclusive evidence demonstrating that impairment of mitochondrial function is causative of CB stimulation in hypoxia is yet to be reported. Initial experiments in this thesis therefore aimed to more clearly establish or reject a role for the mitochondria in CB O₂ sensing and provide evidence supporting the hypothesis that impairment of mitochondrial function is a fundamental process in the CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling signalling cascade.

It has been hypothesised that a hypoxia induced reduction in mitochondrial electron transport and ATP synthesis leads directly to an increase in the AMP:ATP ratio and activation of AMP activated protein kinase (AMPK); a protein regarded as a global sensor of cellular energy status (5, 6). Phosphorylation of AMPK by Liver kinase B 1 (Lkb1) is necessary to achieve full activation of AMPK (7). Whilst it is clear that pharmacological activation of AMPK stimulates the CB (5), it is not clear whether activation of the Lkb1-AMPK signalling cascade is the key to activating the CB in hypoxia. Experiments utilising transgenic animals were designed to test this possibility and demonstrate an essential role for Lkb1 in the full expression of O₂ sensitivity in the CB.

In addition to hypoxia, it has been proposed that the CB responds to a number of other blood-borne stimuli including hypercapnia, acidosis and low glucose. The direct sensitivity of the CB to low glucose is still somewhat controversial and a number of clear discrepancies have been reported in the literature. The acute low glucose sensitivity of the intact *in vitro* CB was examined in this study. The results indicate that direct low glucose sensing by the CB is unlikely and responses to prolonged glucose deprivation

2

only occur secondary to the depletion in glycogen and a reduction in cellular energy status. The potential for artefact in various models of acute glucose sensing is considered along with an indirect sensory role for the CB in systemic glucose homeostasis.

The sensory activity of the CB may be modified by a number of intracellular and extracellular mediators. A comprehensive understanding of the physiological role of these factors and characterisation of the downstream signalling pathways may allow for development of additional therapeutic agents to adjust CB excitability in certain pathologies. A number of endogenous gasotransmitters have been implicated in mediating CB sensitivity to hypoxia including hydrogen sulphide (H₂S), carbon monoxide (CO) and nitric oxide (NO) (8). Using the novel mitochondrial NO donor, nitrite (NO₂⁻), the direct impact of NO on modifying mitochondrial activity and CB hypoxic sensitivity was directly investigated in this study. The findings presented suggest that exogenous NO₂⁻ impairs type I cell mitochondrial electron transport and enhances the CB sensitivity to hypoxia.

The interaction between a host of different neurotransmitters and neuromodulators may also contribute in establishing the overall sensitivity of the CB to physiological or pathological stimuli. Of these, endogenously produced adenosine has often been regarded as an overlooked signalling molecule in the CB (9). Significant quantities of adenosine may be generated in the CB as a consequence of intracellular or extracellular catabolism of ATP (10, 11). Experiments described in this thesis identify an important and novel functional role for extracellular derived adenosine in modulating the CB chemoafferent response to a number of different stimuli.

3

1.2 Mechanisms of acute oxygen sensing in the mammalian carotid<u>body</u>

1.2.1 Basic anatomy and histology of the carotid body

In mammals the CB is located just above the carotid bifurcation and is closely associated with a number of surrounding structures including the internal carotid artery (ICA), the external carotid artery (ECA), the occipital artery (OA) and the superior cervical ganglion (SCG). Measurements in adult rats have shown that the CB has an oval shape with an average length of approximately 600 µm and a diameter of approximately 200-300 µm (12).

Within a superficial connective tissue capsule that surrounds the CB, there are many small clusters of between 2-12 type I cells, which are associated with a smaller number of glial-like type II cells amidst a dense arrangement of nerve bundles and blood vessels (13). Type I cells are thought to be the specific secretory cells of the CB containing many dense core vesicles, Golgi apparatus and mitochondria (14). The expression of the gap junction subunit connexin 43 in type I cells has been detected (15), supporting the proposal that clusters of type I cells are electrically coupled to function as discrete secretory units.

The CB receives afferent innervation from the carotid sinus nerve (CSN), a branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve. The cell bodies of the sensory chemoafferent fibres are located in the petrosal ganglion and the axonal terminals form synapses with neurones in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) in the medulla oblongata. Electron micrographs of CB slices have demonstrated that the type I cells and the afferent fibres form specific

synaptic connections, consistent with the notion that type I cells have an important role in transmitting sensory information through the CSN into the central nervous system (16).

For its size, the CB has an extremely high blood flow, with a proposed estimate being approximately 2 L.100 g⁻¹ tissue.min⁻¹ (17). Innervation of the dense vasculature is provided by sympathetic noradrenergic fibres that originate in the superior cervical ganglion (16). Therefore, it appears that there exists a specific mechanism for the acute control of the local CB blood flow and O_2 delivery.

1.2.2 Established hypoxic chemotransduction processes in the mammalian carotid body

A number of specific processes involved in CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling have been characterised to date. These include the attenuation of outward K⁺ channel current, type I cell depolarisation, influx of Ca²⁺ through L-type Ca²⁺ channels, type I cell neurosecretion and an increase in the discharge frequency of chemoafferent neurones in the CSN (18).

Type I cell depolarisation

The resting membrane potential (E_m) of the CB type I cell is thought to be approximately -40 mV in the rabbit (19) and between -55 and -70 mV in the rat (20). Reports have demonstrated that exposure of rabbit type I cells to hypoxia evoked a cellular depolarisation that was sustained throughout the length of stimulus duration (19). The magnitude of the depolarisation was approximately +30 mV, thereby raising the type I cell membrane potential to approximately -10 mV. A comparable degree of

depolarisation has also been detected in rat type I cells during hypoxia (21) or anoxia (20, 22).

Inhibition of outward K^+ current

The depolarisation of type I cells in response to hypoxic stimulation is thought to be primarily a consequence of the attenuation of the outward K⁺ channel current. A number of studies utilising whole cell voltage clamp techniques have shown that hypoxia significantly depressed the outward K⁺ current over a voltage range of -10 to +70 mV (19, 23, 24). Recordings of single K⁺ channel activity have revealed a marked reduction in open probability upon exposure to hypoxia, in both cell attached (19) and excised inside out (23) patch clamp configurations.

Full characterisation of the type and contribution of the individual K⁺ channels involved in CB O₂ sensing is still to be determined. In rat type I cells it has been demonstrated that measurable whole cell outward K⁺ currents were observed at voltages positive to -30 mV (25). This outward K⁺ current exhibited Ca²⁺ sensitive and Ca²⁺ insensitive components. Since the K⁺ current was significantly attenuated in the presence of charybdotoxin (ChTX), it was proposed that this Ca²⁺ dependent K⁺ current was carried specifically through the large conductance Ca²⁺ activated K⁺ channel (BK_{Ca}).

In a later study, it was observed that ChTX depolarised the type I cell in a manner that mimicked the effect of hypoxia (22). It was shown that a reduction in outward K⁺ current induced by ChTX was not further suppressed by hypoxia and this led authors to conclude that inhibition of the BK_{Ca} channel was necessary for evoking type I cell depolarisation during hypoxia (21).

The role of the BK_{Ca} channel in mediating the initial hypoxia induced cellular depolarisation has subsequently been questioned since it shows little activity at potentials less than -30 mV (the rat type I cell E_m is approximately -70 to -55 mV) and is therefore unlikely to contribute to the E_m . It has also been reported that a number of different inhibitors of K_v and BK_{Ca} channels (tetraethylammonium; TEA, 4-aminopyridine; 4-AP and ChTX) all failed to directly stimulate the type I cell (20). In addition, direct addition of ChTX to the intact *in vitro* CB does not seem capable of directly enhancing chemoafferent activity (26). For these reasons, a functional role for the BK_{Ca} channel in physiological O₂ sensing in the CB remains debatable.

Emerging evidence supports the proposal that modified activity of specific members of the two-pore-domain K⁺ channel sub-family regulates type I cell depolarisation in hypoxia. A background K⁺ current in the type I cell was first identified by Buckler in 1997 (20). This current was measurable over a voltage range of -90 to -30 mV and was impaired by anoxia. Recordings of single channel activity made over a voltage range of -70 to -60 mV detected single K⁺ channel activity in normoxia that was significantly diminished by hypoxia (27). A number of further observations suggested that this background O₂ sensitive current was carried through a TASK-like (TWIK-related acid sensitive K⁺) channel. Firstly, the current was attenuated by known inhibitors of TASK channels; Ba²⁺, Zn²⁺ and quinidine. Secondly, the current was sensitive to acid. Thirdly, the single channel conductance was consistent with values reported for TASK-1. And finally, in situ hybridisation positively identified TASK-1 mRNA in dissociated type I cells. More recently, another member of the two-pore-domain K⁺ channel sub-family, TREK-1 (TWIK related K⁺ channel 1) has been identified in type I cells (28) and it has been

shown that the TREK-1 conductance was almost completely abolished by hypoxia (29). These data suggest that deactivation of the TASK-like and TREK-1 channels may both be significant in eliciting type I cell depolarisation in hypoxia.

Ca²⁺ influx

It is now recognised that hypoxia induced type I cell depolarisation leads to a rapid rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and this in turn stimulates the release of stored excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters (30-33). Measurements of type I cell Ca^{2+} fluorescence indicate that the degree of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation is highly dependent on the level of hypoxic stimulus intensity (30). The increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is completely abolished in Ca^{2+} free media (31). Furthermore, the anoxia induced augmentation of type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ coincides with cellular depolarisation and is almost completely ablated by Ni^{2+} (a non-specific Ca^{2+} channel antagonist) and by nicardipine (a specific L-type Ca^{2+} channel blocker) (31). Collectively these data indicate that the vast majority of the elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in hypoxia is dependent on Ca^{2+} influx through voltage sensitive L-type Ca^{2+} channels.

Neurosecretion

It is well documented that hypoxia stimulates the release of a number of different stored neurotransmitters from the type I cells. The two best characterised excitatory neurotransmitters are ATP (34) and ACh (35, 36). The release of ATP in hypoxia appears to be critically dependent on the preservation of L-type Ca²⁺ channel activity, indicative of the ATP secretion being secondary to the initial rise in [Ca²⁺]_i (34). Emerging evidence also supports the idea that synaptic adenosine concentrations increase in hypoxia and have an important excitatory neuromodulatory role in regulating the chemoafferent response to hypoxia (10, 11). Whether or not the elevation in

adenosine concentration is a consequence of type I cell adenosine release or occurs secondary to extracellular ATP catabolism is unresolved. A number of studies have also detected a rise in CB dopamine (DA) secretion in response to hypoxic stimulation (33, 37). As with ATP, the release of DA is known to be dependent on Ca²⁺ influx through L-type Ca²⁺ channels (38). In contrast to the excitatory neurotransmitters, DA seems to exert an autoinhibitory action on the type I cell sensory response to hypoxia, specifically by attenuating inward Ca²⁺ currents (39). A more detailed consideration of the role of neurotransmitters in CB hypoxia stimulus excitation coupling is presented in Section 1.8.

Stimulation of CSN chemoafferent fibres

The overall functional effect of hypoxia induced type I cell depolarisation, Ca^{2+} influx and neurosecretion is the stimulation of the chemoafferent fibres in the CSN and subsequent transmission of this neural signal into the CNS. This initiates a series of well characterised reflex changes in cardiovascular and respiratory function that allow for corrective regulation of arterial O₂ tension and the maintenance of cellular metabolism throughout the whole organism (1).

The hypoxia evoked increase in single fibre chemoafferent firing frequency has been described in multiple studies both *in vivo* (40, 41) and *in vitro* (42-46). Recordings of single fibre chemoafferent activity made *in vivo*, have identified a normoxic frequency of approximately 0.2 to 2.3 Hz in the cat (47) and 0.25 to 1.5 Hz in the rat (41). In severe hyperoxia (up to 600 mmHg P_aO_2) the single fibre frequency is depressed, but not completely abolished (40), consistent with a degree of tonic O_2 independent neurotransmitter release or spontaneous neuronal activity.

9

The precise arterial O_2 tension at which the discharge frequency begins to increase is variable but it appears to lie somewhere between a P_aO_2 of 60 and 100 mmHg (41, 47). It is recognised that as the P_aO_2 continues to decrease, the single fibre discharge frequency increases exponentially and peaks *in vivo* between 9 and 25 Hz (41, 47). This hypoxia stimulated exponential rise in chemoafferent activity has also been demonstrated in multiple *in vitro* intact CB preparations (42, 45, 46). The hypoxic response curves generated from the superfused *in vitro* CB preparations seem to be relatively 'right shifted' compared to those obtained *in vivo*. This discrepancy is most likely a consequence of the diffusion limitations present across the whole organ (48). If the hypoxic stimulus is sustained for more than 5 to 10 minutes the peak discharge frequency is not maintained but gradually begins to decline (42).

Summary

All of the sensory transduction processes described above (from the attenuation of outward K⁺ channel current, to the exponential elevation in chemoafferent discharge frequency) are well established and are summarised in Figure 1.1. However, characterisation of a detailed interaction between O_2 and a CB specific O_2 binding molecule or sensor, that couples directly to K⁺ channel deactivation, remains elusive. A number of hypotheses have been proposed and some are described in the ensuing sections. One of these hypotheses, the 'mitochondrial' hypothesis, is examined directly in this thesis. Modulation of the sensory chemotransduction processes by a number of chemical mediators may also impact on the overall function of the CB. Some of these potential mediators are introduced later in this chapter and are subsequently investigated directly in this thesis.



Figure 1.1 Hypoxic chemotransduction processes in the carotid body.

The carotid body is stimulated in response to reductions in arterial and tissue O_2 tensions at levels well above those that impact on the metabolism of other cell types. Three K⁺ channels have been implicated in carotid body O_2 sensing including BK_{Ca}, TASK and TREK-1. Attenuation of these channels in hypoxia reduces the outward K⁺ current and causes cellular depolarisation. This in turn activates voltage sensitive L-type Ca²⁺ channels leading to Ca²⁺ influx and a rise in type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i. The elevation in [Ca²⁺]_i promotes the release of stored neurotransmitters that are responsible for increasing the action potential generation in the adjacent chemoafferent neurone. Precise characterisation of a type I cell specific O₂ sensitive molecule (hypoxic sensor) that couples directly to inhibition of the K⁺ channels in hypoxia remains elusive.

1.3 The mitochondrial hypothesis

1.3.1 Chemoexcitation evoked through mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxia share a number of similar chemotransduction processes

In mammalian cells, O_2 is the terminal electron acceptor in the mitochondrial respiratory chain. Continuous binding and reduction of O_2 in the Cu_B /haem a_3 binuclear centre of complex IV drives mitochondrial electron transport and promotes activation of the mitochondrial ATP synthase. The 'mitochondrial' hypothesis for chemoreception proposes that CB excitation induced by hypoxia is initiated by a reduction in O_2 dependent mitochondrial energy respiration.

It is well established that mitochondrial poisons cause intense CB chemostimulation. This was originally identified in an early report demonstrating that injection of cyanide into the carotid sinus region immediately evoked an increase in minute ventilation that was dependent on an intact CSN (49). It is now recognised that the elevation in chemoafferent activity induced by saturating doses of mitochondrial poisons is similar in magnitude to that evoked by severe hypoxia (50-52). Mitochondrial inhibitors or uncoupling agents also enhance ³H-DA neurotransmitter release from the *in vitro* CB, indicating that the excitatory actions of these compounds is mediated through the actual type I cell and not the afferent nerve ending (52, 53).

It is widely accepted that mitochondrial poisons are able to induce rapid increases in type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. The scale and immediacy of the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation in response to a range of different mitochondrial inhibitors or uncouplers closely resembles the action of hypoxia (30, 54, 55). Furthermore, the rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is highly dependent on extracellular

 Ca^{2+} and almost completely reliant on cellular depolarisation (54). This implies that the vast majority of the rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ induced by mitochondrial poisons, as with hypoxia, is a consequence of Ca^{2+} influx through voltage gated Ca^{2+} channels. However, a small persistent elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ has been observed even in the absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} or when type I cells were voltage clamped (54, 56). A definitive mechanism underpinning this residual rise in Ca^{2+} is equivocal but may involve the release of Ca^{2+} from an intra-mitochondrial store (56) or Ca^{2+} entry following acid induced reversal of the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (53).

A number of different K⁺ channels have been implicated in CB hypoxia sensing including BK_{Ca} (21, 22, 57), TASK (27) and TREK-1 (29). As with hypoxia, rotenone, cyanide and FCCP all attenuate the background TASK-like current in isolated CB type I cells (54). It has also been reported that complex IV inhibition with sodium azide leads to the depression of TASK and TREK-1 currents (29). Type I cell depolarisation evoked by a run-down in mitochondrial energy metabolism is therefore likely to involve at least two K⁺ channels that are associated with CB O₂ sensing.

1.3.2 The mitochondria in the carotid body type I cells appear to have a uniquely low affinity for O_2

A fundamental feature of the CB type I cell is its ability to respond to hypoxic stimuli at PO_2 levels well above those that evoke changes in the metabolism of other cell types. For the mitochondrial hypothesis to be validated the mitochondria in the type I cells would have to show some degree of highly specialised low affinity binding for O_2 that made mitochondrial electron flux significantly more susceptible to changes in PO_2 . The K_m of the cytochrome a_3 for O_2 in the mammalian mitochondrial complex IV is reported to be < 1 mmHg in isolated mitochondria and between 1 and 5 mmHg in dissociated cells and tissue preparations, with no significant differences existing between most cell varieties (58, 59). Within the CB, it has been established that there exists a cytochrome a_3 with an unusually low binding affinity for O_2 , with a significant degree of it being reduced at PO₂ tensions as high as 40 to 80 mmHg in the perfused organ preparation (3, 60, 61).

Consistent with these findings, later studies performed by Biscoe and Duchen showed that in isolated type I cell clusters, mitochondrial function, measured by NADH autofluorescence, started to be impaired at a PO₂ value of approximately 40 mmHg (4). Construction of PO₂-NADH response curves revealed that the mitochondrial function in the type I cell was much more susceptible to a fall in PO₂ compared to sensory neurones, as evidenced by the curves generated from type I cells being significantly 'right shifted'. Mitochondrial depolarisation, measured by rhodamine 123 fluorescence, was also detected at significantly higher O₂ tensions in type I cells (56). In view of these observations, it does appear that type I cell mitochondria have a highly specialised low affinity for O₂ and that mitochondrial energy metabolism may begin to be inhibited at remarkably high O₂ tensions.

1.3.3 Interaction between mitochondrial inhibitors and hypoxia

The degree of stimulation elicited by mitochondrial poisons is similar to that evoked by severe hypoxia/anoxia in terms of the extent of mitochondrial depolarisation, the rise in NADH autofluorescence, elevation of [Ca²⁺]_i and augmentation of chemoafferent discharge frequency (4, 52, 54, 56, 62). Wyatt and colleagues showed that the

attenuation of TASK-like current by high doses of rotenone, cyanide and FCCP was not further depressed by hypoxia (54). This perhaps suggests that all of these stimuli act through a common sensory pathway. However, it could be argued that the suppression of the TASK-like current evoked by the mitochondrial poisons was not further decreased by hypoxia because the maximal decline in TASK-like current had already been attained.

In a different study, using the CB slice preparation, application of a range of mitochondrial inhibitors increased the basal level of DA secretion but did not prevent additional responses to hypoxia (63). The same group demonstrated that CB slices isolated from mice partly deficient in the succinate dehydrogenase anchoring protein (SDHD) had a preserved secretory response to hypoxia (64). In view of these results it was concluded that impairment of mitochondrial electron transport was not necessary for coupling hypoxia with CB excitation. However, the authors did not examine a potential change in CB hypoxic sensitivity in the SDHD heterozygous KO mice or following inhibition of the mitochondria using pharmacological agents. This may have been crucial for their conclusions to be validated, given that mitochondrial activity was likely to have only been partially attenuated.

For the impairment of mitochondrial function to be contributory to CB hypoxic chemoexcitation, when sub-saturating concentrations of mitochondrial inhibitors are applied, it would be predicted that the threshold required for hypoxic response initiation would be modified. Mild mitochondrial inhibitors would be expected to sensitise the CB to hypoxia. Due to the exponential shape of the CB hypoxic response curves, an interaction of this nature would produce multiplicative rather than additive responses. Up

15

to now, no investigation has examined continuous graded responses to hypoxia in the presence of mild mitochondrial inhibitors. A better knowledge of the interaction between these two stimuli may be important to more clearly establish or rule out a role for mitochondrial energy metabolism in the CB hypoxic chemotransduction process and for this reason it is examined directly in this thesis.

1.3.4 Is hypoxia coupled to a decrease in [ATP]_i?

If the rate of mitochondrial electron transport is attenuated during hypoxia, it may be reasonable to hypothesise that this would be coupled to a decrease in mitochondrial ATP generation and a reduction in the cellular energy status. As yet, no evidence has been published reporting the precise type I cell [ATP]_i, either in normoxic conditions or during hypoxia. In other cell types including skeletal muscle cells and hepatocytes, very severe hypoxia (< 1% O_2) reduces the [ATP]_i consistent with a fall in the rate of oxidative phosphorylation (65, 66). In acutely O_2 sensitive pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells, hypoxia enhanced [Ca²⁺]_i, and this was associated with an increase in the AMP:ATP ratio, indicative of a concurrent depletion in cellular energy status (5).

For CB tissue, measurements of whole organ ATP content have been made to reflect potential alterations in type I cell [ATP]_i. Studies have reported that hypoxia and metabolic inhibitors, applied at an intensity sufficient to evoke intense CSN stimulation and ³H-CA release, reduced the whole CB ATP content (67, 68). It has also been shown that exposure of intact CBs to hypoxia, cyanide or antimycin A caused a significant depletion in whole organ ATP and an increase in AMP content (69).

In direct contrast to the above studies, it has been observed that the ATP content of the whole CB was not significantly diminished following whole animal exposure to severe hypoxia (5% O_2 in N_2) (70). Another investigation reported that two different mitochondrial uncoupling agents, DNP and CCCP, both increased the CSN discharge frequency without reducing ATP content (52). At present, there seems to be no clear correlation between metabolic or hypoxic induced stimulation and a variation in whole CB ATP content.

In all of the above studies, the measured ATP content will have had contributions from type I cells, type II cells, neurones, blood vessels and interstitial fluid. In view of this, it is hard to justify that any alteration in whole organ ATP content accurately reflects an equivalent adjustment in type I cell [ATP]_i. Conclusions are further complicated by the fact that ATP is an established neurotransmitter that is stored in type I cells and is released in hypoxia (71, 72). Therefore, whether or not type I cell [ATP]_i or the AMP:ATP ratio are modified directly by hypoxia remains to be resolved.

1.3.5 Is chemoexcitation evoked in hypoxia dependent on mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation?

Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) has been implicated in a number of important physiological processes in mammals including the control of the systemic vascular tone, pulmonary artery vasoconstriction and production of erythropoietin (reviewed in detail in (73)). In the mitochondria, it has been estimated that 1 to 2% of O_2 is not completely converted to H₂O but instead is reduced by single electron addition to form the highly reactive superoxide anion O_2^- (74). O_2^- conversion to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) is catalysed by specific superoxide dismutases (SOD) within the mitochondria (MnSOD) or the cytosol (Cu/ZnSOD) (75). Catalase activity leads to thermodynamically favourable decomposition of H_2O_2 to form of H_2O and O_2 . In the presence of certain transition metals such as Fe²⁺, H_2O_2 may be cleaved to produce the highly unstable hydroxyl radical (OH[•]); the third major ROS (76).

The formation of O_2^- is thought to be dependent on the concentration of O_2 as defined by the reaction;

where t is time and R^{\bullet} is the concentration of available reducing equivalents (77). The majority of cellular ROS is generated from initial formation of O_2^{-} in the mitochondria (78), primarily a consequence of electron leakage at mitochondrial complexes I and III. It has been demonstrated that in isolated mitochondria, formation of O_2^{-} was favoured in hyperoxic conditions (79).

Strong evidence also supports the hypothesis that the upregulation of mitochondrial ROS formation in hypoxia is essential for pulmonary artery vasoconstriction (80). The mechanism underpinning the elevation in $[O_2^-]_i$ in hypoxia is still not understood and appears to be contradictory to the idea that the rate of O_2^- production is dependent on mass action as described by the above reaction. It has been suggested that in hypoxia, a run-down in the rate of electron flux increases the electron 'dwell time' on certain complexes of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and augments the number of reducing equivalents (81). This in turn would promote mitochondrial O_2 reduction and enhance O_2^- production. A similar mechanism is thought to account for the increase in complex III

ROS generation observed in the presence of mitochondrial inhibitors antimycin A and cyanide (81).

It has been observed that ROS production was enhanced by hypoxia in both the mouse (82) and rat (83) CB type I cells. Despite this, ROS formation is not thought of as the fundamental process that links hypoxia with type I cell activation. Very high exogenous H_2O_2 administration (up to 632 mM) has been reported to activate rather than inhibit TASK channel activity in type I cells, an effect that would tend to cause hyperpolarisation rather than depolarisation (84). In the same study, H_2O_2 had no impact on the open probability of the O_2 sensitive TREK-1 and BK_{Ca} channels. Changes in type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i also seem to be insensitive to H_2O_2 when applied under normoxic or hypoxic conditions (54).

In another study, a series of oxidants and inhibitors of ROS disposing enzymes were used to monitor the potential effect of redox homeostasis on CB activation by hypoxia. All drugs were reported to decrease the reduced glutathione (GSH) to oxidised glutathione (glutathione disulphide; GSSG) ratio in isolated diaphragm, consistent with a switch to a relatively oxidised intracellular redox environment (85). A number of these oxidising agents did augment CB ³H-CA release, but others were found to have no effect. This apparent lack of correlation between redox status and CB stimulation led authors to conclude that hypoxic chemotransduction was not dependent on ROS generation. This was further supported by observations showing that *in vivo* administration of buthionine sulphoximine (an inhibitor of GSH synthesis) failed to significantly alter the ventilatory response to hypoxia.

19
The same group also revealed that N-acetylcysteine (NAC; a potent antioxidant) reversed the change in redox status evoked by a number of mitochondrial poisons but had no impact on the CB secretory response induced by these same agents (86). Finally, NAC applied to the isolated calf CB, despite augmenting the GSH/GSSG ratio, did not modify the level of ³H-CA release in normoxia or hypoxia (87).

Despite a variation in the type I cell redox status appearing not to be directly implicated in acute CB O₂ sensing, a chronic upregulation in local ROS production has been suggested to account for the increase in basal chemoafferent activity and heightened CB hypoxic sensitivity in a number of different pathologies (discussed in Section 1.9).

1.4 Linking cellular metabolic stress to type I cell activation: a role for the Lkb1-AMPK pathway

1.4.1 Basic properties of AMPK and Lkb1

It has been proposed that stimulation of AMPK, secondary to a hypoxia induced change in cellular energy status, is necessary to activate the CB in hypoxia (5, 88). AMPK is a heterotrimeric protein complex composed of the catalytic α and regulatory β and γ subunits (89), and for each subunit multiple different isoforms are expressed. AMPK is often referred to as the global sensor of cellular energy status because of its ability to acutely respond to changes in the AMP:ATP ratio (6).

Regulation of AMPK activity is complex and highly integrated. It is now accepted that phosphorylation of the specific threonine residue (Thr 172) in the N-terminal kinase domain on the catalytic α subunit by upstream kinases is required to achieve full

activation (90). In addition, the regulatory γ subunit contains two pairs of adenosine nucleotide binding motifs termed 'Bateman' or cystathione β synthase (CBS) domains (labelled sites 1–4) (91, 92). Observations of the partial crystal structure of AMPK identified that only 3 of the 4 'Bateman' domains could be occupied by adenosine nucleotides (with site 2 adopting a permanently 'closed' conformation) and one of these domains, site 4, was permanently bound to AMP (93). Reversible and competitive binding of ATP, ADP and AMP is only considered to take place at sites 1 and 3 and variations in the occupancy of these sites by the different nucleotides is thought to account for the overall degree of AMPK activation (94).

AMP is the only adenosine nucleotide that allosterically activates AMPK and complete saturation of the exposed CBS motifs produces a modest 1.5–3 fold elevation in activity (95, 96). However, AMP also enhances α subunit phosphorylation (95) and restricts the rate of α subunit dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 2C (PP2C) (97). In combination, the overall impact of AMP is to elevate AMPK activity by approximately 1000 fold (96). ADP is another adenosine nucleotide capable of binding to and activating AMPK (94). It is thought that this is achieved not through direct allosteric activation but by attenuating PP2C mediated Thr 172 dephosphorylation.

The ability for ATP to bind to the available CBS domains on α subunit of AMPK is well characterised. ATP effectively deactivates AMPK by competing with AMP and ADP for the occupancy of these two 'free' CBS domains (94, 95). The overall regulation of AMPK phosphorylation, dephosphorylation and activation is therefore highly dependent on the relative intracellular concentration of ATP, ADP and AMP.

For a number of years the identity of the upstream AMPK kinase remained elusive. In 2003, Woods and colleagues detected a 45 kDa fragment from the isolated and purified rat liver AMPK kinase that reacted positively with anti Lkb1 (Liver kinase B 1) antibodies (7). The authors went on to demonstrate that purified Lkb1 activated AMPK by targeted phosphorylation of the Thr 172 residue in the activation loop on the catalytic α subunit. Furthermore, pharmacological activation of AMPK was prevented in cells expressing a mutant deactivated form of Lkb1. These were the first observations implying that Lkb1 is the essential upstream kinase required for complete phosphorylation and activation of AMPK.

It is now established that Lkb1 exists as part of a globular 1:1:1 heterotrimeric complex in combination with two other proteins; STRAD (Ste20-related adaptor) and MO25 (Mouse protein 25) (98, 99). The whole Lkb1-STRAD-MO25 complex phosphorylates the Thr 172 residue in the activation loop on the catalytic α subunit of AMPK (98). The degree of AMPK activation is closely associated with the level of Lkb1 activity. Full activation of AMPK is only achieved in the presence of Lkb1 and both STRAD and MO25 peptides. Direct interactions between STRAD/MO25 and Lkb1 cause allosteric activation of Lkb1 independent of phosphorylation (99). For this reason STRAD and MO25 are regarded as important regulators of Lkb1 function. The regulation of AMPK activity by Lkb1 and adenosine nucleotides is illustrated in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2 Regulation of AMPK phosphorylation status by Lkb1 and adenosine nucleotides. Lkb1 is the key upstream kinase that phosphorylates AMPK and is necessary to achieve complete enzyme activation. AMP binding to the CBS domains on the regulatory γ subunit increases AMPK activation by 1) direct allosteric activation 2) enhancing Lkb1 phosphorylation and 3) inhibiting AMPK dephosphorylation by PP2C. ADP binding at the available CBS domains also restricts AMPK dephosphorylation. ATP competes with AMP and ADP for binding at the CBS domains on the γ subunit and limits AMPK phosphorylation and activation. The phosphorylation status of AMPK is therefore dependent on the AMP:ATP and ADP:ATP ratios. Adapted from Hardie et al. 1999 (6).

1.4.2 Physiological and pharmacological activation of AMPK

A rise in the ADP:ATP ratio is a consequence of the rate of ATP generation being less than the rate of ATP hydrolysis. The rise in $[ADP]_i$ activates adenylate kinase and drives the reaction; $2ADP \Leftrightarrow AMP + ATP$, that acts to partially restore the $[ATP]_i$ (100). As a consequence of the adenylate kinase reaction it has been estimated that the AMP:ATP ratio varies as the square of the ADP:ATP ratio (100).

AMPK can be activated by a number of different physiological or pharmacological stimuli, the majority of which are associated with an induction of metabolic stress. In HEK293 cells over expressing the γ 2 subunit of AMPK, it was observed that a number of metabolic poisons including 2-deoxyglucose, oligomycin, DNP and metformin, all activated AMPK and this was coupled with a rise in the ADP:ATP ratio and, in most cases, a fall in O₂ consumption (101). AMPK is also activated in skeletal muscle following periods of stimulated contraction (102). In cell lines derived from pancreatic β -cells, a graded reduction in the superfusate glucose concentration from 10 to 0 mM was shown to evoke a concomitant graded elevation in AMPK activity and a rise in both the AMP:ATP and ADP:ATP ratios (103).

Importantly, hypoxia is acknowledged as a key physiological stimulus that can activate AMPK. For example, it has been identified that the Thr 172 phosphorylation status in cardiac AMPK was significantly enhanced following a 10 minute period of regional cardiac ischaemia *in vivo* (104). In acutely O_2 sensitive smooth muscle cells, hypoxia augmented the level of α subunit phosphorylation and increased the level of acetyl CoA carboxylase phosphorylation (a downstream substrate of AMPK), indicative of an up

regulation in AMPK activation (5). This was associated with an elevation in the AMP:ATP and ADP:ATP ratios. It was also demonstrated that AICAR, a compound that activates AMPK via intracellular generation of ZMP (an AMP analogue), augmented Ca²⁺ influx into smooth muscle cells and evoked vasoconstriction of isolated pulmonary arterioles *in vitro*. These findings described by Evans et al. were the first to reveal that activation of AMPK by AICAR mimicked the physiological action of hypoxia in an O₂ sensitive tissue.

The importance of Lkb1 in regulating AMPK activity when exposed to physiological or pharmacological stimulation is becoming more apparent. For example, it has been reported that Lkb1 deficient murine embryonic fibroblasts, upon exposure to pharmacological AMPK activators, had reduced levels of α subunit Thr 172 phosphorylation and acetyl CoA carboxylase phosphorylation compared with wild type controls (105). Restoration of AMPK phosphorylation and activity was achieved by reexpression of an active form of Lkb1, implying that Lkb1 was essential for AMPK activation in response to these pharmacological stimuli. In mouse heart tissue deficient in Lkb1, AMPK (α 2) activity was not enhanced following ischaemia or anoxia (106), emphasising a critical role for Lkb1 in mediating AMPK activation by hypoxia.

1.4.3 Carotid body stimulation by hypoxia; a role for AMPK

Recent evidence suggests that AMPK may be an important component of the signalling cascade that couples hypoxic sensing with CB type I cell excitation. It has been confirmed that the α 1 subunit of AMPK is present in the rat type I cells and is co-localised with the BK_{Ca} channel at the plasma membrane (5, 88). A strong degree of mRNA expression encoding the α 1 subunit of AMPK has also been detected in CBs

isolated from human patients (107). Functionally, AMPK activation with AICAR mimics the effect of hypoxia by eliciting type I cell Ca²⁺ influx and raising CSN discharge frequency (5). Inhibitory targeting of AMPK with Compound C diminishes the rise in type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in response to hypoxia and attenuates the increase in CSN single fibre discharge frequency by approximately 50% (88). Finally, mice deficient in the α 2 subunit of AMPK appear to have an impaired hypoxic ventilatory response (108).

In the type I cell, multiple targets of AMPK have been proposed. Wyatt and colleagues observed that exposure of type I cells to AICAR caused a reduction in the BK_{Ca} current (88). This effect was dependent on direct channel phosphorylation and was abolished by AMPK deactivation with Compound C. The same study demonstrated that AICAR attenuated the background TASK-like current, although a specific phosphorylation site was not elucidated. A more recent article has shown that AICAR depressed both the TREK-1 and TREK-2 conductances and this was associated with selective serine residue phosphorylation within the C-terminal domains (29). These data indicate that AMPK phosphorylates a collection of K⁺ channels in the type I cell, all of which are closely related to CB O₂ sensing.

<u>1.5 Gasotransmitters in the carotid body; alternative hypotheses for</u> <u>acute hypoxia sensing in the carotid body</u>

The hypothesised mechanisms coupling low O₂ tensions with type I cell stimulation are not only confined to a depletion in mitochondrial electron transport and changes in cellular energy status. Three biologically active gases, carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen sulphide (H_2S) and nitric oxide (NO) have all been identified as effectors of the CB response to hypoxia (reviewed in (8)). If high enough concentrations of one or all of these gases are generated under hypoxic conditions then they may act to directly mediate the CB response to hypoxia. The evidence for a physiological role of these gases in CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling is considered in this section.

1.5.1 A role for carbon monoxide in mediating the carotid body response to hypoxia

The impact of CO on CB activity is variable and appears to be directly dependent on the overall CO:O₂ ratio. A very high relative proportion of CO compared to O₂ causes intense chemoexcitation (109, 110). Superfusate concentrations of CO (> 300 mmHg) rapidly increase type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (111) and enhance the chemoafferent discharge frequency (109, 110). These effects are abolished by antagonism of L-type Ca²⁺ channels, suggesting that the response to CO is secondary to Ca²⁺ influx. CO also suppresses the type I cell resting membrane conductance and evokes cellular depolarisation. Thus, responses to high [CO] are comparable with those seen in hypoxia.

A number of investigations have reported that the CO induced augmentation in chemoafferent activity was reversed by white light (109, 110, 112). The earliest of these demonstrated that the depression in discharge frequency was critically dependent on the wavelength of the illuminating light, being maximal at approximately 430 nm (110). This photosensitivity was consistent with formation of CO-haem complexes. Detailed analysis of the photochemical action spectra revealed that the excitatory effects of CO were probably mediated through binding to cytochrome a_3 in the mitochondria. In view of

these observations, it was concluded that the chemoexcitation induced by [CO] was most likely to be a consequence of the depletion in mitochondrial electron transport.

In biological systems the formation of physiologically active CO is dependent on the catalytic activity of haemoxygenase (HO) (113). CO is produced through the enzymatic degradation of haem in the presence of sufficient O_2 and a number of key co-factors including NADPH and cytochrome P_{450} . Biliverdin is released as a by-product of this reaction (113). Two isoforms of HO have been characterised, the inducible isoform HO-1, detected in liver and spleen where the turnover rate of haem is high, and the constitutively expressed isoform HO-2, predominately present in brain and other neuronal tissue (reviewed in (114)).

It has been proposed that physiological concentrations of CO derived from HO-2 may directly modulate the CB response to hypoxia, in a manner that is independent of an alteration in mitochondrial function (8, 115). Immunocytochemical analysis has revealed that HO-2 is expressed positively in type I cells (116). Pharmacological inhibition of HO-2 elevates type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i (117) and enhances chemoafferent activity (116), with the latter being reversed by application of exogenous CO. Inhalation of 0.25–2% CO attenuates the hypoxic ventilatory response in the rat (118) and infusion of tin protoporphyrin (another HO-2 inhibitor), augments phrenic nerve activity in 10% O₂, indicative of a sensitised reflex response to hypoxia (114).

Mechanistically, it has been suggested that CO impacts on type I cell excitability by directly interacting with the BK_{Ca} channel (119, 120). Analysis of whole cell patch clamp recordings revealed that the depression of the outward K⁺ current induced by hypoxia

was restored by addition of CO (119). A reduction in single K⁺ channel open probability in hypoxia was reversed by co-administration of exogenous CO. In HEK293 cells transfected with BK_{Ca} , immunocytochemical analysis was used to demonstrate colocalisation of BK_{Ca} and HO-2 (120). In the same study, knock down of HO-2 expression by siRNA ablated the single K⁺ channel activity in normoxia and abolished the channel hypoxic sensitivity. Exogenous application of a CO donor increased the K⁺ channel open probability by more than 15 fold. A similar effect was observed upon addition of NADPH and haem, both predicted to elevate HO-2 activity. In a follow up investigation, the CO sensitivity of BK_{Ca} channel was eradicated following complete C-terminal tail substitution (121), implying that CO regulated BK_{Ca} channel function through a specific binding interaction within the C-terminal (Ca^{2+} binding) domain.

As a result of these data, CO has been now been proposed as an important signalling molecule involved in hypoxia stimulus response coupling within the CB (115). It is suggested that, in normoxia, CO generated from HO-2 and haem, increases the open probability of BK_{Ca}, thereby amplifying the constitutive outward K⁺ current and preventing type I cell stimulation. In hypoxia, catalytic generation of CO is diminished and the absence of local CO acts to depress BK_{Ca} channel activation and reduces the K⁺ current. This evokes type I cell depolarisation, Ca²⁺ influx, neurosecretion and chemoafferent excitation (115).

However, results taken from studies that evaluated the impact of genetic knock down of HO-2 on O₂ sensing indicate that a role for HO-2 derived CO in CB hypoxic signal transduction may not be as definitive as first thought. In HO-2 null mice, minute ventilation seems to be unaffected in normoxia and this is contradictory with the idea

that BK_{Ca} is constitutively active (122). In hypoxia, the overall elevation in minute ventilation is reduced in these mice, but a strong component of the response (approximately 66%) is preserved. Perhaps even more surprising, examination of CB function in HO-2 deficient mice has revealed the conservation of a strong neurotransmitter secretory response to hypoxia coupled with the absence of alteration in hypoxic sensitivity (123). The authors of this study concluded that HO-2 and CO were not required for CB activation by hypoxia. The reason for these apparent contradictory results obtained from genetic and pharmacological studies is yet to be resolved and the physiological action of CO in the CB is still being investigated.

1.5.2 Hydrogen sulphide in carotid body oxygen sensing

Emerging evidence supports the hypothesis that endogenously produced H₂S is a critical signalling molecule in the mammalian CB. H₂S is primarily generated from serine and cysteine amino acid metabolism through a series of reactions that are dependent on the enzymatic activity of cystathione β synthase (CBS) and cystathione γ lyase (CSE) (124, 125). The relative importance of these enzymes in generating H₂S seems to be tissue specific, with CBS accounting for the vast majority of H₂S production in the brain and kidney, whereas in the liver, H₂S is synthesised predominantly via CSE (124, 126).

It is established that H_2S formed from exogenous NaHS, causes a marked degree of respiratory stimulation in a number of different mammalian species including the mouse (127), rat (128) and the sheep (129). Observations from *in vitro* CB preparations, have shown that supraphysiological doses of H_2S or H_2S donors evoked type I cell depolarisation (130) and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation (130, 131), and these effects appear to be quantitatively similar to those of hypoxia. Coupled to the type I cell excitation is the

capacity for exogenous H_2S to augment the chemoafferent discharge frequency, a response which is dependent on Ca²⁺ influx and neurosecretion of ATP and ACh (127, 132).

The precise mechanism of H_2S induced excitation is still to be clarified. H_2S attenuates type I cell TASK-like (130) and BK_{Ca} (127) currents in a manner that resembles the actions of hypoxia. In contrast to CO, the H_2S mediated depression of BK_{Ca} function appears not to involve specific interaction within the C-terminal domain (133), although an alternative binding site has not been identified.

Perhaps more importantly, is the suggestion that the exogenous concentrations of H₂S required to stimulate type I cells may be sufficient to impair mitochondrial function (130). H₂S is a recognised mitochondrial inhibitor characterised by its capacity to bind to and deactivate complex IV (134). It has been revealed that exogenous application of H₂S to dissociated type I cells, at concentrations equivalent to those that produce chemostimulation, significantly augmented NADH autofluorescence and increased Mg²⁺ fluorescence (130). These observations are consistent with a H₂S induced run-down in mitochondrial electron transport and a reduction in [ATP]_i. Therefore, a significant proportion of CB activation, caused by exogenous H₂S, probably occurs secondary to a reduction in mitochondrial ATP synthesis and cellular energy status.

A number of key investigations have examined whether endogenous generation of H_2S is necessary to activate the CB in hypoxia. The presence of CSE in mouse and rat type I cells has been confirmed by immunohistochemical techniques (127, 131, 132). Expression of CBS has also been reported in rat (133), mouse (127) and cat (135) type I

cells. In rats and mice it has been shown that CB H₂S production significantly increased in hypoxia (131, 132). Functionally, inhibitory targeting of CBS is reported to have abolished the hypoxic ventilatory response *in vivo* (127). On isolated CB tissue, hypoxia induced elevations in type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i, dopamine secretion and chemoafferent discharge frequency, have all been shown to be diminished by pharmacological deactivation of CSE (131, 132).

More conclusive evidence has been presented in studies utilising transgenic KO models. Mice deficient in CSE (CSE^{-/-}) were observed to have an impaired ventilatory response to hypoxia (132). On *in vitro* CB preparations isolated from these mice, hypoxia evoked augmentations in [Ca²⁺]_i, DA secretion and chemoafferent activity were all powerfully attenuated and this apparent down-regulation in hypoxic sensitivity was associated with a complete absence of hypoxia stimulated CB H₂S synthesis (131, 132).

Collectively, these data indicate that although the precise downstream target(s) of H_2S are unknown, endogenous H_2S generation in the type I cell is physiologically active and is necessary for evoking full CB stimulation in hypoxia.

1.5.3 Regulation of the carotid body response to hypoxia by nitric oxide

NO is considered to be an important chemical mediator in CB sensory chemotransduction. In contrast to CO and H₂S, the majority of evidence suggests that NO only has an inhibitory impact on CB activity.

In CB tissue, non-specific nitric oxide synthase (NOS) expression has been identified in both the efferent autonomic nerve bundles and in distal arterioles and capillaries (136138). Functionally, non-selective antagonism of NOS stimulates dose dependent increases in CSN discharge frequency, *in vitro*, indicative of a basal inhibitory action of NO (136). Similar agents also enhance the chemoafferent response to hypoxia, *in vitro* (138, 139). NO donors however, significantly attenuate chemoafferent activity and suppress ACh release in hypoxia (140-142).

Two isoforms of NOS have been proposed as contributing to NO generation within the CB; NOS-1 and NOS-3. Utilising transgenic mice, a number of studies have directly examined the functional significance of these NOS isoforms on regulating CB responses to hypoxia. NOS-1 homozygous KO mice were observed to have an exaggerated hypoxic ventilatory response compared with wild type littermates (143). In addition, exposure to 100% O₂ had a more pronounced inhibitory effect on ventilation and on phrenic nerve activity in the NOS-1 mutant mice, consistent with an up-regulation of basal chemoafferent discharge frequency. These observations suggest that NO derived selectively from NOS-1 inhibits chemoafferent activity in both normoxia and hypoxia.

In a similar study, mice deficient in NOS-3 appeared to have an impaired hypoxic ventilatory response and a diminished reflex increase in phrenic nerve activity upon exposure to cyanide (144). Delivery of 100% O₂ to these NOS-3 KO mice caused a smaller reduction in respiratory drive compared to wild type controls. These data perhaps support a role for NO derived from NOS-3 in excitatory regulation of CB activity. However, the authors proposed that chronic depletion of NOS-3 activity in the vascular endothelial cells would have evoked systemic vasoconstriction. It was hypothesised that vasoconstriction of the arterial supply to the CB would have subjected the organ to chronic hypoxia from birth. Chronic neonatal hypoxia is associated with an impairment of

the CB tissue to develop hypoxic chemosensitivity (45, 145). Using this explanation, the authors considered the attenuation of CB activity in these NOS-3 KO mice to be a consequence of chronic hypoxia rather than the loss of a direct stimulatory effect of NO derived from NOS-3. Although plausible, this conclusion might be questioned since quantitative analysis also revealed that CBs isolated from the NOS-3 mutant mice exhibited no significant increase in type I cell number compared with wild type controls. This suggests an absence of significant type I cell hyperplasia, a condition that is highly characteristic of chronic hypoxia (146, 147).

It is becoming more apparent that NO is capable of modifying type I cell function by acting on various targets in different cellular compartments. In dissociated type I cells it has been demonstrated that sodium nitroprusside (NO donor) depressed whole cell Ca²⁺ channel current and this action was attributed to a mechanism of NO mediated channel S-nitrosation (148). It has also been reported that type I cell BK_{Ca} current was enhanced by exogenous NO donors, but this effect was shown to be dependent on an augmentation in cGMP and PKG signalling (149, 150).

It has been ascertained that hypoxia leads to an elevation in the type I cell NO concentration (83). Since NOS-3 but not NOS-1 is localised in the type I cell (83), it seems logical to suggest that intracellular NO production is derived specifically from NOS-3 activity. Interestingly, by use of NO selective fluorescent dyes, Yamamoto et al. have been able to detect measurable amounts of NO in the mitochondrial membranes of type I cells in hypoxia. It is universally accepted that NO restricts mitochondrial energy metabolism through competitive binding with O_2 at the Cu_B /haem a_3 binuclear centre in complex IV (151). In the CB, this potential effect of NO on modifying the mitochondrial

function has not been investigated. However, in contrast to the vast majority of studies, it has been revealed that some NO donors may elevate the chemoafferent discharge frequency in normoxia (141). The reason for this contradictory finding is unclear but, as with CO, NO may have an additional and as yet uncharacterised excitatory impact on CB function and this may be mediated through the mitochondria.

Whether or not physiological concentrations of NO acutely or chronically alter type I cell mitochondrial energy metabolism remains an important area for consideration, especially given the close association between mitochondrial dysfunction and CB hypersensitivity in certain disease states (2).

1.5.4 Enzymatic nitric oxide generation from nitrite

Nitrite (NO_2^{-}) was originally thought to be an inert end product of NO metabolism that was of little/no functional significance in mammalian physiology. More recently, NO_2^{-} has been identified as an important mediator of systemic and pulmonary vasodilatation in rodents and in humans (152-155). Furthermore, pre-administration of NO_2^{-} has been shown to have cytoprotective effects during ischaemia-reperfusion injury in cardiac, renal, hepatic and brain tissue (156-158). As a consequence, NO_2^{-} biochemistry is currently receiving attention due to its potentially high level of biological and clinical significance.

The majority of the observed physiological actions of NO_2^- are thought to be a direct consequence of NO_2^- reductase activity and generation of NO. NO_2^- is now widely regarded as the largest biological store of NO in mammals, with tissue NO_2^- concentrations ranging from approximately 0.5-25 μ M (159). Several enzymatic NO_2^-

reductases have been identified including deoxyhaemoglobin in blood, deoxymyoglobin, xanthine oxidoreductase, NOS-3, aldehyde dehydrogenase and carbonic anhydrase in the systemic and pulmonary vasculature, deoxymyoglobin in the heart and deoxyneuroglobin in brain and other neuronal tissues (155, 160-167). Of these the most widely characterised NO₂⁻ reductases by far is the family of haem-globins composed of haemoglobin, myoglobin and neuroglobin. Single electron reduction of NO₂⁻ in the presence of a proton and the deoxygenated ferrous haem-group leads to the formation of NO, as shown in the reaction below (in this case with myoglobin);

$$NO_2^-$$
 + deoxyMb(Fe²⁺) + H⁺ \rightarrow NO + metMb(Fe³⁺) + OH⁻ (168)

Since the reaction requires a proton and is favoured in the presence of the deoxygenated form of the ferrous haem group, the rate of NO generation is dependent on PO₂ and on pH. It has been reported that greater than 80% of NO₂⁻ reduction was inhibited in the presence of only 0.5% O₂ when measuring the rate of NO₂⁻ reduction in liver, red blood cell and heart tissue samples *in vitro* (169). In a different investigation, an acidic buffered (pH 6.6) solution increased the rate of NO₂⁻ reduction and NO production *in vitro* and this was coupled with a rise in the degree of aortic vessel relaxation (170).

1.5.5 Mitochondrial nitrite reduction as a novel mechanism for NO generation

In addition to NO_2^- reduction by cytosolic enzymes it has been proposed that NO_2^- reductase activity within the mitochondria may contribute to local mitochondrial NO production and in turn allow for direct modulation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and O_2 consumption (168). The earliest study investigating this novel

function of the mitochondria was performed using isolated hepatic mitochondria and demonstrated that under anoxic conditions addition of exogenous NO_2^- led to the subsequent generation of NO (171). Complex III (171), complex IV (172, 173) and cytochrome c (174) have all since been proposed as potential mitochondrial NO_2^- reductases and the overall mitochondrial NO generation from NO_2^- may have varying contributions from each source.

In the case of NO generation from NO₂⁻ by cytochrome c oxidase, a mechanism of single electron reduction at the site of the reduced haem (Fe²⁺) group has been advocated, similar to that observed in the presence of the cytosolic haem-globin proteins (see above reaction) (172). As in the cytosol, mitochondrial reduction of NO₂⁻ is considered to be exquisitively sensitive to O₂ and pH and is favoured in hypoxia and acid (171, 172, 174). In contrast to cytosolic enzymatic NO₂⁻ reduction, that can occur at physiological (μ M) concentrations of NO₂⁻, mitochondrial NO₂⁻ reduction seems only to occur at supraphysiological (mM) NO₂⁻ concentrations (172-174). This may in part be due to the limited mitochondrial uptake of exogenous NO₂⁻. Castello and colleagues found that only 10% of exogenous NO₂⁻ added to the superfusate was subsequently internalised into the mitochondria (172). It has been speculated that very high local concentrations of NO₂⁻ may exist within the mitochondria, but as yet there is no evidence to substantiate this claim (168). Although intriguing, a definitive physiological role for NO formed from endogenous NO₂⁻ at the mitochondria remains to be verified.

1.5.6 Modification of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation by nitrite

Cellular NO₂⁻ reductase activity leading to the local generation of NO has the potential to evoke post-translational changes in mitochondrial proteins through nitrosation of amino

acid thiol (R-S-H) and amine (R-N-H₂) groups (159). Rises in NO produced from NO₂⁻ in hypoxia may also promote the formation of haem-NO complexes (175, 176). Inhibitory regulation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation through binding of NO to the Cu_B /haem a_3 binuclear centre within complex IV is well characterised (177, 178). The impairment of complex IV activity by NO is considered to be O₂ dependent and rapidly reversible with a K_i of approximately 60-150 nM NO at O₂ concentration of 5–10 μ M (179).

NO derived specifically from NO_2^- has now been demonstrated to significantly diminish mitochondrial respiration via inhibitory targeting of complex IV (180). The degree of NO-haem complex formation and mitochondrial inhibition with NO_2^- appears to be highly dependent on PO₂ and only occurs in hypoxia (176, 180). In the absence of cytosolic NO_2^- reductases, mitochondrial activity is only depressed by supraphysiological NO_2^- concentrations, consistent with those shown to generate NO directly from the mitochondria (180).

Attenuation of mitochondrial function by NO₂⁻ may also be dependent on posttranslational modification of mitochondrial proteins. Treatment of isolated cardiac mitochondria in anoxic conditions with NO₂⁻ has been shown to produce dose dependent reductions in the respiration rate through complex I and this was coupled to a decrease in complex I ROS generation upon reoxygenation (181). In the same investigation, R-SNO levels, measured by chemiluminescence, were augmented in the mitochondrial fraction containing complex I following NO₂⁻ treatment, leading authors to conclude that a dampening of total mitochondrial electron flux was a direct consequence of complex I protein S-nitrosation. A summary of the mitochondria being both metabolisers and targets of NO₂⁻ is presented in Figure 1.3.

NO₂⁻ is recognised as a novel and rapidly reversible inhibitor of mitochondrial electron transport in various tissues and acts primarily through generation of NO. NO₂⁻ reductase activity has never been detected within the CB. In contrast to other NO donors used previously in the CB, NO₂⁻ may be able to form NO exclusively in the type I cell mitochondria. In this way, NO₂⁻ may be a useful agent to examine whether NO can adjust the CB hypoxic sensitivity by selective modification of type I cell mitochondrial function.



matrix

В



Figure 1.3 The mitochondria as metabolisers and targets of nitrite.

A) Supraphysiological (mM) concentrations of nitrite (NO_2^{-1}) can be reduced at three sites within the mitochondria to generate NO. These sites are; complex III, complex IV and cytochrome c. NO_2^{-1} reduction is favoured in acidic and hypoxic conditions and requires continuous mitochondrial substrate supply (NADH/FADH₂) and electron flux (indicated by the dotted line). B) The NO generated from NO_2^{-1} reduction has the potential to impair mitochondrial electron transport by nitrosation of amino acid thiol groups in complex I (generating R-SNO groups) or by forming haem-NO complexes in complex IV. Adapted from Shiva, 2010 (168).

1.6 Mechanisms of hypercapnic chemotransduction in the carotid

1.6.1 Established hypercapnic chemotransduction processes in the carotid body Approximately 30-50% of the reflex ventilatory response to arterial hypercapnia is mediated through direct stimulation of the CB chemoreceptors (182, 183), with the remaining contribution arising from chemoreceptors located in the CNS. Complete silencing of the CSN chemoafferent output, using a local hyperoxic and hypocapnic solution, has been shown to severely depress the reflex ventilatory response to systemic hypercapnia to only 20% of control (184). Therefore, in addition to the reflexes arising directly from hypercapnic CB excitation, maintenance of a definitive CB chemoafferent input into the CNS seems to have a role in establishing the acute hypercapnic sensitivity of the central chemoreceptors.

The CB chemoafferent response curve to increasing P_aCO_2 (at constant P_aO_2) has a sigmoid shape with a linear increase in discharge frequency identified over a range of approximately 25-80 mmHg P_aCO_2 (40, 41, 185). At a higher or lower P_aCO_2 the discharge frequency tends to plateau (40, 186). A similar correlation between superfusate PCO_2 and chemoafferent discharge has been detected in the intact CB preparation *in vitro* (46). The chemoafferent response to a single level of hypercapnia is rapid, peaking within 2-4 s, and then it adapts quickly, within 10 s, to a slightly lower steady state frequency (187) that is maintained for up to 240 minutes, with very little further depression (186).

Transduction of the hypercapnic stimulus into a functional chemoafferent neural signal involves many of the same processes associated with hypoxic sensing. These include, type I cell depolarisation, Ca^{2+} influx and neurosecretion (18). As with hypoxia, the vast majority of the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ rise in response to hypercapnia is dependent on type I cell depolarisation and Ca^{2+} influx through L-type Ca^{2+} channels (188). The mechanism behind the small residual rise in Ca^{2+} independent of L-type Ca^{2+} channel activity has not been clearly defined, but evidence implies that it may involve Ca^{2+} entry through the P/Q type Ca^{2+} channels (189) or acid induced reverse activation of the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (53).

The hypercapnic induced elevation in [Ca²⁺]_i is essential for the secretion of stored neurotransmitters that stimulate post-synaptic action potential generation in the adjacent chemoafferent fibres. As in hypoxia, the two critical excitatory neurotransmitters are considered to be ACh and ATP, as evidenced by the concurrent block of both nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChR) and purinergic P2 receptors causing a complete obliteration of the chemoafferent response to hypercapnia (190). The release of DA has also been reported under hypercapnic conditions, although this most likely has an autoinhibitory, rather than excitatory function (191).

1.6.2 Linking hypercapnia with type I cell depolarisation; a role for carbonic anhydrase and H⁺

The precise signalling mechanism that couples high extracellular PCO₂ with type I cell depolarisation remains unresolved. A number of studies have proposed that the crucial step in the transduction process is the intracellular hydration of CO₂ to form H_2CO_3 followed by dissociation into HCO_3^- and H^+ (190, 192, 193). The rate of CO₂ hydration is

rapidly increased in the presence of carbonic anhydrases (CAHs) (194) and the function of these enzymes within the type I cell may be functionally relevant in mediating the response to hypercapnia. Expression of CAHs in the CB has been widely reported (195) (196) and the most detailed analysis has revealed the presence of CAHI, CAHII and CAHIII isoforms within the type I cell (197).

On a functional level, inhibition of CAH using acetazolamide has been associated with a delayed and a depressed CB chemoafferent response to hypercapnia *in vitro* (192), consistent with a reduction in the rate of intracellular CO₂ hydration. The absolute level of steady state suppression seems to be dependent on the CB preparation used; CAH inhibition almost completely ablated the frequency response to hypercapnia in petrosal neurones co-cultured with type I cell clusters (190), but evoked a much less severe reduction in chemoafferent frequency in the intact perfused CB preparation (198). *In vivo*, it has been observed that chemoafferent elevations in hypercapnia were significantly attenuated by acetazolamide, a membrane permeable CAH inhibitor, but not by benzolamide, a membrane impermeable CAH inhibitor (199).

Perhaps the most obvious explanation for the impact of CAH activity on type I cell excitability would be the increase in $[H^+]_i$ leading to a fall in intracellular pH (pH_i). A rise in extracellular PCO₂ in isohydric conditions (achieved by concurrently raising the superfusate HCO₃⁻) causes only a small transient intracellular acidosis that gradually recovers over 4-8 minutes (200). This restoration of pH_i is probably a consequence of an increased rate of H⁺ extrusion. The maintenance of a steady state acidic pH_i in hypercapnia has therefore been proposed as being dependent not only on the intracellular hydration of CO₂ by CAH and generation of H⁺, but also on a concurrent

extracellular acidosis and a depression of type I cell H⁺ extrusion (200). In hypercapnia, a clear linear correlation between extracellular pH (pH_o) and type I cell pH_i has been described over the physiological range (200). Impairment of H⁺ extrusion following a decrease in pH_o may be due to the H⁺ induced inhibition of the H⁺/Na⁺ exchanger and up-regulation of the HCO₃⁻/Cl⁻ exchanger and the activity of the non-specific (HCO₃⁻ conducting) anion channel (200, 201).

If secondary acidosis is central to the process of CB CO₂ sensing then there must exist a mechanism of acid induced cellular excitation. A number of channels expressed in the type I cell are recognised as being sensitive to alterations in pH and modification of their activity may directly lead to type I cell depolarisation. Severe acidosis (pH 6.4) directly attenuates the background TASK-like current and the same stimulus can evoke type I cell depolarisation (27). A similar reduction of the background K⁺ leak current during hypercapnic stimulation has been demonstrated (188). Accordingly, TASK-1 KO mice were reported to have a blunted ventilatory response to hypercapnia (202). Subsequent *in vitro* analysis identified an impaired augmentation of chemoafferent activity in response to hypercapnia in CBs isolated from TASK-1 KO mice, suggestive of a diminished CO₂ sensitivity. However, these findings were in contrast to an earlier investigation that described a maintained DA secretory response to hypercapnia in CB slices harvested from TASK-1/3 deficient mice (203). Thus, a role for TASK channels in CB PCO₂/H⁺ remains to be verified.

In addition to TASK, it has been established that the outward K⁺ current conducted through the BK_{Ca} channel is suppressed by acidosis (25, 201). Emerging evidence also indicates that inward Na⁺ (204) and Cl⁻ (205) currents are activated in type I cells in

response to a fall in extracellular pH. The relative contribution of all of the currents described in mediating type I cell depolarisation in hypercapnia is still to be fully characterised.

1.6.3 Effects of CO₂ on carotid body function that are independent of pH changes

If CB activation in hypercapnia is purely a consequence of intracellular acidosis, (which in itself is dependent on simultaneous extracellular acidosis), then it might be expected that responses to hypercapnia when the extracellular pH is maintained at 7.4 are either severely diminished or absent. However, it has been reported that isohydric hypercapnia can evoke increases in type I cell Ca²⁺ current (206), neurotransmitter release (191) and activation of the CSN afferents (190). In these latter two studies the magnitude of the response in isohydric hypercapnia was not as great as that observed in acidic hypercapnia but a large residual response was still preserved. Isohydric hypercapnia does generate a small transient intracellular acidosis in type I cells (200), but the size of these responses is still conceivably greater than would be expected if hypercapnic chemotransduction was completely dependent on intracellular acidosis. This indicates that there may be excitatory mechanisms induced by hypercapnia that are independent of concurrent acidosis.

The elevation in type I cell Ca²⁺ current identified in isohydric hypercapnia (described above) was shown to be mimicked by cAMP analogues and abolished by inhibition of PKA (206). This suggests that cAMP production and subsequent PKA activation is functionally relevant in CB hypercapnia stimulus response coupling. The authors hypothesised that cAMP generation may be a consequence of the increase in HCO₃⁻ production from CAH, leading to the direct stimulation of the HCO₃⁻ sensitive soluble

adenylate cyclase (sAC). The expression of sAC mRNA in type I cells has recently been confirmed (207) and CB cAMP levels do increase in hypercapnia (208). However, it remains to be seen whether sAC is functionally active in the CB and has a specific role in the chemotransduction process of hypercapnia.

1.6.4 CO₂-O₂ interactions in the carotid body

A considerable quantity of evidence suggests that hypoxic and hypercapnic stimuli interact at the level of the CB. The *in vivo* chemoafferent response to hypercapnia is highly dependent on the P_aO_2 (185, 209). Although a significant elevation in frequency upon hypercapnic stimulation occurs at any PO_2 , the absolute rise in frequency per mmHg increase in PCO_2 is strongly diminished by arterial hyperoxia (185, 209).

It has also been established that the CB response to hypoxia is sensitive to variations in CO_2 . Detailed analysis of CB chemoafferent activity *in vitro* revealed that hypercapnia caused a significant 'right shift' of the CB hypoxic response curve (46). This implies that hypercapnia reduces the hypoxic threshold required for response initiation. In the same investigation, the absolute impact of hypercapnia on discharge frequency was augmented in hypoxia, again emphasising the synergy between these two stimuli (46). The precise site of O_2 - CO_2 interaction remains elusive but the transduction pathways involved in hypoxia and hypercapnia signalling have much in common (18). Since the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation in response to hypercapnia is enhanced in hypoxia (210), the convergence of these two signalling cascades is most likely to occur within the type I cell, at or before the generation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Further evaluation of the interaction between these two stimuli and the magnification of CB output on the control of respiratory and

cardiovascular reflexes could be of importance given the close association between CB hyperexcitability and disease (2).

1.7 The carotid body in glucose sensing

1.7.1 General overview of the properties and mechanisms of some glucose sensitive tissues

Glucose homeostasis in mammals is an essential process that allows for continuous maintenance of glycolysis. Counter regulatory responses to hyper or hypoglycaemia are dependent on a number of specialised glucose sensitive cells that respond to glucose concentrations over a range that fails to evoke stimulation in all other cell types. Whether the CB type I cell is one of these physiological glucose sensors, currently, appears equivocal. Experiments performed in this thesis aim to examine the direct sensitivity of the CB to low glucose and to unify the apparent contradictory observations that have been previously reported in the literature.

Pancreatic β-cell

The most commonly studied mammalian glucose sensor is the pancreatic β -cell. Insulin secretion induced by hyperglycaemia is coupled tightly with changes in the rate of glucose metabolism and ATP generation (reviewed in (211)). An increase in [ATP]_i through glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation reduces K_{ATP} channel activity. This promotes cellular depolarisation (212, 213), an increase in voltage dependent Ca²⁺ influx (214) and insulin secretion.

The primary regulator of glycolysis in the β -cell is glucokinase (hexokinase IV). Glucokinase has an exceptionally low affinity for glucose; it has a K_m of approximately 8 mM glucose, which is far higher than other hexokinases that are in the μ M range (215, 216). This makes it exquisitively sensitive to fluctuations in glucose concentrations across the entire physiological range. In isolated β -cells it has been demonstrated that elevations in glucose metabolism and insulin secretion in response to hyperglycaemia were associated with an increase in glucokinase expression and activity (217). A later report showed that a 70% reduction in β -cell glucokinase expression was associated with a diminished the rate of pancreatic insulin secretion in response to hyperglycaemia (218).

The glucose transporter GLUT-2 may also control glucose utilisation in the β -cell by modifying the rate of glucose uptake. GLUT-2 is highly expressed in the pancreatic β -cell and its K_m for glucose (approximately 17 mM) is far higher than that reported for GLUT-1, GLUT-3 and GLUT-4 (219). Observations made by Johnson et al. indicate that extracellular glucose uptake into the β -cell is directly dependent on the level of GLUT-2 activity (220). Complete knockdown of *glut2* gene expression in mice has been shown to dramatically reduce the degree of the glucose induced insulin secretion (221). Thus, the physiological acute glucose sensitivity of the β -cell appears to be critically dependent on the expression and activity of both GLUT-2 and glucokinase.

Glucose sensitive neurones

Glucose sensitive neurones in the mammalian brain are found predominantly in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and the lateral hypothalamic region (LH) (222-224). These neurones are either acutely stimulated (GE) or inhibited (GI) by rises in glucose

concentrations (reviewed in (225)). Despite the lack of specific cell markers there is some degree of association between both GE and GI neurones and the presence of glucokinase, with 64% of GE neurones and 43% of GI neurones expressing glucokinase mRNA (226-228).

As in the pancreatic β -cell, the majority of GE neurones are activated subsequent to the inhibition of K_{ATP} channels (229, 230) following a glucokinase mediated up-regulation in glycolysis and ATP synthesis (227). Some GE neurones seem to be stimulated via glucose mediated activation of the glucose, Na⁺ co-transporter and this mechanism is independent of an elevation in glycolysis (231).

The means by which GI neurones are stimulated in response to low glucose is less well defined. A reduction in glucose metabolism appears to be significant in the coupling process in some GI neurones. In these neurones glucokinase is central to the regulation of glycolysis and ATP synthesis (reviewed in (232)). It has been reported that acute activation of glucokinase by Compound A significantly reduced glucagon secretion in response to insulin induced hypoglycaemia (233). In the same study, chronic knock down of glucokinase mRNA increased the level of adrenaline release during hypoglycaemia. An earlier study showed that pharmacological inhibition of glucokinase rapidly increased [Ca²⁺]; in isolated GI neurones (229), indicative of a reduction in glucokinase activity coupling directly to GI neurone excitation.

Activation of some GI neurones is considered to be conferred through an increase in the AMP:ATP ratio and activation of AMPK subsequent to a fall in glycolysis and ATP synthesis. Intracerebral venous administration of 2-deoxyglucose (glycolysis inhibitor)

has been shown to increase AMPK activity in hypothalamic neurones, and this was associated with an elevation in food intake (234). In a later study, microinjection of the AMPK inhibitor Compound C into the ARC, attenuated the level of adrenaline and glucagon secretion in response to hypoglycaemia (235). Observations made on isolated brain slices have also revealed that exogenous application of AICAR stimulated GI neurones in a manner that was comparable to low glucose (236). Alternatively, it has been proposed that other GI neurones may respond to low glucose following a run-down in the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase (237). As with AMPK activation, this is probably due to a low glucose mediated reduction in glycolysis and ATP synthesis.

1.7.2 A role for the carotid body in systemic glucose homeostasis

The emerging consensus is that the CB is involved in glucose homeostasis. Direct pharmacological stimulation of the CB *in vivo* evokes a reflex elevation in arterial glucose concentration (238). This increase is reliant on a heightened chemoafferent input into the NTS that in turn leads to the augmentation of adrenaline secretion from the adrenal medulla and an increase in hepatic glucose release into the systemic circulation (238, 239).

Koyama and colleagues have reported that during insulin induced hypoglycaemic clamp, the rate of glucose infusion required to maintain the hypoglycaemic level was elevated in dogs following CB resection (240). These dogs also exhibited a reduced level of endogenous hepatic glucose production. In humans, throughout a similar insulin induced hypoglycaemic clamp, the rate of glucose infusion necessary to maintain the serum glucose at 3.3 mM was increased following proposed silencing of chemoafferent activity by hyperoxia (241). Taken together, these data indicate that the CB is stimulated in hypoglycaemia and contributes to the counter regulation required to restore a normal plasma glucose concentration.

1.7.3 Altered chemosensitivity and ventilatory responses in hypoglycaemia

A number of investigations have evaluated potential changes in peripheral chemoreceptor sensitivity and ventilation during hypoglycaemia. Bin-Jaliah et al. demonstrated that insulin induced hypoglycaemia augmented minute ventilation (V_E) and the rate of O_2 consumption (VO_2), so that the V_E : VO_2 ratio remained constant (242). The precise matching of ventilation with the elevation in metabolism during hypoglycaemia was shown to be critically dependent on the preservation of CB chemoafferent activity. In a follow up article, a similar insulin induced hypoglycaemic clamp significantly augmented the CB sensitivity to hypercapnia (243). Since exposure of the intact *in vitro* CB to 2 mM glucose did not directly potentiate chemoafferent responses to hypercapnia, the authors proposed that the elevation of CB CO₂ chemosensitivity observed *in vivo* was an indirect consequence of systemic hypoglycaemia, most likely related to a simultaneous increase in metabolic rate.

In a less severe model of hypoglycaemia, induced by fasting the animals for 12 hours, it has been observed that a 25% reduction in basal serum glucose had no effect on normoxic ventilation, O₂ consumption or CO₂ production (244). During acute hypoxia there was no difference in the increase in minute ventilation between fed and fasted animals. This suggests that mild hypoglycaemia, at a level that does not alter whole body metabolism, does not augment CB chemosensitivity.

In humans, it has been reported that severe hypoglycaemia (2.8 mM) increased basal ventilation and augmented ventilatory responses to hypoxia (245). These effects were coupled with rises in serum glucagon, adrenaline, noradrenaline and cortisol concentrations. Interestingly, immediately following the restoration of a normal plasma glucose concentration, the ventilatory response to hypoxia remained elevated. Analysis of serum hormones revealed that noradrenaline and cortisol had not returned to baseline. In view of these findings, it is possible that the CB activation in hypoglycaemia is mediated indirectly through the release of counter regulatory endocrine or neuroendocrine factors that may also be partially responsible for elevating whole body metabolism.

1.7.4 Acute sensitivity of the carotid body to low glucose in vitro

A number of studies have assessed the direct low glucose sensitivity of *in vitro* CB tissue in order to determine whether it can act as a physiological glucose sensor in the whole animal (242, 246-249). So far, the findings from these investigations have been unable to establish a clear relationship between low glucose and CB activation. Several clear discrepancies have been reported and at present the direct low glucose sensitivity of the CB is ambiguous. It has been suggested that the reason for these disparities may be due to dissimilar isolation procedures or tissue incubation conditions utilised throughout the different investigations (250). In addition, Zhang et al. have proposed that the explanation for the absence of low glucose sensitivity reported in certain CB preparations was purely a consequence of the high PO₂ levels used (248). A summary of the current evidence regarding the direct low glucose sensitivity of the CB is described in this section.

The freshly isolated intact CB appears to be acutely unresponsive to fluctuations in the superfusate glucose concentration. Bin-Jaliah and colleagues showed that exposure of the CB to 2 mM glucose failed to acutely enhance the CSN chemoafferent activity (242). Consistent with these findings, Conde et al. reported that ³H-CA neurotransmitter release was not acutely augmented even by 1 mM glucose in normoxia or moderate hypoxia (247). In addition, complete glucose deprivation does not acutely alter the CB secretion of the two primary excitatory neurotransmitters; ATP (247) and ACh (251). An increase in ³H-CA has been observed but only after the intact CB has been exposed to glucose deprivation for at least 40 minutes (247).

A similar lack of intrinsic low glucose sensitivity has been identified in freshly dissociated type I cells. The background TASK-like channel current was shown to be completely unaffected by glucose deprivation (252). The recently characterised ATP sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}-like) current (distinguishable from TASK) is also reported to be completely insensitive to the removal of superfusate glucose (252). Finally, dissociated type I cells, experimented on within hours of CB isolation, exhibit no degree of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation in response to removal of glucose from the superfusate (249). This is consistent with the absence of low glucose induced cellular activation.

In contrast with the studies described above, it is also accepted that several long term culture CB preparations are acutely stimulated by low glucose. In the CB slice (incubated for 24-48 hours prior to experimentation), low glucose activates the type I cell leading to a rapid increase in the rate of DA release (246, 253). Low glucose also enhances the CB slice secretory response to hypoxia (246). In common with hypoxia, DA secretion in response to glucose deprivation is dependent on Ca²⁺ influx through

voltage gated Ca²⁺ channels (253). In the 6-10 day old CB co-culture preparation (type I cell clusters co-cultured with chemoafferent petrosal neurones) low glucose evoked an increase in afferent fibre spike frequency that was equivalent in amplitude to that induced by hypoxia (248). The same concentration of glucose significantly potentiated the response to hypercapnia, indicative of a significant degree of stimulus interaction.

In both the CB slice and co-culture preparations, activation in response to physiological levels of low glucose was induced by reducing the superfusate PO₂ to approximately 90 mmHg (246, 248). This raises the idea that the CB sensitivity to low glucose may be dependent on the background level of O₂ tension. Experiments by Bin-Jaliah et al. (242, 243) utilising the intact preparation were performed in hyperoxia (superfusate PO₂ of approximately 400 mmHg), and it has been suggested that this high O₂ tension may have acted to conceal the low glucose sensitivity of the tissue (248).

Alternatively, it has been speculated that the intrinsic low glucose sensitivity of the CB slice and co-culture preparations is a consequence of an alteration in metabolic status following prolonged tissue incubation (250). Some support for this idea has come from a recent article demonstrating the induction of small [Ca²⁺]; responses to glucose deprivation following 24 hours of culture (249). However, in this same study, the rate of cellular DA secretion was still unaffected by glucose deprivation after the equivalent time of incubation, implying that the rise in [Ca²⁺]; was not sufficient to elicit neurotransmitter release. Further evaluation of the CB response to low glucose is therefore required to fully unite the apparent contradictory findings that have been described in different CB preparations. Experiments performed in this thesis aimed to clarify whether the low

glucose sensitivity of the CB is dependent on an interaction with O₂ and/or is induced following long term tissue incubation *in vitro*.

1.8 Neurotransmission and neuromodulation in the carotid body

1.8.1 Acetylcholine and ATP

It is thought that the hypoxia induced release of excitatory neurotransmitters from the type I cell is crucial for the elevation in action potential generation in the chemoafferent petrosal neurones. This is primarily based on evidence that identified a lack of intrinsic O_2 sensitivity in petrosal neurones that were cultured in the absence of co-localised type I cells (254). In Ca²⁺ free media, rises in type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i and chemoafferent excitation in hypoxia are almost completely abolished (31). This indicates that Ca²⁺ evoked neurosecretion is necessary for post-synaptic action potential generation.

The majority of evidence suggests that the two main excitatory neurotransmitters synthesised and released from type I cells are ACh and ATP. Hypoxia stimulated secretion of ACh has been detected both *in vivo* (35) and *in vitro* (36). The type I cell exhibits positive immunoreactivity for a number of cholinergic markers including choline acetyl transferase (ChAT; ACh synthesising enzyme) (255), the vesicular ACh transporter (VChaT) (256) and acetylcholine esterase (AChE) (257). These findings imply that the type I cell is a primary source of hypoxia induced synaptic ACh generation.

Direct application of ACh to isolated chemoafferent petrosal neurones evokes a depolarisation that is coupled to the generation of a fast and rapidly desensitising inward
current (258). This current is mimicked by nicotine and abolished by hexamethonium (HEX; nAChR antagonist); thus strongly indicative of the presence of functional nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChR) on these petrosal neurones. Selective inhibitory targeting of nAChR *in vivo* using mecamylamine has been observed to attenuate the increase in chemoafferent firing frequency during hypoxia (259). In petrosal neurones co-cultured with type I cell clusters, *in vitro*, the rise in action potential frequency evoked by hypoxia is partially impaired by a number of different nAChR antagonists (72, 254). In contrast, a recent study has reported that in the intact CB preparation, a very high dose of mecamylamine (nAChR antagonist) completely ablated the chemoafferent response to ACh, but had little or no effect on the elevation induced by hypoxia (260). Although ACh is widely regarded as an important and functional excitatory neurotransmitter in the CB, its precise physiological role in post-synaptic action potential generation in hypoxia is perhaps not as definitive as originally thought.

Findings from the above investigations indicate that another excitatory neurotransmitter in addition to ACh must be secreted in order to attain peak chemoafferent frequencies upon CB stimulation. ATP is now widely acknowledged as this neurotransmitter. ATP is stored in secretory granules within the type I cell (71) and is released upon hypoxic stimulation secondary to Ca^{2+} influx through L-type Ca^{2+} channels (34). Immunohistochemical analysis has revealed the presence of P2X₂ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors in the chemoafferent nerve terminals adjacent to type I cell clusters (261). These receptors were co-localised, which is indicative of the formation of P2X₂-P2X₃ heteromultimers, similar to those detected in sensory neurones in the dorsal root ganglion (262). It has been demonstrated that exogenous application of ATP to isolated

56

chemoafferent petrosal neurones elicits a large inward current that slowly desensitises, consistent with the currents carried through P2X₂-P2X₃ heteromultimers (72, 262).

Intravenous infusion of the ATP analogue (α , β -methylene ATP) has been shown to induce significant hyperventilation in the anaesthetised rat and this was coupled with a marked escalation in CB chemoafferent activity (263). In unanaesthetised rats, suramin infusion (a non-specific P2 receptor antagonist) decreased the ventilatory response to hypoxia, primarily by impairing the reflex increase in respiratory frequency (264). In the CB co-culture preparation, *in vitro*, suramin application strikingly attenuated the hypoxia evoked rise in petrosal action potential frequency (72). Suramin also markedly reduces the CB sensitivity to hypoxia in the intact CB preparation (72, 260).

More conclusive evidence in support of the idea that ATP is an important excitatory neurotransmitter has been provided from studies utilising genetically modified mice. $P2X_2 -^{-}$ and $P2X_2 - P2X_3 -^{-}$ mice exhibit a suppressed hypoxic ventilatory response (265), and in intact CBs isolated from these mice, the peak chemoafferent response to hypoxia and the hypoxic sensitivity are both markedly diminished.

1.8.2 Dopamine and serotonin

The CB contains a large amount of stored catecholamines (CAs) in dense core vesicles, and for its mass the overall CA content is equivalent only to that seen in adrenal medullary tissue (266). The enzyme tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), that initiates the synthesis of CAs from tyrosine, has now emerged as a well established type I cell marker (267). Comparatively, dopamine (DA) is the most abundant CA in type I cells, forming more than 50% of the overall CA content (266, 268). Noradrenaline and adrenaline account for the rest of the CB CA content and are produced at much lower levels (266, 268). Although it is known that DA is secreted from type I cells in abundance in hypoxia (33, 37), its action seems to be autoinhibitory rather than excitatory, providing the CB with a degree of inhibitory feedback control (269-271).

The inhibitory effects of DA appear to be mediated through activation of the D₂ receptor. Radio-ligand binding was implemented to originally identify the presence of numerous D₂ receptors throughout the whole CB tissue (272). More recently, D₂ receptor mRNA was detected in the type I cell (273). Direct application of DA to dissociated type I cells has been shown to attenuate the voltage dependent inward Ca²⁺ current (39). Hypoxia induced rises in Ca²⁺ are recognised as being depressed in the presence of specific D₂ receptor agonists (274). Similar D₂ receptor agonists were also reported to decrease ³H-DA neurosecretion both in normoxia and in hypoxia (275). Importantly, this action was associated with a decrease in CB cAMP content under both conditions. Therefore, the inhibitory effects on DA are considered to be dependent on a D₂ receptor mediated reduction in the type I cell [cAMP]_i.

Serotonin (5-HT) is another monoamine that is stored in the type I cell (276). Unlike DA, 5-HT appears to be an excitatory neuromodulator of type I cell activity. It has been observed that the spontaneous depolarisations and action potentials generated in large clusters of type I cells (> 30 cells) were almost completely ablated by the 5-HT₂ receptor antagonist ketanserin (277). This led authors to suggest that endogenous release of 5-HT in normoxia established the basal type I cell electrical rhythm. The same group showed that the spontaneous action potential generation in type I cells in normoxia was mimicked by application of a DAG analogue (OAG), was attenuated by PKC inhibition

58

and was dependent on a reduction in background K^+ channel current (278). It has been reported that ketanserin does not reduce the CB chemoafferent response to hypoxia, suggesting that the excitatory actions of 5-HT are limited to normoxia and that 5-HT is not an essential neurotransmitter for CB activation by hypoxia (279).

1.8.3 Adenosine signalling in normoxic/hyperoxic conditions

Chapter 6 focuses on investigating whether adenosine has an important neuromodulatory function in mediating CB responses to hypoxia, mitochondrial inhibition and hypercapnia. Endogenously produced adenosine has often been regarded as an overlooked signalling molecule in the CB (9). A comprehensive understanding of the physiological role of adenosinergic signalling in establishing the overall sensitivity of the CB to physiological or pathological stimuli may allow for the development of additional therapeutic agents to modify CB excitability in certain pathologies. The following sections describe what is currently known about the actions of adenosine in the CB.

Exogenous adenosine administration has been shown to increase the chemoafferent discharge frequency in a dose dependent manner *in vivo* (280, 281) and *in vitro* (282, 283). CB activation by adenosine *in vivo* evokes an acute increase in respiratory frequency, tidal volume and minute ventilation that are dependent on A₂ receptor stimulation (284). In arterial normoxia, suppression of adenosine metabolism or uptake mimics the excitatory action of exogenous adenosine and causes acute respiratory stimulation. Since these ventilatory effects are abolished by CSN section, it has been proposed that adenosine is generated endogenously in the CB and mediates the basal chemoafferent activity and the peripheral component of respiratory drive in arterial normoxia (285).

The peripheral chemoexcitatory actions of adenosine on the CB function have also been detected in humans. Intra-aortic adenosine infusion was shown to increase minute ventilation in patients undergoing cardiac catheterization (286). In addition, exogenous adenosine application has been linked to an increase in muscle sympathetic neuronal firing frequency (287). A later study demonstrated that augmentation of endogenous adenosine signalling by dipyridamole (a re-uptake inhibitor), during room air breathing, augmented sympathetic activity and increased ventilation in all subjects (288). Since these potentiations were blunted in hyperoxia it was suggested that the adenosine mediated increase in sympathetic firing frequency was attributable to a concurrent elevation in CB chemoafferent activity.

Generation of adenosine in the synapse between the CB type I cell and the adjacent petrosal afferent neurone may be the result of extracellular ATP catabolism. ATP is stored in vesicles in type I cells (71) and released in normoxia/hyperoxia (34). Extracellular ATP and ADP can be converted to AMP in the presence of ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolyase 1 (CD39), and then into adenosine by the membrane bound ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) (289). Alternatively, adenosine can be produced from intracellular ATP catabolism and released into the synapse through the bidirectional equilibrative adenosine transporter (ENT) (290). Adenosine derived from the whole CB has been detected under normoxic conditions *in vitro* (11). The level of adenosine recovered in normoxia was depressed in the presence of the CD73 inhibitor α,β -methylene ADP (AOPCP) but not by the ENT blocker S-(4-nitrobenzyl)-6-thioinosine (NBTI), indicating that adenosine is predominately produced in normoxia through extracellular ATP catabolism mediated by CD39 and CD73 activity.

60

1.8.4 Adenosine generation and signalling in hypoxia

Adenosine has been advocated as an important substance in neuromodulation of the peripheral chemoreceptor response to hypoxia. This was first evidenced by observations *in vivo* in the cat demonstrating that the characteristic increase in CSN discharge frequency in hypoxia was attenuated by non-selective adenosine receptor blockade (291). Inhibition of adenosine receptors with 8-(p-sulfophenyl) theophylline (8-SPT) in rats also decreases, but does not abolish, the acute phase of the hypoxic ventilatory response (292). In humans, adenosine infusion at a level that does not alter baseline MABP increases basal minute ventilation and augments the hyperventilatory response to hypoxia but not to hypercapnia (293).

On isolated CB tissue, the inhibitory impact of adenosine receptor antagonism on chemoafferent activity is more prominent in mild compared to severe hypoxia (10). ATP appears to account for the majority of the increase in chemoafferent activity in severe hypoxia. Consistent with these findings, whilst the extracellular adenosine concentration was raised in mild hypoxia, no further increase was observed in more severe hypoxic conditions (10).

The increase in extracellular adenosine concentration measured following CB exposure to mild hypoxia (10, 11) may be dependent on an up-regulation of extracellular CD39 and CD73 activity following the concurrent increase in neurosecretion of ATP from type I cells (34). ATP may also be released from sympathetic terminals as a co-transmitter in hypoxia, although no study has examined this in detail. Alternatively, augmented

61

intracellular adenosine generated within type I cells during hypoxia may be released into the synapse through ENT.

It has been reported that extracellular release of adenosine from the whole CB in mild hypoxia was depressed by both pharmacological inhibition of ENT and CD73 (11). Mild hypoxia induced increases in extracellular ATP were augmented 3-4 fold by CD73 inhibition indicative of an extremely high rate of extracellular ATP catabolism (10). These data are indicative of a role for both intracellular and extracellular ATP catabolism in the synaptic generation of adenosine during mild hypoxia. As yet the relative functional contribution of intracellular and extracellular derived adenosine on establishing the CB sensitivity to hypoxia has not been investigated. The effect of adenosine, produced purely from CD73 activity, in setting the stimulus threshold required for chemoafferent activation in response to mild mitochondrial inhibition and hypercapnia has not been previously evaluated. The impact of adenosine derived selectively from CD73 on modulating functional chemoafferent responses to all of these stimuli was therefore examined directly in this thesis. The potential role of synaptic adenosine derived from intracellular or extracellular ATP catabolism in mediating carotid body function is summarised in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4 Summary of some of the neurotransmitters in the carotid body.

The type I cell contains a number of stored neurotransmitters that are released following an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ in hypoxia or hypercapnia. Strong evidence suggests that ATP directly stimulates P2X₂-P2X₃ heteromultimers on the post-synaptic membrane and is responsible for a large component of the increase in action potential frequency in the adjacent chemoafferent fibre. ACh is also regarded as an excitatory co-transmitter that acts on post-synaptic nAChRs. In contrast, DA exerts an autoinhibitory action on type I cell function mediated through stimulation of pre-synaptic D₂ receptors and a reduction in intracellular cAMP. Adenosine is acknowledged as an excitatory neuromodulator of CB function acting on pre and post-synaptic A₂ receptors. There are two potential sources of synaptic adenosine 1) intracellular catabolism of ATP and the release of adenosine through ENT and 2) extracellular catabolism of ATP by synaptic CD39 and CD73. The contribution of these two sources of adenosine on establishing the CB sensitivity to physiological or pathological stimuli is currently not well characterised. Adapted from Nurse, 2010 (294)

1.8.5 The mechanisms accounting for excitatory modulation of the carotid body by adenosine

Extracellular adenosine produced in normoxic and hypoxic conditions has the potential to act post-synaptically on the afferent neurone or pre-synaptically on the type I cell in order to modulate CB excitability. Four G-protein coupled adenosine receptors have been cloned to data (A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃) and exert their actions through inhibition or excitation of adenylate cyclases and production of cAMP (reviewed in (295)).

In the CB, in situ hybridization and immunohistochemical techniques have been used to identify A_{2A} receptor mRNA and protein in type I cell clusters and in petrosal neurones (273, 296). A_{2B} receptor protein has also been detected in dissociated type I cells (297). In contrast, A_1 and A_3 receptors do not appear to be present in the CB (273, 296).

The precise functional contribution of A_{2A} and A_{2B} receptors in modulating chemoafferent activity under basal conditions and during hypoxia or hypercapnia induced chemostimulation remains unresolved. Conde et al. reported that caffeine, a nonselective A_2 receptor antagonist, inhibited ³H-CA secretion and CSN discharge under basal conditions and during hypoxia, *in vitro* (297). A_{2B} , but not A_{2A} , receptor antagonists mimicked the effects of caffeine on catecholamine secretion, suggestive of a selective A_{2B} mediated action of adenosine on the type I cell. A_{2B} receptor antagonism also reduced the hypoxia stimulated increase in CSN discharge frequency. Since further inhibition of the chemoafferent activity was observed in the presence of A_{2A} antagonists it was concluded that adenosine mediated stimulation of the CB was a consequence of presynaptic A_{2B} and post-synaptic A_{2A} receptor activation (297). Stimulation of adenosine receptors leads to changes in [cAMP]_i through either activation or inhibition of transmembrane adenylate cyclases. It has been demonstrated that exogenous adenosine increased cAMP content of the whole rat CB, *in vitro* (298). In a later investigation, non-specific A₂ receptor agonists augmented whole CB cAMP concentrations in normoxia and counteracted the decrease in cAMP elicited by D₂ receptor activation (275). Since these effects were mimicked by A_{2B} but not A_{2A} agonists, it was proposed that pre-synaptic interactions between A_{2B} and D₂ receptors account for the overall [cAMP]_i in the type I cell.

In contrast with the findings described above, it has been reported that an increase in type I cell [Ca²⁺], observed following application of adenosine, was abolished by selective A_{2A} receptor antagonism (299). The rise in [Ca²⁺], was mimicked by forskolin (cAMP activator), abolished by H89 (PKA inhibitor) and attenuated by anandamide (TASK channel blocker). This led the authors to promote a mechanism of adenosine mediated type I cell depolarisation dependent on pre-synaptic A_{2A} receptor stimulation, cAMP generation, PKA activation and TASK channel inhibition. However, it has also been reported that pre-synaptic A_{2A} receptor stimulation reduced the inward Ca²⁺ conductance under hypoxic conditions (296). This is consistent with an inhibitory rather than excitatory action on type I cell excitability. An explanation for these collective disparities has not been established and comprehensive characterisation of the downstream adenosinergic signalling pathways within the type I cell and the petrosal neurone leading to an increase in chemoafferent discharge remains to be more clearly defined.

1.9 The clinical implications of carotid body plasticity

The CSN chemoafferent fibres form synapses with neurones in the NTS in the medulla. The functional consequence of CB stimulation is the induction of a series of well characterised cardiovascular, respiratory and endocrine reflex responses. Specifically, these include hyperventilation, tachycardia, systemic vasoconstriction (secondary to an elevation in vascular sympathetic outflow), and an increase in adrenaline secretion from the adrenal medulla (1). Chronic up-regulation of these reflex pathways, secondary to plastic changes in CB function, is implicated in a number of clinical conditions or diseases including sleep disordered breathing (SDB), chronic heart failure (CHF) and spontaneous/essential hypertension (2). Currently, research is focusing on characterising the mechanisms underpinning CB hyperactivity in these disease states in order to develop treatments that may restrict the progression of disease morbidities and improve patient prognoses.

1.9.1 Sleep disordered breathing and chronic intermittent hypoxia

In the western world, estimates based on sample population studies suggest that the prevalence of SDB in the middle aged or elderly is 19-24% in males and 9-15% in females, (300, 301). SDB is characterised by periods of apnoea or hypopnoea (\geq 30% airflow cessation) occurring at a rate of \geq 5 events per hour, with each being accompanied by a \geq 4% decrease in oxyhaemoglobin saturation (302, 303). Patients with SDB are more likely to develop cardiovascular related diseases such as coronary heart disease and heart failure (304) and have increased risk of cerebral vascular

events and death (305). SDB is also associated with a resting elevation in sympathetic outflow (306, 307) and an increased incidence of hypertension (302, 308).

Proposed silencing of the CB chemoafferent activity by administration of 100% O₂ has been shown to reduce the muscle sympathetic nerve activity (MSNA) and mean arterial blood pressure (MABP) in patients with SDB, but not in healthy controls (309). This suggests that tonic input from the CB significantly contributes to the generation of the elevated MSNA and hypertension in these patients. Similar findings have been observed in animals following pre-conditioning with chronic intermittent hypoxia (CIH). Fletcher and colleagues identified that CB denervation prevented the rise in MABP in rats following 35 days of CIH (310). In a later study it was observed that the CIH induced increase in MABP was dependent on the preservation of both CB chemoafferent activity and sympathetic outflow, implying that both are up-regulated in these disease models and together are central to the emergence of hypertension.

It has been reported that patients with SDB have an augmented ventilatory response to hypoxia, combined with an amplification of hypoxia induced sympathetic outflow (311, 312). Animals pre-conditioned with CIH exhibit an elevated basal CB chemoafferent activity in normoxia (termed sensory long term facilitation; sLTF) and exaggerated chemoafferent responses to hypoxia (313, 314). Interestingly, these effects are abolished by administration of a SOD mimetic during the CIH conditioning period (313). This provides strong evidence supporting the notion that CB hypersensitivity following CIH is critically dependent on an elevation in type I cell ROS production.

67

The proposed mechanism leading to the tonic up-regulation of ROS generation and sLTF following CIH appears to involve a number of different pathways but ultimately relies on the increased type I cell expression and activity of NADPH oxidase 2 (NOX-2) (315). Conclusive evidence has demonstrated that sLTF following CIH cannot be induced in CBs isolated from mice that are deficient in gp91^{phox}, a key membrane subunit of NOX-2 (315). Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of NOX, *in vitro*, can completely prevent any CB sLTF induced by CIH (315).

Chronic NOX-2 activation seems to be secondary to 5-HT₂ receptor stimulation. 5-HT is released in hypoxia (315) and intermittent exogenous application of 5-HT can evoke sLTF in isolated CBs *in vitro* (316). In this study, the 5-HT induced sLTF was abolished by 5-HT₂ receptor antagonists and by inhibition of PKC. In addition, the NOX-2 phosphorylation elicited by 5-HT was also attenuated by inhibitory targeting of PKC. 5-HT application also failed to induce sLTF in CBs isolated from mice that were deficient in gp91^{phox}. In summary, the authors proposed that intermittent release of 5-HT during CIH and subsequent 5-HT₂ receptor stimulation gave rise to chronic up-regulation in PKC activity, thus promoting NOX-2 phosphorylation, activation and ROS generation.

The relative balance of hypoxia inducible factors HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α expression and activity within the type I cell may also be important in conferring CB sLTF following CIH. HIF-1 α does not appear to signal the acute response to hypoxia in the type I cell. However, Peng and colleagues found that, following CIH, CBs harvested from mice partially deficient in HIF-1 α (HIF-1 $\alpha^{-/+}$) did not exhibit any sLTF (317). In addition, augmentation of the hypoxic ventilatory response observed in wild type controls was absent in the HIF-1 $\alpha^{-/+}$ mice, indicating that HIF-1 α stabilisation was necessary for promoting the elevation in CB excitability. In PC12 cells HIF-1 α and NOX-2 expression is augmented following periods of CIH (318, 319). Pharmacological inhibition or siRNA knockdown of HIF-1 α in PC12 cells significantly reduces the degree of NOX-2 expression (319). This illustrates a mechanism by which NOX-2 can be regulated in CIH by HIF-1 α in PC12 cells, but whether the equivalent mechanism exists in the CB type I cells remains to be confirmed.

Unlike HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α is considered to be active under normal conditions, and exerts an inhibitory action on CB hypoxic sensitivity (320). In PC12 cells, reduced levels of HIF-2 α have been detected following CIH, indicative of an increased rate of protein degradation (321). Since mice partly deficient in HIF-2 α have decreased levels of *sod-2* mRNA expression (encoding the mitochondrial isoform of SOD) in CB type I cells (320), it has been suggested that following CIH, lower concentrations of HIF-2 α may be coupled to increased levels of mitochondrial ROS, thereby further amplifying the CB sLTF (322).

The specific downstream targets of ROS generated from NOX-2 or the mitochondria following CIH are still to be identified. Associations between CIH, ROS generation and an inhibition of mitochondrial complex I activity have been established both in PC12 cells (323) and in CB type I cells (313). Given the strong link between mitochondrial function and CB activity, it is perhaps logical to hypothesise that the sLTF following CIH may be a consequence of impaired mitochondrial energy respiration and a change in overall cellular energy status.

1.9.2 Chronic heart failure and spontaneous hypertension

Patients with CHF present with higher levels of resting sympathetic nerve activity (SNA) and it has been reported that in moderate/severe cases, the sympathetic bursting frequency is more than 100% elevated compared with healthy age matched controls (324). In addition, these patients also exhibit an augmented ventilatory response to hypoxia (325). The direct contribution of the CB in mediating the rise in basal SNA at rest has not been evaluated in human CHF patients. However, in animals with pacing induced heart failure, chemical suppression of chemosensory activity with 100% O₂ has been shown to reduce resting renal SNA, whereas it had no effect on healthy controls (326). These CHF animals also displayed an increased chemoafferent response to hypoxia, indicative of an elevation in CB hypoxic sensitivity.

Modifications in type I cell chemoreceptor function in CHF appear to involve a number of different signalling pathways. It has been proposed that the magnification of chemoafferent activity is a consequence of a reduction in NOS-1 derived NO generation (327, 328) and down-regulation of CO production (329). Li and colleagues reported that *in vivo* application of an adenovirus containing NOS-1 DNA was able to completely restore CB NO production and reversed the CB hypoxic hypersensitivity (328). However, it has also been suggested that NOX-2 activity is up-regulated in type I cells in CHF and this in turn leads to an elevation in cellular ROS generation (330). In this instance it is thought that the increase in NOX-2 expression and activity is dependent on signalling through the angiotensin 1 receptor pathway (331) (330). The precise downstream targets of NOX-2 derived ROS are unknown. However, in a recent study, Ding and colleagues demonstrated that insertion of DNA encoding mitochondrial SOD was able to

completely restore normal CB hypoxic sensitivity in CHF animals (332). Therefore, the excitatory impact of ROS may be conferred through chronic inhibition of mitochondrial complexes and a change in the type I cell energy status. Demonstration of this mechanism in the type I cell remains to be confirmed.

Recent evidence also supports the hypothesis that the increase in sympathetic outflow and development of hypertension in spontaneous hypertensive animals is dependent on chemoafferent input from the CB (333). If similar evidence is found in humans then this could have important clinical implications for patients with essential hypertension who are known to have elevated basal levels of SNA (334). The increased excitability of the CB type I cells in spontaneous hypertensive animals may in some part be due to increased expression of TASK-1 and ASIC3 (335). However, identification of the full molecular adaptations in the type I cell in humans or animals with essential/ spontaneous hypertension is at an early stage. Comprehensive characterisation of the mechanisms underpinning the CB hyperexcitability may be important in order to develop better treatments for this disease in the future.

1.10 Overview of project aims

The precise mechanism by which the CB type I cell senses acute hypoxia is unresolved. One of the main hypotheses is that a reduction in O₂ impairs mitochondrial electron transport and the rate of ATP generation and causes a change in the cellular energy status. Therefore, the initial aim of the project is to examine the impact of mild mitochondrial inhibition on CB hypoxic sensitivity (Chapter 3). If these two stimuli act through the same chemotransduction pathway then they would be expected to interact and generate functional responses that were multiplicative rather than additive. Downstream of the mitochondria, the linking of cellular metabolic stress to type I cell depolarisation is hypothesised to be dependent on activation of the cellular energy sensor AMPK. The second aim of the project is to evaluate the hypoxic sensitivity of CBs isolated from animals deficient in Lkb-1; the essential upstream activator of AMPK (Chapter 4). This will provide more conclusive evidence supporting or rejecting the claim that Lkb1-AMPK signalling is necessary for CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling.

If CB stimulation is closely associated with cellular metabolic stress then it is logical to suggest that any stimulus capable of impairing ATP generation may cause chemoexcitation. It has been proposed that the CB is directly activated by physiological concentrations of low glucose. The functional chemoafferent response to glucose deprivation is examined in this thesis and also whether CB activation by this stimulus is dependent on a time dependent run-down of glycolysis (Chapter 5).

As well as a potential signalling molecule within the type I cell, ATP is also widely regarded as an essential neurotransmitter required for stimulation of post-synaptic

chemoafferent fibres. The release of ATP and extracellular catabolism by CD39 and CD73 may lead to tonic production of adenosine. As yet the neuromodulatory impact of this potentially significant 'pool' of extracellular adenosine on CB chemoafferent function has been largely overlooked. The role for extracellular adenosine derived from CD73 in establishing the CB sensitivity to a number of different stimuli is therefore investigated in the final results chapter (Chapter 6).

An elevation in chemoafferent activity at rest and an exaggerated CB response to hypoxia are closely associated with pathologies including SDB, CHF and essential/spontaneous hypertension. A reduction in CB chemoafferent activity in patients with these diseases may restrict reflex sympathetic outflow and the development of hypertension. This may limit the risk of cardiovascular complications and improve patient outcomes. The experiments performed in the current study are designed to more clearly establish whether a change in cellular energy status is central to CB stimulation. In addition, it is examined whether adenosine generated from extracellular catabolism of ATP is an important mediator of chemoafferent discharge frequency. It is anticipated that the findings presented in this thesis will advance the understanding of mammalian CB function and promote the future development of clinical interventions targeted to reduce CB chemoafferent activity in patients with SDB, CHF and essential/spontaneous hypertension.

2. Methods

2.1 Extracellular electrophysiological recordings

2.1.1 Surgical procedures and carotid body tissue isolation

All experiments and surgical procedures were performed in accordance with the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and were approved by the Biomedical Services Unit at the University of Birmingham. Tissue was isolated from adult male Wistar rats (50–200 g) (Chapters 3,5,6) or adult male C57BL/6J mice (Chapter 4). Anaesthesia was induced in an airtight induction chamber using 4% isoflurane in medical O₂ administered at a flow rate of 1.5–3 L / min. Any excess anaesthetic gas was scavenged using a Fluovac anaesthetic scavenging system (Harvard Apparatus) with a Fluosorber canister containing charcoal to adsorb the isoflurane vapour. The depth of surgical anaesthesia was considered to be sufficient only when the animal was determined to have an absent hind limb flexor withdrawal reflex in response to noxious (pressure induced) stimulation. The animal was transferred to a surgical table and surgical anaesthesia was continuously maintained by administration of 1.5–2.0% isoflurane in O₂ through a nose cone, at a flow rate of 1.5–3 L / min. Continuous monitoring of the depth of anaesthesia was ascertained by observing the rate and depth of breathing and by examining the hind limb flexor withdrawal reflex. Anaesthetic levels were adjusted accordingly in order to maintain surgical anaesthesia.

The animal was placed ventral side uppermost and the skin and superficial fascia of the neck were removed to expose the underlying tissues. The most superficial salivary glands and the sternocleidomastoid muscle were both retracted. The infrahyoid muscles, positioned superficial and immediately lateral to the trachea, were removed exposing the carotid sheath. The CCA was identified immediately lateral and parallel to the trachea in the carotid sheath, co-localised with the vagus nerve. The suprahyoid muscles, the greater horn of the hyoid bone and the hypoglossal nerve were all removed. The carotid bifurcation was identified branching into the ECA (superficial) and the ICA (deep). The CB was unable to be visualised, however, it was predicted to lie immediately deep to the occipital artery (a proximal branch of the external carotid artery) and just cranial to the carotid bifurcation. The glossopharyngeal nerve was exposed and a branch of this, the CSN, was identified crossing over the vagus nerve and coursing towards the carotid bifurcation and CB.

The CCA was clamped and then sectioned, caudal to the carotid bifurcation. A further incision was made cranial to the glossopharyngeal nerve so that the whole carotid bifurcation, the superior cervical ganglion, glossopharyngeal nerve, CSN and CB were all excised. The tissue was immediately placed in an ice-cold bicarbonate buffered extracellular Krebs solution containing, in mM: 115 NaCl, 4.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 5 Na₂SO₄, 1.3 MgSO₄, 24 NaHCO₃, 2.4 CaCl₂, 11 D-glucose, equilibrated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. In order to minimise CB ischaemia, the tissue was removed within 30 seconds of clamping of the CCA. Animals were immediately killed by exsanguination.

Following isolation, the tissue was pinned out at points on the CCA, ECA and ICA in a small volume (approximately 0.2 ml) dissecting chamber with a Sylgard 184 base (Dow

Corning). The tissue was continuously superfused with a bicarbonate buffered extracellular Krebs solution containing, in mM: 115 NaCl, 4.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 5 Na₂SO₄, 1.3 MgSO₄, 24 NaHCO₃, 2.4 CaCl₂, 11 D-glucose, equilibrated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. The superfusion solution was maintained at room temperature. Using a light microscope, the CB was identified just above the carotid bifurcation. The CSN was identified by its connection into the glossopharyngeal nerve. Connective tissue was removed and the superior cervical ganglion, branches of the vagus nerve and the occipital artery were all individually excised. The CSN was sectioned exposing nerve fibres and axons. To facilitate the later extracellular neuronal recordings, the whole tissue was partially digested by incubation in a bicarbonate buffered enzyme Krebs solution (0.075 mg / ml collagenase type II, 0.0025 mg / ml dispase type I; Sigma Aldrich), equilibrated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂, at a temperature of 37°C, for 20–30 minutes.

2.1.2 Superfusion system

During experimentation, the CB was continuously superfused with a bicarbonate buffered extracellular Krebs solution containing, in mM: 115 NaCl, 4.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 5 Na₂SO₄, 1.3 MgSO₄, 24 NaHCO₃, 2.4 CaCl₂, 11 D-glucose, in a small volume (approximately 0.1 ml) recording chamber. This solution was continuously equilibrated with 5% CO₂ (unless stated otherwise) to hold the pH at approximately 7.4. All solutions were heated to 37° C using a water bath (Grant W14, Grant Instruments). Transfer of the superfusate to the recording chamber was achieved through the use of a peristaltic pump (Miniplus 3, Gilson) and 2.5 mm internal diameter O₂ impermeable Tygon tubing (Anachem). Before entering the recording chamber, the solution was reheated to 37° C using a self-developed in line heating system. The superfusate temperature was continuously recorded using a thermister (Digitron Instruments) and the PO₂ was measured using a standard O₂ electrode (ISO2; World Precision Instruments). Both were positioned in the superfusion system at a point immediately before the solution entered the recording chamber. The solution was removed from the recording chamber by use of another peristaltic pump (R323, Watson Marlow), and it was either discarded or returned to the original measuring cylinder for recirculation. In experiments using exogenous NaNO₂, osmolality was balanced by appropriate subtraction of NaCl from the superfusate. For glucose free solutions, 11 mM mannitol was added to maintain constant osmolality.

2.1.3 Extracellular recordings of single and few-fibre chemoafferent neurones

Extracellular recordings of single or few-fibre chemoafferent activity were made from the cut end of the CSN using glass suction electrodes pulled from GC150-10 capillary glass (Harvard Apparatus). The glass electrode enclosed a silver-silver chloride wire connected to a NL100 Neurolog head stage (Digitimer). The voltage was amplified using a NeuroLog NL104 AC pre-amplifier (Digitimer), band-pass filtered between 50 Hz and 50 kHz (NeuroLog NL125; Digitimer) and amplified further with an AC amplifier (NeuroLog 105; Digitimer). Total amplification was x4000. Another silver chloride wire was placed in the recording chamber and was used as a reference electrode. The superfusate PO₂ was continuously measured using an O₂ electrode (ISO2; World Precision Instruments) and O₂ meter (OXELP; World Precision Instruments). The PO₂ and chemoafferent derived voltage were both recorded using a CED micro1401 (Cambridge Electronic Design) and visualised on a PC with Spike2 (version 7.1) software (Cambridge Electronic Design), as two individual waveforms. The chemoafferent voltage signal was sampled at 15000 Hz and the PO₂ at 100 Hz.

Offline analysis using Spike2 (version 7.1) (Cambridge Electronic Design) allowed for discrimination of electrical activity originating from a single chemoafferent fibre. Voltages detected above a certain threshold were collected and formed discrete 1.0 ms wavemarks (0.3 ms before and 0.7 ms after the original initial threshold trigger point). Using the in-built wavemark analysis in the Spike2 software (Cambridge Electronic Design), these wavemarks were then discriminated into discrete groups depending on wavemark voltage frequency, shape and amplitude. Wavemarks from each group were counted and binned into 10 second time intervals so that the action potential discharge frequency for each single chemoafferent fibre could be calculated over the course of the whole experiment.

2.1.4 Flow meter calibration

Flow meters with high precision valves (Cole Palmer Instruments) were used in order to equilibrate the superfusate with a desired gas mixture. This was important in experiments where specific PO₂ and PCO₂ values were required or in studies where the PO₂ needed to be gradually reduced in order to observe a graded hypoxic response. The scale values required to produce specific gas flow rates were provided by the manufacturer and these data were used to plot calibration curves for O₂, CO₂ and N₂ (Figure 2.1A). The overall outflow rate of the mixed gases was 160 ml / min and the total outflow pressure was 760 mmHg. To generate an outflow of a specific PO₂ and PCO₂, the corresponding individual gas flow rates were calculated as a necessary fraction of the overall total flow rate (160 ml / min), and the balance was made up with nitrogen. The calibration data was then used in order to determine the required scale values to achieve the individual calculated gas flow rates. An algorithm was established in Excel

(Microsoft), which calculated the precise scale values necessary to achieve any desired O_2 and CO_2 gas tensions. An example of the scale values required to achieve an increasing superfusate PO₂, with a fixed PCO₂ of 40 mmHg, is shown in Figure 2.1B.



Figure 2.1 Precision flow meter calibration data used to equilibrate the superfusate with a specific PO_2 and PCO_2 .

A) For each individual gas (oxygen, nitrogen and carbon dioxide) data was provided by the manufacturer (Cole-Palmer) detailing the output flow rate at given flow meter scale values. B) The superfusate could be equilibrated at different partial pressures of oxygen, nitrogen and carbon dioxide by appropriately adjusting the scale values on the flow meters. An example of the scale values required to equilibrate the superfusate with an increasing PO₂, fixed PCO₂ and decreasing PN₂ is demonstrated. The combined gas mixture outflow pressure was fixed at 760 mmHg and total flow was constant at 160 ml / min.

2.1.5 Oxygen electrode calibration

A standard O₂ electrode (ISO2; World Precision Instruments) was placed in the superfusate system, at the point of entry to the recording chamber, in order to continuously record the superfusate PO₂. The O₂ electrode signal was measured by an O₂ meter (OXELP, World Precision Instruments) and subsequently recorded by a CED micro1401 (Cambridge Electronic Design). The electrode signal was visualised as a single voltage waveform using Spike2 software (Cambridge Electronic Design). Values across a full voltage range were compared with superfusate PO₂ values, which were measured by a blood gas analyser (GEM4000; Instrumentation Laboratory). A linear relationship was calculated between the superfusate PO₂, and the corresponding recorded voltage. A PO₂ calibration curve was fitted to the equation:

y = mx + c

where y is the PO₂ in mmHg, x is the O₂ electrode recorded voltage in Volts, m is the gradient of the curve and c is the PO₂ when the recorded voltage is 0. A PO₂ calibration curve is shown in Figure 2.2. The calibration curve was used to continuously record the actual superfusate PO₂ throughout experimentation.



Figure 2.2 Oxygen electrode calibration curve.

Superfusate PO_2 values measured using a blood gas analyser were plotted against the corresponding voltage recorded from the O_2 electrode. Therefore an O_2 calibration curve was fitted to the equation:

y = mx + c

where y is the PO₂ in mmHg, x is the O₂ electrode recorded voltage in Volts, m is the gradient of the curve and c is the PO₂ (mmHg) when the recorded voltage is 0V. The calibration curve was used to continuously record the actual superfusate PO₂ throughout experimentation.

2.1.6 Generation of hypoxic response curves to monitor the hypoxic sensitivity of the carotid body

Functional hypoxic response curves were generated in order to directly analyse any potential changes in CB hypoxic sensitivity in the presence and absence of proposed external pharmacological or physiological stimuli, or following changes in type I cell gene expression. The single fibre chemoafferent discharge frequency was plotted against the superfusate PO₂, over a desired range of superfusate PO₂ values. To produce the hypoxic response curves, the data points were fitted to an exponential decay curve with offset, as shown below.

$$y = a + be^{-cx}$$

For the above equation, y is the single fibre discharge frequency in Hz, x is the superfusate PO_2 in mmHg, a is the discharge frequency as the PO_2 tends to infinity (offset), b is the discharge frequency when the PO_2 is 0 mmHg (minus the offset) and c is the exponential rate constant.

It has been estimated that in the *in vitro* intact rat CB preparation (approximately 200 μ m diameter), the maximum difference between the superfusate PO₂ at the CB surface and the tissue PO₂ at the centre of the CB was approximately 80 mmHg (48). This was predicted as being the result of significant diffusion limitations across the whole CB tissue. Therefore, the actual PO₂ at the level of a type I cell cluster may be up to 80 mmHg lower than the recorded superfusate PO₂. It has been shown previously that functional chemoafferent hypoxic response curves observed in superfused CB preparations *in vitro* were significantly 'right shifted' compared to those generated by measuring the P_aO₂ *in vivo* (46, 48). Accordingly, in the current project, all hypoxic response curves produced from intact CB preparations were relatively 'right shifted'

compared with those obtained from *in vivo* CSN recordings (41). As a proposed consequence of the O_2 diffusion gradients across the CB tissue, hypoxic response initiation tended to be observed when the PO₂ was in the region of 125-200 mmHg. Superfusate PO₂ values of less than 100 mmHg were considered to be severely hypoxic.

As the superfusate PO₂ was gradually reduced, the single fibre chemoafferent discharge began to increase exponentially. However, if the superfusate PO₂ continued to decrease for a prolonged period, the single fibre chemoafferent frequency would reach a maximal value, plateau and then begin to diminish. For certain experiments the superfusate PO₂ was only changed to normoxia/hyperoxia after the frequency had reached a plateau or had begun to diminish in order to characterise the absolute peak frequency attained during severe hypoxia. An example of this is shown in Figure 2.3A. Importantly, if the CB was exposed to a sustained period of severe hypoxia initially, the response recorded to a second hypoxic stimulus was of a smaller magnitude (Figure 2.3A). In addition, the calculated hypoxic response curve was comparatively 'left shifted' suggestive of a depression in CB hypoxic sensitivity (Figure 2.3B).

In order to generate multiple reproducible hypoxic response curves the superfusate PO₂ was changed to normoxia/hyperoxia (thereby terminating the response) before a maximum chemoafferent frequency had been attained. In these instances, normoxia/hyperoxia was restored when the single fibre discharge frequency was observed as being approximately 10 Hz. An example of two reproducible hypoxic response curves produced from the same single chemoafferent fibre in the same preparation is demonstrated in Figure 2.4. The ability to generate reproducible hypoxic

84

response curves under control conditions was essential in order to reliably examine the impact of external pharmacological or physiological stimuli on CB hypoxic sensitivity.



Figure 2.3 An example of two consecutive carotid body chemoafferent responses to severe hypoxia.

A) The superfusate PO_2 was continuously recorded and is shown in the upper panel. Raw neuronal discharge is demonstrated (middle) along with the single fibre frequency histograms (lower) grouped in 10 s intervals. During the initial hypoxic stimulation the chemoafferent frequency increased exponentially, but began to diminish (fail) when the hypoxic stimulus became too severe. The peak frequency observed during a secondary hypoxic stimulation was not of the same magnitude. B) Single fibre chemoafferent discharge frequency was plotted against the superfusate PO_2 during hypoxia. For generation of hypoxic response curves, the data points were fitted to an exponential decay curve with offset. For the control curve the exponential elevation in chemoafferent discharge frequency peaked and subsequently failed in more severe hypoxic conditions. The hypoxic response curve generated to a secondary hypoxic stimulus was 'left shifted' indicative of a run-down in hypoxic sensitivity.



Figure 2.4 Two reproducible hypoxic response curves observed from the same single chemoafferent fibre in the same experiment.

A) The superfusate PO₂ was continuously recorded and is shown in the upper panel. Raw neuronal discharge is demonstrated (middle) along with the single fibre frequency histograms (lower) grouped in 10 s intervals. B) Single chemoafferent fibre discharge frequency was plotted against the superfusate PO₂ for the two consecutive hypoxic responses in the same experiment, separated by approximately 30 minutes. The initial response was reversed well before the peak chemoafferent frequency had been achieved to limit the possibility of reducing the sensitivity of the CB to subsequent hypoxic stimulation. Reproducibility in standard conditions was important if hypoxic sensitivity was to be later assessed in test conditions.

2.1.7 Analysing the parameters of the hypoxic response curves to identify changes in carotid body hypoxic sensitivity

Specific components of the calculated hypoxic response curves were compared to identify any potential changes in CB hypoxic sensitivity. Firstly, comparison of the exponential rate constant between two hypoxic response curves allowed for determination of any alteration in the rate of increase in chemoafferent frequency per mmHg reduction in the superfusate PO₂. Secondly, using the calculated curves, the discharge frequency could be derived from any defined level of superfusate PO₂. Therefore, the difference in discharge frequency between two different hypoxic response curves could be determined at any level of superfusate PO₂. This was important for investigating if the impact of pharmacological or physiological stimuli on CB function was PO₂/hypoxia dependent. This method of analysis is outlined in Figure 2.5A.

Thirdly, for any given discharge frequency, the corresponding PO_2 could be calculated using the inverse function of the exponential decay curve,

$$x = (Ln((y - a)/b))/-c$$

where x is the PO₂ in mmHg, y is the single fibre discharge frequency in Hz and a,b and c are constants as above. Specifically, superfusate PO₂ levels were compared when the single fibre chemoafferent discharge frequency was at 5 Hz (see Figure 2.5B). A value of 5 Hz was chosen as it lies on the exponential region of the hypoxic response curve, but is not of a magnitude at which the discharge is likely to have begun to diminish (see Figure 2.5B and 2.3B). This method was used to clearly define any PO₂ shift in the hypoxic response curve thereby providing information of a potential change in the PO₂ threshold required for hypoxic response initiation.

In specific studies using CBs isolated from transgenic mice, the single fibre discharge frequency did not always reach 5 Hz even in severe hypoxia (see Chapter 4). In these cases, a shift in the hypoxic response curve was defined by comparing the superfusate PO₂s at which the peak hypoxic frequency was achieved.



Figure 2.5 Examples of two methods used to define changes in carotid body responses to hypoxia.

A) Using the hypoxic response curve equation, the discharge frequency could be calculated at any defined level of superfusate PO_2 . Therefore, the difference in discharge frequency between two different hypoxic response curves could be determined at any level of superfusate PO_2 . This was important for investigating if the effect of pharmacological or physiological stimuli on CB chemoafferent discharge frequency was PO_2 /hypoxia dependent. B) For any given discharge frequency the corresponding superfusate PO_2 could be calculated using the inverse function of the hypoxic response curve equation. Comparison of the PO_2 at a 5 Hz frequency was used to define any potential shift in the hypoxic response curve. A significant change in the PO_2 required to achieve a 5 Hz frequency would suggest an alteration in the PO_2 threshold required for hypoxic response initiation.

2.1.8 Monitoring the chemoafferent response to an increase in superfusate PCO₂ to assess changes in carotid body hypercaphic sensitivity

Single or few fibre CB chemoafferent responses to hypercapnia were induced by raising the superfusate PCO₂ from approximately 40 mmHg to 80 mmHg at a constant PO₂, as has been previously reported for the intact *in vitro* CB preparation (243). Since the chemoafferent response to hypercapnia is thought to peak initially and then adapt to a lower sustained frequency (187), measurements of chemoafferent activity were taken from the fifth minute of the hypercapnic stimulus (PCO₂ approximately 80 mmHg) after a relatively steady state frequency had been achieved. The elevation in single fibre frequency evoked by this level of hypercapnia was observed to be considerably less than that induced by moderate or severe hypoxia. This was consistent with previous reports identifying that the frequency response to supra-physiological concentrations of CO_2 (at normoxic/hyperoxic O_2 tensions) measured only approximately 10-50% of the peak response to severe hypoxia (46, 185, 209).

It has been observed that the single fibre chemoafferent discharge frequency increases in a linear manner over a range of approximately 25-80 mmHg P_aCO_2 (40, 41, 185). At a higher or lower P_aCO_2 the discharge frequency tends to plateau (40, 186). A similar linear relationship between superfusate PCO₂ and chemoafferent discharge has been reported for the intact CB preparation *in vitro* (46). In view of these findings it was assumed that in the present study there was a linear increase in chemoafferent activity between the two PCO₂ values (40 and 80 mmHg) at which the discharge frequency was measured. CO₂ sensitivity was subsequently estimated as the predicted increase in single fibre discharge frequency per mmHg increase in superfusate PCO₂ (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂), given that the rise in discharge frequency was linear over the superfusate PCO₂
range used (40-80 mmHg PCO_2). This method of estimating single fibre CO_2 sensitivity was equivalent to that previously described for the intact superfused CB preparation (243).

2.2 Isolation of carotid body type I cells and detection of Ca²⁺ and NADH fluorescence

2.2.1 Carotid body type I cell dissociation

All experiments using dissociated CB type I cells were performed at the University of Oxford in collaboration with Dr K. Buckler. CBs were harvested from 9–12 day old immature male rats. The method of surgical isolation was as described in Section 2.1.1 except that halothane was used as the inhalation anaesthetic. In accordance with Home Office legislation, all animal handling and surgical procedures were performed by Dr K. Buckler and not by the author of this thesis.

The whole carotid bifurcation, the superior cervical ganglion, CSN, and CB were all excised together and immediately placed in a dissecting dish containing an ice-cold bicarbonate buffered PBS solution (Dulbecco's PBS; Sigma-Aldrich) pre-equilibrated with 95% O₂, 5% CO₂. The tissue was pinned out at points on the CCA, the ICA and ECA with the SCG upper most. The SCG was removed along with the vagus nerve. In this orientation the CB was located superficial to the occipital artery near to the carotid bifurcation. Any fat or loose connective tissue was removed. The CB was teased away from the adjacent arterial walls and then placed in another ice-cold bicarbonate buffered PBS solution (Dulbecco's PBS; Sigma-Aldrich) pre-equilibrated with 95% O₂, 5% CO₂.

After both CBs had been dissected out they were transferred into a bicarbonate buffered enzyme solution containing 2 ml HAMS F-12 nutrient mixture (Sigma-Aldrich), L-glutamine (2 mM) (Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin (100 IU / ml) (Sigma-Aldrich), streptomycin (100 μ g / ml) (Sigma-Aldrich), insulin (4 μ g / ml) (Sigma-Aldrich), collagenase (0.4 mg /

ml) (Sigma-Aldrich) and trypsin (0.2 mg / ml) (Sigma-Aldrich). The CBs and enzyme solution were placed in a tissue culture incubator at 37° C, 5% CO₂ and 21% O₂, for 23 minutes. CBs were then removed from the incubator and gently teased apart before being placed back into the incubator for a further 7 minutes.

CBs were subsequently transferred to an enzyme free bicarbonate buffered solution containing 1 ml HAMS F-12 nutrient mixture (Sigma-Aldrich), L-glutamine (2 mM) (Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin (100 IU / ml), streptomycin (100 μ g / ml) (Sigma-Aldrich), insulin (4 μ g / ml), FBS (10% v/v) (Sigma-Aldrich) and trypsin inhibitor (0.5 mg / ml) (Sigma-Aldrich), for 4 minutes. This was the standard culture medium used. CBs were transferred to a clear fluorimeter cuvette (Sigma-Aldrich) containing the same culture medium. CBs were triturated using fine bore glass pipettes (200, 100 and 50 μ m internal diameter), which had previously been heat-sterilised. 30 μ l aliquots of the cell suspension were then transferred to individual poly-D-lysine coated 6 mm diameter coverslips (VWR). These coverslips, positioned in a culture media dish, were placed in the incubator at 37°C, 5% CO₂ and 21% O₂, for 2 hours. Afterwards, a further 2 ml of the above culture media was added to the culture dish and the dissociated type I cells were then left in the incubator until required.

2.2.2 Measurement of NADH and [Ca²⁺]_i

Ca²⁺ and NADH fluorescence measurements were made using an inverted microscope (Nikon Diaphot 200; Nikon) equipped with a 100 W xenon lamp that provided the fluorescence excitation light source. Photomultiplier tubes (PMT; Thorn EMI), cooled to minus 20°C, were used to detect the emitted fluorescence. The output signal was fed through a current-voltage converter and the voltage was recorded using a CED

micro1401 (Cambridge Electronic Design) and visualised on a PC with Spike2 (version 7.1) software (Cambridge Electronic Design) as an individual waveform. The voltage signal was sampled at 250 Hz.

NADH autofluorescence was excited at 340 nm and the emission was measured at 450 \pm 30 nm. [Ca²⁺]_i was determined by using the fluorescent dye, Indo-1 (336). Cells were initially loaded by incubation with the Indo-1 acetoxymethyl ester (Indo-1-AM; Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 hour. After transferring the cells to the recording chamber, cells were illuminated at 340 nm and emission was measured at 405 \pm 16 nm (F₄₀₅; Ca²⁺ bound Indo-1) and 495 \pm 10 nm (F₄₉₅; Ca²⁺ free Indo-1). A further channel was created using the Spike2 (version 7.1) software (Cambridge Electronic Design) that calculated and recorded the ratio of F₄₀₅ / F₄₉₅ (R).

In order to directly quantify the type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ the constants R_{min} , R_{max} and $F_{495 (max/min)}$ were initially determined. To do this, type I cells loaded with Indo-1 were transferred into a HEPES buffered Krebs Ca^{2+} free solution (see below) containing 10 mM EGTA (Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 hour at room temperature. This method was performed to completely de-saturate the Indo-1. Cells were subsequently placed in a recording chamber and superfused with the same solution. Under these conditions, fluorescence measurements were made to detect the R_{min} from a single type I cell. To identify the R_{max} , the superfusate was modified to a similar HEPES buffered Krebs solution containing 2.5 mM Ca²⁺ and 10 μ M ionomycin. Using this method the $F_{495 (max / min)}$ could also be calculated. The K_d (dissociation constant) of the equation:

$$[Ca^{2+}-Indo-1] \Leftrightarrow [Ca^{2+}] + [Indo-1]$$

95

was taken as 250 nM as has been characterised previously (336). The $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was calculated throughout experimentation according to the equation described by Grynkiewicz and colleagues, shown below.

$$[Ca^{2+}]_i = K_d(((R - R_{min}) / (R_{max} - R)) / (F_{495 (max / min)})).$$

2.2.3 Solutions

The dissociated type I cells were continuously superfused with a standard bicarbonate buffered Krebs solution containing, in mM: 115 NaCl, 4.5 KCl, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 5 Na₂SO₄, 1.3 MgSO₄, 24 NaHCO₃, 2.4 CaCl₂ and 11 D-glucose. Normoxic/hyperoxic solutions were equilibrated with 5% CO₂ and 95% air. Mild hypoxic solutions were equilibrated with 5% CO₂ and 93% N₂ and severe hypoxic solutions with 5% CO₂ and 95% N₂. All solutions were heated to 37°C using a water bath (Grant W14, Grant Instruments). Transfer of the superfusate to the recording chamber was achieved through gravity via 3 mm internal diameter O₂ impermeable stainless steel tubing. In experiments using exogenous NaNO₂, osmolality was balanced by appropriate subtraction of NaCl from the superfusate. For glucose free solutions, 11 mM mannitol was substituted in place of glucose to maintain constant osmolality.

The HEPES buffered Krebs solution used for Indo-1 calibrations contained in mM: 140 NaCl, 4.5 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 2.4 CaCl₂, 11 D-glucose and 20 HEPES. The Ca²⁺ free solution was deficient in CaCl₂ and contained 10 mM EGTA. During Indo-1 calibration procedures the HEPES buffered Krebs solution was equilibrated with 5% CO₂ and 95% air.

2.3 Carotid body tissue immunohistochemistry

The whole carotid bifurcation, the superior cervical ganglion, glossopharyngeal nerve, CSN, and CB were all surgically isolated from anaesthetised (isoflurane 1.5-2%) adult (50-200 g) male Wistar rats as described in Section 2.1.1. Following tissue procurement, all animals were immediately killed by exsanguination. The tissue was immediately fixed for 2 hours at room temperature in 2.2% formaldehyde (TAAB Laboratories) in 10 mM PBS, pH 7.4, containing 2% glucose and 0.02% sodium azide (Sigma-Aldrich). The tissue was rinsed once in PBS and left in a 30% sucrose solution (for cryoprotection) overnight before being embedded in frozen optimal cutting temperature compound (OCT; TAAB Laboratories). 10µm thick tissue sections were cut using a cryostat and adhered onto charged glass slides (Thermo Scientific). The tissue sections were washed three times in PBS, and then permeabilised by incubation in PBS containing 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 10 minutes at 21°C. To limit non-specific antibody staining, tissue samples were incubated with PBS containing 1% BSA and 0.05% Tween20 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 minutes at 21°C.

The tissue sections were incubated in a 0.1% BSA, 0.1% Tween20 PBS solution containing the appropriate primary antibodies, in a humidified chamber at 4°C for 24 hours. Mouse monoclonal anti-rat tyrosine hydroxylase antibodies (Abcam) were applied (1:20) for the positive identification of type I cells. In addition, rabbit monoclonal anti-rat glycogen synthase I (1:50; Abcam) or rabbit polyclonal anti-human glycogen phosphorylase BB (1:100; AbD Serotec) antibodies were applied to establish the presence or absence of enzymes capable of glycogen synthesis and metabolism. The

97

rabbit polyclonal anti-human glycogen phosphorylase BB antibody was predicted to react with the rat glycogen phosphorylase BB isoform because of strong (greater than 95%) sequence homology between the human and rat isoforms (UniProt protein database).

Tissue sections were washed in a 0.1% Tween20 PBS solution to remove excess primary antibodies and then incubated in a 0.1% BSA, 0.1% Tween20 PBS solution containing anti-rabbit Alexa flura 488 (green) and anti-mouse Alexa flura 594 (red) (1:250; Molecular Probes) conjugated secondary antibodies to allow for subsequent fluorescent detection of the protein-immunoglobulin complexes. Tissue sections were washed in a 0.1% Tween20 PBS solution to remove unbound secondary antibody and then mounted in Vecta-mounting medium containing the nuclear stain DAPI (Vector Labs) (Figure 2.6). Images were viewed using an epifluorescent microscope (Zeiss).



Figure 2.6 Example images showing the location of the carotid body in relation to the surrounding structures near the carotid bifurcation.

10 µm thick tissue sections were cut and stained with DAPI to specifically identify cell nuclei. In the rat, the carotid body (CB) is closely associated with the internal carotid artery (ICA), the external carotid artery (ECA), the occipital artery (OA) and the superior cervical ganglion (SCG).

3. Examining the interaction between mild mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxia in the carotid body using exogenous nitrite

3.1 Chapter introduction and overview

A unique feature of the mammalian CB is the ability to detect and respond to a fall in tissue PO₂ at levels significantly higher than those that impair the metabolism of most other cell types. Whilst a number of putative mechanisms sensitive to changes in PO₂ have been described, it is less apparent how these might contribute to this heightened O₂ sensitivity in the CB. It has been hypothesised that the hypoxia detecting mechanism may be purely a consequence of a run-down in mitochondrial electron transport and a change in the cellular energy status (4, 50, 51, 54). In support of this mitochondrial hypothesis, it has been identified that chemostimulation evoked by a number of different mitochondrial poisons shares many of the same downstream transduction processes that are known to be present in hypoxia stimulus excitation coupling. These include deactivation of background K⁺ (TASK-like and TREK-1) currents (29, 54), Ca²⁺ influx through L-type Ca²⁺ channels (54), neurosecretion (52) and stimulation of the CSN afferents (50-52, 337).

For the mitochondrial hypothesis to be further strengthened, administration of mitochondrial inhibitors at sub-saturating concentrations would ideally show a degree of response interaction with hypoxia, thus evidencing that these stimuli are intimately

associated. To date, specific investigations examining the potential alterations of the CB hypoxic sensitivity caused by mild mitochondrial inhibition have not been performed.

The rapidly reversible and O_2 dependent reduction in mitochondrial energy metabolism caused by binding of NO to the haem a_3/Cu_B binuclear centre in cytochrome c oxidase is well established (177, 178). However, potential modulation of mitochondrial function by NO has not been studied directly in the type I cell. This is possibly due to the overall impact of NO on CB chemostimulation being inhibitory rather than excitatory (136, 338). This attenuation is thought to be mediated primarily by S-nitrosation and deactivation of the L-type Ca²⁺ channels and by cGMP dependent activation of BK_{Ca} current (148, 149).

Within the CB type I cell the only NOS isoform identified to date has been NOS-3 (83). The same study showed that hypoxia increased the NO content of the mitochondrial membranes. In addition, it is recognised that the NOS-3 KO mouse has an impaired ventilatory response to hypoxia coupled with a down-regulation in CB function (144). Therefore, NO produced locally at the level of the mitochondria may have excitatory actions on CB hypoxic sensitivity through direct modulation of mitochondrial function. Importantly, the impact of NO on mitochondrial activity may have been masked in previous studies using exogenous NO donors due to the additional inhibitory effect of NO in other cellular compartments.

Relatively recent findings have identified NO_2^- as a novel NO producing molecule. Generation of NO is achieved through single electron reduction of NO_2^- and is favoured in the presence of a reduced environment and under conditions of acidosis or hypoxia. Multiple enzymes have been proposed as putative NO_2^- reductases (see Chapter 1) with

101

the best characterised being the deoxygenated forms of the family of haem-globins (180). In the absence of a high level of cytoplasmic NO_2^- reductase activity it has also been demonstrated that the mitochondria can directly reduce NO_2^- to form NO, although this requires supraphysiological (mM) concentrations of exogenous NO_2^- (172-174). As is the case with the haem-globins, NO production from NO_2^- by the mitochondria is potentiated in an acidic and hypoxic environment (172-174). Potentially, the addition of exogenous NO_2^- may generate NO locally at the mitochondria and modify CB mitochondrial activity without directly impacting on the ion channel function in other cellular compartments.

The aims of the investigations in this chapter are summarised below:

1. To investigate if supraphysiological (mM) concentrations of exogenous NO_2^- can evoke reversible and dose dependent mitochondrial inhibition that is directly associated with CB chemoexcitation.

2. To examine if mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ subsequently changes the hypoxic sensitivity of the CB.

3. To explore if further similarities exist between mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxia, including the potential activation of AMPK and synergy with hypercapnia.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Nitrite causes dose dependent carotid body chemostimulation that is coupled with an inhibition of mitochondrial electron transport

Experiments were initially performed on the isolated intact CB to measure the single fibre chemoafferent discharge frequency in normoxia/hyperoxia and normocapnia (superfusate PO₂ approximately 300 mmHg, PCO₂ approximately 40 mmHg). Only supraphysiological (mM) concentrations of NO₂⁻ elevated the chemoafferent frequency under these conditions, consistent with those known to generate NO at the mitochondria (Figure 3.1A). Chemostimulation induced by NO₂⁻ was rapidly induced (less than 1 minute) and well maintained throughout the application and was reversed within 1 to 2 minutes of removal from the superfusate (Figure 3.1A). Significant dose dependent increases in mean chemoafferent activity were observed at concentrations of 3.3, 10 and 33 mM NO₂⁻ with the mean response to 33 mM NO₂⁻ measuring 69.3 ± 6.5 % of the absolute peak frequency response to hypoxia (PO₂ approximately 60 mmHg) (Figure 3.1B).

The novel ability of supraphysiological (mM) concentrations of exogenous NO_2^- to induce dose dependent chemoexcitation was consistent with the hypothesis that reduction of NO_2^- to form NO subsequently inhibited type I cell mitochondrial function and activated downstream signalling pathways. To test this mitochondrial hypothesis directly, studies were subsequently performed on dissociated type I cell clusters and records of NADH autofluorescence were taken as a measure of mitochondrial function as has been previously described for the CB (4, 54). For these experiments, the superfusate was equilibrated with 2% O_2 . This is the highest dissolved O_2 concentration known to allow for NO to be generated from NO_2^- by isolated mitochondria (172) and is a level of hypoxia that causes partial, but not full, type I cell mitochondrial inhibition.

Similar supraphysiological concentrations of NO₂⁻ to those that increased chemoafferent frequency in the intact CB organ also generated significant elevations in NADH autofluorescence, indicative of an attenuation of mitochondrial electron transport (Figure 3.2A). Increases in NADH autofluorescence were almost instantaneous upon NO₂⁻ application and reversed within 1 to 2 minutes of removal from the superfusion (Figure 3.2A). The grouped data showed that addition of 10 mM NO₂⁻ evoked a 25.5 ± 1.3 % and 33 mM NO₂⁻ a 79.2 ± 13.8 % rise in NADH autofluorescence, when measured as the proportion of the mean paired peak responses to 0% O₂ (Figure 3.2B). Collectively, these data suggest that concentrations of NO₂⁻ capable of inducing whole organ chemoexcitation also produce concurrent impairment of type I cell mitochondrial function.



Figure 3.1 Supraphysiological concentrations of exogenous nitrite evoke increases in carotid body chemoafferent activity.

The data presented was taken from 9 fibres from 6 CB preparations. A) An example trace showing the effect of different doses of nitrite (NO₂⁻) on the chemoafferent frequency recorded from a single fibre. For comparison with the peak chemoafferent response to hypoxia, the tissue was stimulated by a severe hypoxic stimulus (PO₂ approximately 60 mmHg) following the final dose of NO₂⁻. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) grouped in 10 s intervals. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination from which the frequency was taken. B) Mean frequencies induced by different concentrations of NO₂⁻, expressed as a percentage of the paired peak frequency response to severe hypoxia (PO₂ approximately 60 mmHg). Error bars indicate \pm S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with initial NO₂⁻ dose; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Dunnett's post hoc analysis.





A) Example spectra of the effect of 10 mM and 33 mM nitrite (NO₂⁻) on the NADH autofluorescence measured from two different dissociated type I cell clusters. For comparison with the change in NADH autofluorescence induced by severe hypoxia, a 0% O₂ stimulus was applied before and after addition of NO₂⁻. B) Mean NADH autofluorescence induced by 10 mM NO₂⁻ (4 clusters, 4 CB preparations) and by 33 mM NO₂⁻ (6 clusters from 4 CB preparations), expressed as a percentage of the paired mean peak NADH autofluorescence responses evoked by severe hypoxia (0% O₂). Error bars indicate + S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with 10 mM NO₂⁻; unpaired t-test.

3.2.2 Carotid body type I cell Ca²⁺ responses to nitrite are PO₂ dependent

The binding of NO to cytochrome c oxidase is rapidly reversible and highly dependent on PO₂ with increased NO dependent mitochondrial inhibition taking place under more hypoxic conditions (179). Furthermore, mitochondrial reduction of NO_2^- to release NO is tightly regulated by PO₂ and is favoured under conditions of increasing hypoxia (172-174). Studies were undertaken to investigate whether the impact of NO_2^- on type I cell stimulation was PO₂ dependent and therefore indicative of a downstream NO mediated effect.

In these experiments, dissociated type I cell Ca²⁺ fluorescence was recorded as a measure of the level of chemostimulation intensity. Ca²⁺ responses to 33 mM NO₂⁻ were evaluated at two levels of dissolved O₂: 20% and 2%. An example trace from a single cluster is shown in Figure 3.3A. In 20% dissolved O₂, addition of 33 mM NO₂⁻ did not evoke further elevations in type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i (Figure 3.3A and B). In contrast, when the superfusion was switched to 2% O₂ (generating a small initial rise in [Ca²⁺]_i), 33 mM NO₂⁻ stimulated an almost instantaneous and substantial rise in [Ca²⁺]_i that was well maintained and rapidly reversible (Figure 3.3A and B). Therefore, the response to 33 mM NO₂⁻ appeared to be critically dependent on the O₂ concentration. Since the excitatory actions of NO₂⁻ were only observed in hypoxia these data supported the hypothesis that the NO₂⁻ induced stimulation was due to the initial formation of NO.





Figure 3.3 The carotid body type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ response to nitrite is PO₂ dependent. A) Example Ca²⁺ fluorescence spectra measured from a single type I cell cluster showing the effect of 33 mM nitrite (NO₂) in 20% and 2% dissolved O₂. B) Mean Ca²⁺ fluorescence data taken from 3 type I cell clusters from 2 CB preparations. Error bars indicate + S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with 2% O₂; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis test.

3.2.3 Mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite alters the carotid body response to hypoxia

Previous experiments in this chapter characterised NO₂⁻ as a novel and highly reversible type I cell mitochondrial inhibitor that was also able to elicit dose dependent increases in CB chemostimulation and single fibre CSN afferent activity. The ability for mitochondrial inhibitors to evoke CB stimulation is well known. However, if hypoxic sensing is purely a consequence of reduced mitochondrial energy respiration, it would be predicted that mild mitochondrial inhibition would augment the CB sensitivity to hypoxia, thereby showing that these stimuli were closely related and were not acting independently.

Experiments in this section were performed on the superfused intact CB and recordings of single fibre chemoafferent activity were made in order to generate functional hypoxic response curves. The CB was stimulated by hypoxia in the presence and absence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻, a concentration previously shown to evoke only a very small increase in basal activity (0.60 ±0.10 Hz; control, compared with 1.11 ± 0.21 Hz; 3.3 mM NO₂⁻) and was hypothesised as inducing only a very mild level of mitochondrial inhibition (see 3.2.1 and 3.2.2). Importantly, the addition of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ evoked a marked 'right shift' of the CB hypoxic response curve (Figure 3.4A). The mean 'right shift' was quantified by measuring the PO₂ when the discharge frequency was at 5 Hz (see Section 2.1.7). To attain a frequency of 5 Hz, the mean superfusate PO₂ was 105 ± 7 mmHg under control conditions and 141 ± 11 mmHg in the presence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ (Figure 3.4B). This effect was consistent across all fibres recorded from (Figure 3.4B). In addition, a similar 'right shift' was observed in the presence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ when the discharge frequency was collated from a nerve trunk preparation containing multiple fibres (Supplementary figure 1).

The rate of chemoafferent increase following hypoxic response initiation was not different in the presence of 3.3 mM NO_2^- . This was evidenced by paired exponential rate constants not being significantly different between groups; 0.032 ± 0.004 for the control and 0.032 ± 0.005 for 3.3 mM NO_2^- . Therefore, the data suggested that the overall 'right shift' of the hypoxic response curve in the presence of NO_2^- was a consequence of a change in the 'set point' or 'threshold' for hypoxia response initiation rather than a change in the rate of increase.

Analysis of the paired differences in discharge frequency calculated at fixed levels of PO_2 , in the presence or absence of 3.3 mM NO_2^- , showed that the augmentation in frequency evoked by 3.3 mM NO_2^- was magnified in more hypoxic conditions (Figure 3.4A). Specifically, the excitatory impact of NO_2^- on the chemoafferent activity was enhanced at superfusate PO_2 s of 125 and 100 mmHg (Figure 3.4A). These data are strongly indicative of a degree of significant multiplicative interaction between NO_2^- and hypoxic stimuli suggesting that the two stimuli act through the same pathway and are not independent. In view of the findings earlier in this chapter, it is proposed that the interaction takes place at the mitochondria and that pre-conditioning by NO_2^- (through NO production), makes the mitochondrial electron transport more susceptible to a fall in PO_2 and the CB more sensitive to hypoxia.



Figure 3.4 Nitrite sensitises the carotid body to hypoxia.

The data presented was from 9 fibres from 7 CB preparations A) Characteristic example from a single chemoafferent fibre demonstrating the reversible 'right shift' induced by 3.3 mM nitrite (NO₂⁻) on the hypoxic response curve. B) For all fibres the PO₂ was measured at 5 Hz in the presence and absence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ in order to quantify the mean 'right shift'. + denotes P < 0.05, 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ compared with control; paired t-test. C) The calculated augmentation in single fibre discharge frequency induced by 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ was plotted over a range of defined superfusate PO₂ values and shows an enhanced impact in hypoxia. Error bars indicate ± S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with the frequency difference at 300 mmHg PO₂; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Dunnett's post hoc analysis.

3.2.4 Mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite alters the carotid body response to hypercapnia

Hypoxia is associated with a multiplicative augmentation of the CB response to hypercapnia, showing that these two stimuli are highly interdependent (46, 185, 210). The precise site of interaction remains unknown. If hypoxic stimulus response coupling is specifically initiated through depletion of mitochondrial electron transport it would be expected that mitochondrial inhibitors, like hypoxia, are able to evoke changes in the CB sensitivity to hypercapnia.

Chemoafferent responses to hypercapnia (PCO₂ approximately 80 mmHg) of the intact CB were performed in the presence and absence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻. A mean discharge frequency in hypercapnia was taken from the final minute of exposure, after a relatively stable steady state discharge frequency had been established. An example trace of a single chemoafferent fibre response to hypercapnia in the presence and absence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ is shown in Figure 3.5A. 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ elevated both the basal and the frequency response to hypercapnia (Figure 3.5B). Calculations of the differences between the paired hypercapnic and basal frequencies showed that 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ significantly enhanced the absolute frequency rise induced by hypercapnia in all fibres tested (0.90 ± 0.20 Hz; control, 1.7 ± 0.30; nitrite) (Figure 3.5C). The calculated CO₂ sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂) was significantly elevated in the presence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ (Figure 3.5D). Therefore, as in hypoxia, mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ increases the CB sensitivity to hypercapnia. This provides further evidence indicating that the impact of mitochondrial inhibition on the CB has much in common with hypoxia.



Figure 3.5 Nitrite enhances the carotid body sensitivity to hypercapnia.

The data presented was from 10 fibres from 6 CB preparations A) Characteristic example recording of the response to hypercapnia in the presence and absence of 3.3 mM nitrite (NO₂). Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that collate single fibre action potentials in 10 s intervals. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to measure the frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded under normocapnic (PCO₂ = 40 mmHg) and hypercapnic (PCO₂ = 80 mmHg), in control conditions and following addition of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻. Error bars indicate \pm S.E.M.* denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. C) Discharge frequency differences (80 – 40 mmHg PCO₂) for each fibre in the presence and absence of 3.3 mM NO₂⁻. D) Calculated mean CO₂ sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂) in control conditions and following NO₂⁻ application. For D), error bars indicate + S.E.M.*

3.2.5 Carotid body chemostimulation by mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite is mediated through activation of AMPK

Type I cell depolarisation secondary to inhibition of mitochondrial electron transport in hypoxia has been proposed as being a consequence of either direct deactivation of background or whole cell K⁺ current by a fall in [ATP]_i (339) or through activation of AMPK (5, 88). Inhibition of AMPK by Compound C has been shown to depress, but not abolish, the CB chemoafferent response to acute hypoxia, indicative of hypoxia stimulus response coupling being mediated in part by AMPK (88). It is not clear whether CB excitation induced by mitochondrial inhibition is regulated by AMPK activation or through some other mechanism independent of cellular energy status, such as a change in ROS generation. Full characterisation of the downstream signalling processes in the CB secondary to impaired mitochondrial activity may be important given the link between chronic mitochondrial dysfunction and CB sLTF following CIH (2).

In the current study, 10 mM NO₂⁻ was applied for 5 minutes in order to achieve a measurable and reversible level of CB chemoexcitation. Following the initial response to 10 mM NO₂⁻, 40 μ M Compound C (dissolved in DMSO, final DMSO concentration 0.4%) was added to the superfusate for 40-50 minutes to allow for sufficient drug uptake. These concentrations of Compound C and DMSO were consistent with those that have been described previously for the intact CB preparation (88). A characteristic example trace is shown in Figure 3.6A. Inhibitory targeting of AMPK attenuated the CB basal activity and the response to 10 mM NO₂⁻ by approximately 42% (Figure 3.6B). Following removal of Compound C responses to moderate hypoxia remained intact indicating that the inhibition was not secondary to CB tissue damage or neurotransmitter depletion during the period of drug incubation (Figure 3.6A). For all fibres the absolute increase in

frequency induced by 10 mM NO₂⁻ was depressed in the presence of Compound C, with a mean reduction of approximately 39% (Figure 3.6C). These results suggested that, as with hypoxia, a component of the chemostimulation induced by mitochondrial inhibition was dependent on AMPK activation.



Figure 3.6 Chemostimulation evoked by mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite is dependent on AMPK activation.

The data presented was from 6 fibres from 4 CB preparations A) Characteristic example recording of the response to 10 mM nitrite (NO₂⁻) in the presence and absence of the AMPK inhibitor Compound C. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that group single fibre action potentials in 10 s intervals. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to measure frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded in basal conditions and in response to 10 mM NO₂⁻, in the presence and absence of Compound C. Error bars indicate \pm S.E.M.* denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. C) Discharge frequency differences (NO₂⁻ - basal) for each fibre in the presence and absence of Compound C compared with control group; paired t-test.

3.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion

3.3.1 Summary of key findings

The main findings of the current chapter are described as follows;

- Mild mitochondrial inhibition using exogenous NO₂⁻ changed the set point for hypoxia stimulus response coupling in the CB and therefore for the first time provides direct evidence of a significant interaction between these two stimuli. In this way these data strongly support the hypothesis that CB hypoxia sensing is influenced by a reduction in mitochondrial energy metabolism.
- The PO₂ dependent action of NO₂⁻ on type I cell stimulation indicates that NO₂⁻ induced mitochondrial inhibition and CB stimulation is a consequence of NO generation. This suggests that in the CB type I cell, NO has the potential to directly modulate mitochondrial function and type I cell excitability.
- Mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻, as with hypoxia, sensitised the CB to hypercapnic stimulation.
- Chemostimulation evoked by mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻, as with hypoxia, is partly blocked by Compound C, an inhibitor of AMPK.

3.3.2 Mild inhibition of mitochondrial function changes the set point for hypoxia stimulus response coupling in the carotid body

A number of studies have identified similarities in transduction processes between hypoxia and mitochondrial inhibition induced chemostimulation, specifically those being deactivation of background K⁺ (TASK-like and TREK-1) currents (54), Ca²⁺ influx through L-type Ca²⁺ channels (54), neurosecretion (52) and stimulation of the CSN afferents (50-52, 337). Furthermore, CB type I cell mitochondrial function seems to be more sensitive to a fall in PO₂ than other cell types showing a reduction in mitochondrial electron transport and mitochondrial depolarisation at PO₂ levels as high as 40 mmHg (4, 56).

The main focus of the current chapter was to identify the presence of any response interaction between mild mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxia in the mammalian CB. Evaluation of the impact of mild mitochondrial inhibition on CB hypoxic sensitivity over a range of different PO₂s has not been examined previously in this tissue. For mitochondrial inhibition to be further implicated in CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling, when the two stimuli were applied concurrently, they would ideally produce multiplicative responses. Here, by using NO₂⁻ as a novel and rapidly reversible inhibitor of mitochondrial metabolism, it was demonstrated that under conditions of mild NO₂⁻ induced basal CB stimulation, the subsequent hypoxic sensitivity of the CB was significantly augmented. Analysis of the hypoxic response curves showed that mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ changed the 'set point' of hypoxic response initiation, suggesting that the level of mitochondrial function is central in setting the threshold for CB hypoxic stimulation. Inspection of the absolute increase in chemoafferent activity evoked by NO₂⁻ over a full range of PO₂ levels showed that this elevation was further

increased in hypoxia. This was indicative of a strong multiplicative interaction between mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxic stimuli and ruled out the notion that these stimuli act independently. These data are consistent with the hypothesis that CB hypoxic sensing is critically dependent on a run-down in mitochondrial function.

Recently, support for H_2S in mediating the CB response to hypoxia has received much attention. This is based on experiments that have demonstrated an elevation in both CSN discharge frequency and DA secretion in response to high doses of exogenous H_2S donors (131, 132). A role for H_2S is further strengthened by observations showing that functional CB hypoxic responses are attenuated, but not abolished in cystathione γ lyase (an enzyme capable of generating H_2S) deficient mice (132). It has been proposed that the direct target of H_2S in type I cells is the BK_{Ca} channel and H_2S concentrations of 40 μ M and above have been shown to inhibit K⁺ conductance of this channel (133). However, it has also been demonstrated that exogenous H_2S concentrations similar to those that stimulate the CB and deactivate the BK_{Ca} channel also produce intense inhibition of mitochondrial function in type I cells (130). In view of the findings from this chapter, whilst a role for H_2S in CB hypoxic sensing cannot be ruled out, it is proposed that its actions are most probably a consequence of a reduction in mitochondrial energy metabolism and activation of signalling pathways that are dependent on a depleted/altered cellular energy status.

3.3.3 The use of exogenous nitrite as a novel type I cell mitochondrial inhibitor The use of exogenous NO_2^- in the current study was not only because it has recently been shown to reversibly impair mitochondrial function in other tissues, but also because this mechanism is thought to be regulated specifically through generation of NO (172, 176, 179). Despite NO being known to reversibly inhibit mitochondrial electron transport through binding to cytochrome c oxidase in other cells (177), the potential modification of mitochondrial function by NO in the CB type I cells has not been examined before. An effect of NO on the mitochondria may have been masked in previous studies on the CB (using other NO donors or NOS blockers) because of its known inhibitory actions at other sites within the type I cell (148, 149).

In the present experiments very high supraphysiological concentrations of NO₂⁻ evoked dose dependent elevations in chemoafferent discharge frequency; an effect that was coupled to dose dependent mitochondrial inhibition in isolated type I cells as evidenced by rises in NADH autofluorescence. Therefore, as in other cell types, NO₂⁻ was shown to depress mitochondrial electron transport.

It is proposed that the action of NO_2^- on the mitochondria was a consequence of NO production. The formation of NO from NO_2^- was not measured and NO scavengers were not used because of their limited cell permeability (340). However, it was observed that the impact of NO_2^- on type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses was critically dependent on O_2 , with NO_2^- only evoking rises in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ at a dissolved O_2 concentration of 2% and not 20%. Given that the reduction of NO_2^- to form NO and the NO binding to cytochrome c oxidase are both favoured in hypoxia (172, 179), these current results are consistent with the excitatory effect of NO_2^- being a consequence on the formation and action of NO. Future studies should be performed to measure NO production directly upon addition of NO_2^- within each cellular compartment of the type I cell, to confirm that these excitatory actions of NO_2^- are NO dependent.

If the impact of NO₂⁻ on CB function was through production of NO, it may be plausible to question why the well characterised inhibitory actions of NO on CB activity were not observed here. It is hypothesised that NO₂⁻ itself was reduced at the site of the mitochondria and only generated local rises in NO that were limited to the mitochondrial compartments. Mitochondrial reduction of NO₂⁻ into NO has been shown to only occur when supraphysiological (mM) concentrations of NO₂⁻ are applied exogenously (172-174). Accordingly, the inhibition of mitochondrial function and elevation in chemoafferent discharge were only detected in these experiments when at least 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ was applied to the superfusate, indicative of selective mitochondrial dependent NO₂⁻ reduction and NO generation. Cytosolic NO₂⁻ reductase activity in cardiac or smooth muscle cells has been shown to take place at physiological µM concentrations of NO₂⁻ reductases was not sufficient to generate enough cytosolic NO to inhibit L-type Ca²⁺ current or activate BK_{Ca} channels, and for this reason no inhibitory effects of NO were observed in the presence of NO₂⁻.

3.3.4 A role for endogenous nitric oxide in modulating type I cell mitochondrial function

The evidence described in the current chapter indicates that only supraphysiological concentrations of exogenous NO_2^- are able to reduce type I cell mitochondrial activity. It is unlikely that enough NO can be generated from endogenous concentrations (μ M) of NO_2^- to be functionally active in the CB. However, the results also imply that if enough NO is produced locally at the mitochondria then it has the potential to reduce mitochondrial energy metabolism and sensitise the CB to hypoxia. Since measurable amounts of NO have been identified in mitochondrial membranes of type I cells following

hypoxia, it is possible that NO may be available endogenously to alter mitochondrial function (83).

The source of this endogenous NO is most likely to be from NOS-3 given that this is the only NOS isoform to be detected in the type I cell (83). Accordingly, Kline and colleagues identified that NOS-3 deficient mice had a significantly diminished ventilatory response to hypoxia; an observation that was coupled with a downgraded CB function (144). It was hypothesised that chronic vasoconstriction of the arterial supply to the CB would have subjected the organ to chronic hypoxia from birth. Since chronic neonatal hypoxia is known to be associated with an impairment of the CB tissue to develop hypoxic chemosensitivity (45, 145), the authors concluded that this was the sole reason for the reduction in CB function. Whilst this is a plausible explanation, in view of the current findings, it is proposed that maybe a component of the inhibition of CB hypoxic sensitivity was a consequence of the absence of NOS-3 derived NO and its action on type I cell mitochondria. In conclusion, it is suggested that NO may have dual effects on type I cell function; an inhibitory action exerted through modulation of ion channels and a novel stimulatory action achieved through regulation of mitochondrial electron transport. In this respect it may be similar to the previously proposed dual actions of CO (109, 110, 116, 120).

3.3.5 Mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite sensitised the CB to hypercaphic stimulation

An interaction between hypoxic and hypercapnic stimuli leading to the generation of multiplicative responses has been observed previously in the CB (46, 210). Data from the current study suggests that mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ was capable of

significantly augmenting the absolute chemoafferent frequency response of the CB to subsequent hypercapnic stimulation. Thus, for the first time in the CB, a multiplicative interaction between mitochondrial inhibition and hypercapnia was demonstrated. This provided further evidence suggesting that mitochondrial inhibition and hypoxic stimuli have very similar actions on CB chemoreceptor function.

The exact site of interaction between mitochondrial inhibition and hypercapnic stimuli was not investigated in this study. These stimuli share a number of key transduction processes including attenuation of background TASK-like conductance, activation of Ltype Ca²⁺ channels, neurosecretion and stimulation of the CSN afferents (18). Potential interaction could be a consequence of up-regulation of any or all of these processes. However, it is also known that NO₂⁻ reduction is favoured in acidic conditions. Therefore, in the current investigation, it is possible that the generation of NO was increased during the acidic hypercapnic conditions, causing further impairment of mitochondrial activity and chemostimulation. Nevertheless, the data still supports a role for the mitochondria in setting not only the CB threshold for the response to hypoxia but also to hypercapnia. Whether it may set the threshold to other putative stimuli of the CB is not known.

3.3.6 Carotid body chemoafferent stimulation produced by mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite is regulated by activation of AMPK

The CB chemoafferent response to hypoxia is recognised as being attenuated by the AMPK inhibitor Compound C (88). This suggests that a degree of hypoxia induced metabolic stress may be necessary for activating the downstream signalling pathways associated with type I cell stimulation. In this study, Compound C also reduced the chemoafferent response to NO_2^- , in every fibre tested. The magnitude of this response

depression was consistent with that described previously for hypoxia (88). This indicates that, as in hypoxia, the type I cell response to mitochondrial inhibition is dependent on a change in cellular energy status and activation of AMPK.

CB hypersensitivity and a baseline elevation in chemoafferent outflow is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction in animals pre-conditioned with CIH (313). Based on the novel associations between mitochondrial impairment, AMPK activation and chemoafferent stimulation identified in this chapter, it is proposed that a proportion of the CB hypersensitivity following CIH is likely to be mediated through an increase in AMPK activity in the type I cell. Future investigations could examine this directly by characterising the phosphorylation status of AMPK and its downstream target acetyl CoA carboxylase following periods of CIH. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of AMPK using Compound C could be used to more clearly define a functional role for AMPK in evoking CB sLTF following CIH.

The results presented in this chapter also demonstrate that a significant component of the chemoafferent response to mitochondrial inhibition with NO_2^- was still preserved in the presence of Compound C. This may have been because of incomplete deactivation of AMPK as a consequence of the restricted uptake or activity of Compound C. 40 μ M Compound C was used as a pharmacological inhibitor of AMPK as has been described previously in both whole CB tissue and single cell hepatocyte preparations (88, 342). In the single cell preparations 40 μ M Compound C has been shown to deactivate AMPK activity by up to 75% following exposure to AICAR or metformin (342). In whole CB preparations the response to hypoxia, following 40 μ M Compound C incubation, was reduced (by approximately 50%) but not abolished (88). Therefore, the inhibitory impact

of Compound C on the CB chemoafferent stimulation by mitochondrial inhibition observed in this study was similar to that previously seen in hypoxia.

Alternatively, a significant element of the stimulation evoked by mitochondrial inhibition may have been dependent on a reduction in $[ATP]_i$ and direct inhibition of the ATP sensitive TASK-like channel K⁺ current (343). Another possibility is that the impairment of mitochondrial function by NO₂⁻ may have activated signalling pathways dependent on ROS formation. Preliminary experiments performed in our laboratory have demonstrated that the chemoafferent frequency increase induced by NO₂⁻ was preserved in the presence of the superoxide scavenger Tempol (1 mM), indicative of the response to NO₂⁻ not being mediated through increased ROS generation (Supplementary figure 2).

A dose of 40 μ M Compound C was used to inhibit AMPK. Compound C has been shown to deactivate AMPK by altering the configuration of the α subunit phosphorylation activation loop (344). Compound C was dissolved in DMSO (final DMSO concentration 0.4%) and the CB incubation time in Compound C was between 40–50 minutes as described previously (88). To investigate if the inhibitory effect observed following incubation in Compound C and DMSO was a consequence of tissue damage or neurotransmitter depletion, a mild hypoxic stimulus was applied following removal of the drug and solvent from the superfusate. In all experiments the chemoafferent responses to hypoxia were greater than that observed in response to the original NO₂⁻ stimulation (See example in Figure 3.6A). It is suggested that the CB tissue was still viable and retained normal chemoreceptor function and that the suppression of the response to NO₂⁻ was a consequence of the pharmacological inhibition of AMPK activity. Because of the potential limitations of Compound C to completely deactivate AMPK, some of subsequent studies described in this thesis were performed on CBs isolated from animals with partial or complete knock down in Lkb1 (the upstream kinase required for AMPK activation). This was done in order to more clearly define a role for the Lkb1-AMPK signalling pathway in CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling.

3.3.7 Conclusions

Chemoafferent responses evoked by the novel type I cell mitochondrial inhibitor NO₂⁻ are comparable with those induced by hypoxia. Mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ significantly enhanced the CB sensitivity to hypoxia. This previously uncharacterised finding suggests that the sensing of hypoxia in the CB is closely associated with a hypoxia evoked impairment of mitochondrial electron transport. This has the potential to induce cellular metabolic stress leading to the direct activation of AMPK. However, the precise mechanism that links a reduction in mitochondrial energy metabolism with type I cell stimulation needs to be evaluated further.

4. Does the Lkb1-AMPK signalling pathway provide the key to carotid body activation by hypoxia?

4.1 Chapter introduction and overview

Studies performed in the previous chapter supported the hypothesis that CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling is a consequence of a run-down in mitochondrial energy metabolism. A definitive signalling process that links the reduction in mitochondrial function with type I cell depolarisation and stimulation remains unidentified. With this in mind, the primary focus of the current chapter was to investigate whether activation of the Lkb1-AMPK pathway is a necessary intermediate step in mediating this hypoxia chemotransduction process.

It is hypothesised that depletion of mitochondrial electron transport in the type I cell has the potential to directly evoke local or whole cell changes in either [ATP]; or the AMP:ATP ratio subsequent to adenylate kinase activation. A decrease in the [ATP]; in hypoxia has the potential to depolarise the type I cell by directly reducing the ATP sensitive background TASK-like channel current (343). It has also been proposed that type I cell hypoxia stimulus response coupling may be conferred through changes in the AMP:ATP ratio via AMPK, a ubiquitously expressed protein kinase and sensor of cellular energy status (6, 88).

It is now recognised that the overall activity of AMPK is augmented by approximately 1000 fold as a consequence of AMP binding at the two available CBS domains on the
regulatory γ subunit (93, 96). This AMP mediated increase in AMPK activation is achieved through a combination of direct allosteric activation and the promotion of Thr 172 residue phosphorylation in the kinase activation loop on the catalytic α subunit (90, 96). The latter is thought to be dependent on the up-regulation of upstream kinase activity (95) and a reduction in PP2C phosphatase activity (97). ATP is also capable of binding at the two available CBS domains on the γ subunit but, in contrast to AMP, this binding reduces the extent of AMPK phosphorylation and limits activation (93, 97, 100). The overall level of AMPK activation seems to be dependent on the cellular AMP:ATP ratio (6). A number of pharmacological and physiological stimuli, associated with increasing the AMP:ATP ratio, activate AMPK. These include mitochondrial poisons (101), glucose deprivation (103), skeletal muscle contraction (102), regional ischaemia (104) and hypoxia (5).

In mammalian cells Lkb1 has been identified as the predominant upstream kinase that phosphorylates and activates AMPK (7). In certain cell types the calmodulin dependent kinase kinase beta (CaMKK β), has been expressed as an alternative kinase capable of phosphorylating AMPK in response to elevated [Ca²⁺]_i (345). Lkb1 forms a heterotrimeric complex with STRAD and MO25 and direct interactions with these two regulatory proteins augment the overall Lkb1 activity, thereby promoting the phosphorylation of Thr 172 on the α subunit of AMPK (98, 99). It has now been established that sufficient levels of Lkb1 are required to activate AMPK during muscle contraction, ischaemia and hypoxia (106, 346).

In the CB, the α 1 subunit of AMPK is positively expressed in the type I cells and is colocalised with the BK_{Ca} channel at the plasma membrane (5, 88). Pharmacological

128

activation of AMPK with AICAR elevates the type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and increases the CSN discharge frequency (5). Thus, activation of AMPK mimics, to a certain degree, the actions of hypoxia. A number of specific AMPK phosphorylation targets in the type I cell have been identified including the TASK, TREK-1 and BK_{Ca} channels, all of which are associated with CB hypoxia chemotransduction (29, 54, 88). Inhibition of AMPK with Compound C also virtually abolishes the hypoxia induced elevation in type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and reduces the increase in CSN chemoafferent discharge frequency by approximately 50% (88). Finally, respiratory measurements indicate that mice with global deletion of the gene encoding the α 2 subunit of AMPK have an impaired hypoxic ventilatory response (108).

The work performed by Evans and colleagues regarding the role for AMPK in CB hypoxic chemotransduction has been viewed with a high degree of caution. This is primarily because the physiological actions of both AICAR and Compound C may be exerted through kinases independent of AMPK activation (347). The dose of 1 mM AICAR, used by Wyatt et al. (88) potentially may also have enhanced the chemoafferent activity by elevating synaptic adenosine concentrations subsequent to the saturation of the bidirectional ENT adenosine transporter, although this is yet to be confirmed. In addition, even though the ventilatory response to hypoxia was reduced in the α 2 AMPK KO mice, a significant element was still preserved. Finally, the inability of Compound C to completely abolish the increase in CSN frequency evoked by hypoxia (88) suggests that AMPK activation may only be a single component of the complete hypoxia transduction process and/or Compound C does not completely deactivate AMPK.

129

The experiments presented in the current chapter were performed on CBs isolated from animals with partial or complete knock down in the Lkb1, the essential upstream kinase and activator of AMPK (7). This was done to more clearly establish or reject a role for the Lkb1-AMPK signalling pathway in CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling.

Potential changes in the hypercapnic sensitivity of CBs deficient in Lkb1 were also investigated. Any alteration in hypoxic sensitivity may be expected to impact on the response to hypercapnia given the strong degree of synergy known to exist between these two stimuli (46, 210).

The aims of the investigations in this chapter are summarised below:

1. To investigate if Lkb1-AMPK signalling is necessary for the generation of basal CB chemoafferent activity.

2. To establish if progressive depletion of Lkb1 correlates with a progressive depression in the CB response to hypoxia.

3. To examine if Lkb1-AMPK signalling is essential for CB stimulation by hypercapnia.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Mouse model development and generation of carotid body type I cells deficient in Lkb1

All breeding and genetic development of mice was performed at the University of Edinburgh and not by the author of this thesis. Transgenic C57BL/6J mice with the loxP excision sequence flanking the stk11 gene encoding Lkb1 on each chromosome 10 were termed Lkb1^{fl/fl} or Lkb1 *flox*. Transgenic C57BL/6J mice homozygous for the gene that encoded the Cre recombinase protein under the tyrosine hydroxylase promoter (Th-IRES-Cre) were supplied by the European Mutant Mouse Archive (EMMA) and were termed Cre^{+/+} or TH-Cre.

First generation crossing of the Lkb1^{fl/fl} with the Cre^{+/+} mice generated a population of mice heterozygous for both the loxP excision sequence (flanking the stk11 gene) and the gene encoding Cre recombinase enzyme and these mice were termed Lkb1^{fl/-}Cre^{+/-}. Crossing of these second generation mice generated multiple genetically different mice populations, two of which were of interest. The first was heterozygous for the loxP excision sequence flanking the stk11 gene on chromosome 10 and homozygous for the gene encoding Cre recombinase enzyme. These mice were termed Lkb1^{fl/-}Cre^{+/+} or Lkb1 het KO and were estimated to have a 50% reduction in Lkb1 protein in cells expressing TH. The second group of interest was homozygous for the loxP excision sequence and homozygous for the gene encoding Cre recombinase enzyme. These mice were termed Lkb1^{fl/-}Cre^{+/+} or Lkb1 hom KO and were predicted to have a complete knock down in Lkb1 protein expression in TH positive cells. A simplified version of breeding patterns used to generate these mice is shown in Figure 4.1.

Since global knock down of Lkb1 is embryonic lethal (346), Cre-Lox recombination technology was used to ensure that only cells expressing TH were partially or totally deficient in Lkb1. In the Lkb1 hom KO (Lkb1^{fl/fl}Cre^{+/+}) mice for example, because the Cre recombinase gene was under the TH promoter (THRES-Cre), whenever TH was expressed so was Cre recombinase enzyme. Cre recombinase subsequently recognised the loxP excision sequence and deleted the flanked gene (in this case stk11), completely preventing the expression of Lkb1 in these TH positive cells.

mRNA analysis from single type I cells revealed that stk11 gene expression was completely absent in the Lkb1 hom KO (Lkb1^{fl/fl}Cre^{+/+}) mice but was positively detected in WT C57BL/6J mice strains (data not shown). In the TH positive adrenal chromaffin cells, Lkb1 protein expression in Lkb1 hom KO (Lkb1^{fl/fl}Cre^{+/+}) was almost completely abolished compared with TH-Cre (Cre^{+/+}) controls (data not shown). All single cell RT-PCR and protein quantification assays were performed by colleagues at the University of Edinburgh and not by the author of this thesis. These data provide confirmatory evidence of Lkb1 hom KO mice being deficient in Lkb1 in TH positive cells.



Lkb1^{fl/-} Cre^{+/+}: Lkb1 het KO

Lkb1^{fl/fl} Cre^{+/+}: Lkb1 hom KO

Figure 4.1 A simplified schematic of the breeding patterns used to generate the first generation of mice partially or totally deficient in Lkb1 in tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expressing cells.

4.2.2 Deletion of Lkb1 in carotid body type I cells virtually abolishes the chemoafferent response to hypoxia

In vitro recordings of the chemoafferent activity were made from CBs isolated from 4 different mouse groups; TH-Cre (Cre^{+/+}), Lkb1 *flox* (Lkb1^{fl/fl}), Lkb1 het KO (Lkb1^{fl/-}Cre^{+/+}) and Lkb1 hom KO (Lkb1^{fl/fl}Cre^{+/+}). These groups were chosen as they had a proposed progressive depletion of type I cell Lkb1 mRNA and protein expression. Previous studies have reported that Lkb1 *flox* mice had a 5-10 fold reduced expression of Lkb1 compared with wild type littermates (106, 346). Therefore, in this study, the TH-Cre group was taken as the only control.

Initial experiments were performed to detect any potential alterations in basal chemoafferent activity and hypoxic sensitivity in CBs deficient in Lkb1. Basal activity was monitored at a superfusate PO₂ of approximately 200 mmHg and a PCO₂ of approximately 40 mmHg. To induce responses to hypoxia, the superfusate PO₂ was slowly reduced to a minimum of 40 mmHg or was reversed prior to this when the chemoafferent response had stabilised or had begun to diminish. Characteristic raw trace examples for all mouse groups are shown in Figure 4.2 and demonstrate that CB single fibre chemoafferent responses to hypoxia were depressed according to the extent of type I cell Lkb1 depletion.

Analysis of grouped data revealed that the basal single fibre chemoafferent discharge frequency was not significantly different between the TH-Cre and the Lkb1 *flox* groups measuring 0.69 ± 0.21 Hz and 0.72 ± 0.14 Hz respectively (Figure 4.3A and B). The basal activity was significantly depressed in the Lkb1 het KO and Lkb1 hom KO groups, and by the same magnitude, compared with the TH-Cre and the Lkb1 *flox* groups,

measured as 0.20 ± 0.05 Hz and 0.20 ± 0.04 Hz respectively (Figure 4.3A and B). Taken together, these data indicate that a degree of Lkb1 expression was highly significant, but not completely essential, for the generation of basal CB chemoafferent activity.

Analysis of the responses to hypoxia showed that the absolute peak single fibre discharge frequency recorded in severe hypoxia was significantly attenuated in the Lkb1 *flox* group (7.26 \pm 1.00 Hz) compared with the TH-Cre control (13.00 \pm 1.51 Hz) (Figure 4.3C). This was further significantly suppressed in CBs from Lkb1 het KO (4.17 \pm 0.34 Hz) and Lkb1 hom KO (2.84 \pm 0.78 Hz) mice (Figure 4.3C). Although the magnitude of the mean peak hypoxic frequency tended to be smaller in the Lkb1 hom KO group compared with the Lkb1 het KO group, no statistical difference was observed between these two groups (Figure 4.2 and 4.3C).

Mean hypoxic response curves were constructed by plotting the calculated discharge frequency against a range of defined PO₂ levels. Statistical analysis revealed that the shape of chemoafferent hypoxic response curves obtained from CBs partially or completely deficient in Lkb1 were significantly different compared with the TH-Cre controls (P < 0.05; Two way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc comparisons test) (Figure 4.3A). Hypoxic response curves plotted for Lkb1 het KO and Lkb1 hom KO groups were also significantly different compared with the Lkb1 *flox* group (P < 0.05; Two way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc comparisons test). Although the mean single fibre discharge frequency recorded from the Lkb1 hom KO group was reduced at every PO₂ value compared with the Lkb1 het

KO group, the overall response to hypoxia showed no statistical difference (Figure 4.3A).

Analysis of specific parameters of these hypoxic response curves identified that the rate of increase in discharge frequency with decreasing PO₂ was depressed in Lkb1 hom KO mice CBs as evidenced by the mean exponential rate constant being significantly smaller than that calculated from the TH-Cre group $(0.024 \pm 0.007 \vee 0.041 \pm 0.006)$ (Figure 4.4A). The PO₂ recorded when the peak discharge frequency had been attained was significantly lower in Lkb1 hom KO group compared with TH-Cre controls (60 ± 3 mmHg v 71 ± 2 mmHg), indicative of a marked 'left shift' in the hypoxic response curve (Figure 4.4B). Both of these factors may account for the relative 'flattening' and 'left shift' of Lkb1 hom KO hypoxic response curve observed in Figure 4.4A. These observations showed that Lkb1 depletion severely diminished the CB peak frequency response to hypoxia, changed the PO₂ set point required for CB hypoxic response initiation and significantly attenuated the CB hypoxic sensitivity. These findings strongly support the hypothesis that Lkb1-AMPK signalling is required for CB activation by hypoxia.



Figure 4.2 Sequential deletion of Lkb1 progressively attenuates the carotid body response to graded hypoxia.

Upper: Example raw traces of single/few fibre *in vitro* extracellular chemoafferent recordings during exposure to graded hypoxia for each transgenic mouse group: TH-Cre (control), Lkb1 *flox*, Lkb1 het KO and Lkb1 hom KO. Frequency time histograms (middle) and frequency PO₂ response curves (lower) for each example trace are shown, with a progressive decrease in hypoxia sensitivity observed with incremental deletion of Lkb1. Single fibre discriminations is shown in middle panel insets.



Figure 4.3 Lkb1 deletion impairs basal chemoafferent activity and diminishes the hypoxic sensitivity of the *in vitro* mouse carotid body.

A) Mean hypoxic response curves for each of the 4 transgenic mouse groups as follows: TH-Cre control; n=8 fibres from 6 mice, Lkb1 *flox*; n=8 fibres from 7 mice, Lkb1 het KO; n=12 fibres from 8 mice and Lkb1 hom KO; n=7 fibres from 5 mice. Single fibre discharge frequency is plotted against PO₂ between basal discharge to a maximum mean frequency plateau or failure. Mean response curves *for* Lkb1 *flox*, Lkb1 het KO and Lkb1 hom KO were significantly different to the TH-Cre (control) curve (P < 0.05) and Lkb1 het KO and Lkb1 hom KO hypoxic response curves were significantly different to the Lkb1 *flox* response curve (P < 0.05); two way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc comparisons test. B) Mean basal single fibre discharge frequency observed for each of the 4 transgenic mouse groups. Error bars indicate mean + S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 vs TH-Cre and + denotes P < 0.05 vs Lkb1 *flox*; one way factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc comparisons test.

C) As in B) but for the single fibre peak discharge frequency attained in hypoxia. Error bars indicate mean + S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 vs TH-Cre and + denotes P < 0.05 vs Lkb1 *flox*; one way factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc comparisons test.





4.2.3 Deletion of Lkb1 in carotid body type I cells attenuates the chemoafferent response to hypercapnia

Significant multiplicative CSN response interactions measured during simultaneous hypoxic and hypercapnic stimulation have been described previously (46). In Section 4.2.2, it was demonstrated that partial or complete deletion of type I cell Lkb1 markedly diminished the chemoafferent response to hypoxia. It was next examined whether the CBs isolated from Lkb1 hom KO mice, that had a significant down-regulation in hypoxic sensitivity, had a suppressed chemoafferent response to hypercapnia, as would be expected if these stimuli were interdependent.

Chemoafferent responses to hypercapnia (PCO₂ approximately 80 mmHg, PO₂ approximately 200 mmHg) were performed on CBs isolated from TH-Cre (control) and Lkb1 hom KO mice. The mean discharge frequency in hypercapnia was recorded from the final minute of exposure after a relatively stable steady state discharge frequency had been established. Characteristic example traces of single/few fibre chemoafferent responses to hypercapnia for each group are shown in Figure 4.5A. Consistent with Section 4.2.2, the chemoafferent discharge frequency recorded under basal conditions was markedly reduced in the Lkb1 hom KO group compared with TH-Cre controls, measuring 0.22 ± 0.07 Hz and 0.54 ± 0.12 Hz respectively (Figure 4.5B). The absolute steady state discharge frequency detected during hypercapnic stimulation was also depleted in CBs isolated from Lkb1 hom KO mice (0.47 ± 0.18 Hz) in comparison with the TH-Cre controls (2.13 ± 0.33 Hz)(Figure 4.5B). Accordingly the CO₂ sensitivity (calculated as Δ discharge frequency (Hz) / mmHg PCO₂) was significantly depressed in Lkb1 hom KO CBs measuring only approximately 15% of that calculated for TH-Cre control group (Figure 4.5C). Lkb1 depletion appears not only to diminish the CB

response to hypoxia, but also the chemoafferent response to hypercapnia. These findings are therefore consistent with the idea that hypoxic and hypercapnic stimuli are exquisitively interdependent.



Figure 4.5 Lkb1 is an important mediator of the carotid body response to hypercapnia.

A) Example raw traces of single/few fibre chemoafferent recordings during exposure to hypercapnia for TH-Cre (control) and Lkb1 hom KO mouse groups. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency-time histograms that collated single fibre action potentials over 10 s intervals (lower). Single fibre discriminations are shown inset. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded under normocapnic ($PCO_2 \sim 40 \text{ mmHg}$) and hypercapnic ($PCO_2 \sim 80 \text{ mmHg}$) conditions for TH-Cre (control); n=6 fibres from 4 mice, and Lkb1 hom KO; n=4 fibres from 4 mice. Error bars indicate Mean ± S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 TH-Cre v Lkb1 hom KO; one way factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. C) Calculated mean CO_2 sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO_2) for TH-Cre and Lkb1 hom KO mouse groups. Error bars indicate Mean + S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with TH-Cre; unpaired t-test.

4.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion

4.3.1 Summary of key findings

The main findings of the current chapter are described as follows;

- A reduction in Lkb1 protein expression significantly diminished basal CB chemoafferent activity.
- Lkb1 deletion virtually abolished the functional CB chemoafferent response to hypoxia.
- Depletion in Lkb1 also significantly suppressed the magnitude of CB excitation induced by hypercapnic stimulation.

4.3.2 Lkb1 expression in the carotid body is central to the generation of basal chemoafferent discharge frequency

Findings from the current study showed that a reduction in Lkb1 expression significantly depressed basal CB chemoafferent activity. This suggests that tonic Lkb1-AMPK signalling is necessary for the generation of a large component of the basal CSN discharge frequency.

The mechanism underpinning the precise origin of post-synaptic action potential production in the absence of any external stimulus is not known. Some reports indicate that type I cells spontaneously depolarise in normoxia/hyperoxia as a consequence of 5-HT mediated PKC activation and transient attenuation of the background K⁺ current (277, 278). This in turn would evoke Ca²⁺ influx and neurotransmitter release leading directly to post-synaptic action potential generation.

A similar mechanism involving Lkb1-AMPK may also contribute to these spontaneous type I cell depolarisations. A number of specific AMPK phosphorylation targets in the type I cell have been characterised to date including the TASK, TREK-1 and BK_{Ca} channels (29, 54, 88). Of these, the TASK and TREK-1 channels would be expected to be active at the type I cell resting membrane potential. In the presence of Lkb1, a degree of AMPK activation even in normoxia/hyperoxia would potentially allow for some direct phosphorylation and inhibition of TASK and TREK-1 channel activity. This would reduce the background K⁺ current and cause a transient type I cell depolarisation before the channel(s) was subsequently dephosphorylated. Future studies may focus on whether the overall phosphorylation status of TASK and TREK-1 channels dependent on PKC, AMPK and potentially PKA (see Chapter 6) activity may specifically determine

144

the rate and magnitude of spontaneous cellular depolarisations and regulate the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency. A mechanism of this nature may also act to establish the sensitivity of the type I cell to a range of physiological or pathological stimuli.

Identification of Lkb1-AMPK signalling in mediating basal CB activity may be of significant clinical importance. Elevations in basal CSN discharge frequency (termed sensory long term facilitation; sLTF) have been associated with an increase in sympathetic outflow and hypertension in animals and humans following periods of chronic intermittent hypoxia (2, 310). Interestingly, the sLTF following CIH has been proposed as being a consequence of higher rates of ROS production and inhibition of mitochondrial complex I activity (313). A sufficient depression of mitochondrial energy metabolism, even in normoxia, has the potential to increase the AMP:ATP ratio and further activate AMPK. Preliminary findings in Chapter 3 demonstrated that moderate chemostimulation (comparable to that seen in sLTF) induced by NO₂⁻ (a mild mitochondrial inhibitor) was partially reversed by pharmacological inhibition of AMPK. It may be plausible to suggest that the CB sLTF following CIH is a direct consequence of an increase in Lkb1-AMPK signalling following mild ROS induced mitochondrial inhibition. This should be examined directly in future work. Selective inhibitory targeting of the Lkb1-AMPK pathway in the CB may prove to be clinically important in reducing the sLTF and hypertension in patients with sleep disordered breathing.

4.3.3 Lkb1 provides the key to carotid body activation by hypoxia

The experiments performed in Chapter 3 showed that mild mitochondrial inhibition enhanced the CB hypoxic sensitivity. This provided further evidence emphasising that mitochondrial inhibition is the key to CB O₂ sensing. The identification of a clearly defined signalling cascade that links the run-down in mitochondrial energy metabolism with type I cell stimulation has remained elusive. The principal focus of the current chapter was to investigate if activation of the Lkb1-AMPK pathway was the critical intermediate step in mediating this process.

Partial or complete Lkb1 deletion significantly diminished the functional CB chemoafferent response to hypoxia. The findings from the current study provide conclusive support for the proposal that Lkb1-AMPK signalling is necessary for full carotid body activation by hypoxia. It is suggested that the Lkb1-AMPK system acts as the primary sensor of a run-down in mitochondrial oxidative metabolism during hypoxia and is also the principal effector in mediating hypoxia stimulus response coupling within the type I cell.

Additional experiments were performed on isolated type I cells by colleagues at the University of Leeds and not by the author of this thesis. These results demonstrated that the elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ observed in response to hypoxia was almost completely abolished in type I cells isolated from Lkb1 hom KO mice (data not shown). It is proposed that the lack of a full chemoafferent response to hypoxia seen in the intact CB preparation was due to a depression in type I cell hypoxic sensitivity and not because of any functional deficit in the chemoafferent neurones.

An elevation in the AMP:ATP ratio and subsequent activation of AMPK in response to mitochondrial poisons and hypoxia is well characterised (5, 101). Lkb1 mediated phosphorylation of the Thr 172 residue on the α subunit of AMPK is recognised as the

essential process that activates AMPK in response to a number of pharmacological and physiological stimuli including hypoxia (105, 106, 346). It is proposed that the deletion of Lkb1 in these experiments prevented any hypoxia induced AMPK activation and subsequent phosphorylation of downstream targets and this accounted for a reduction in type I cell depolarisation, Ca^{2+} influx, neurosecretion and the whole organ chemoafferent response to hypoxia. The precise downstream AMPK phosphorylation targets in the CB type I cell include sites on the TASK, TREK-1 and BK_{Ca} channels (29, 54, 88), all of which are implicated in CB O₂ sensing.

CBs isolated from Lkb1 het KO and Lkb1 hom KO animals both showed the same statistical degree of response attenuation upon hypoxic stimulation. Measurements of type I cell Lkb1 protein expression for all groups were not made, but it is estimated that Lkb1 expression in the Lkb1 het KO CB was approximately 50% of the TH-Cre control. This may be an overestimate given that insertion of the loxP excision sequence has been shown to depress Lkb1 expression even in the absence of Cre recombinase (106). It still appears that depletion of CB Lkb1 expression in the Lkb1 het KO group by approximately 50% severely depressed the CB response to hypoxia, and further deletion in the Lkb1 hom KO group caused no further functional shortfall. This implies that AMPK-mediated activation of the CB response to hypoxia requires a minimum of 50% of the control level of Lkb1 protein expression.

Mean data from both the Lkb1 hom KO and Lkb1 het KO CB groups suggested that although the response to hypoxia was markedly attenuated, a very small residual component was still preserved. Type I cell Lkb1 protein expression analysis did not positively detect any Lkb1 mRNA expression in cells isolated from the Lkb1 hom KO group. Therefore, the residual response is unlikely to be because of incomplete knock down of Lkb1. Rather, the small elevation in discharge frequency is most probably due to CB activation evoked independently of Lkb1-AMPK signalling. Given the link between mitochondrial electron transport and CB hypoxic chemotransduction highlighted in Chapter 3 it is suggested that some type I cell depolarisation may be a consequence of direct TASK-like channel deactivation following the absolute reduction in [ATP]_i, perhaps under conditions of very severe hypoxia (343). Even so, these data clearly emphasise that the vast majority of hypoxia stimulus response coupling in the CB is critically dependent on Lkb1-AMPK signalling.

4.3.4 Lkb1 deletion attenuates the carotid body response to hypercapnia; is this due to a complete lack of type I cell function?

Complete deletion of Lkb1 expression significantly diminished the CB chemoafferent response to hypercapnia. The reasons for this are unclear. It has been shown that the hypoxic sensitivity of the CB is augmented by hypercapnia, indicative of a strong interaction between these two stimuli (46). The observed absence of hypercapnic sensitivity in the Lkb1 hom KO group may have been a direct consequence of a diminished hypoxic sensitivity.

Translation of hypoxic or hypercapnic stimuli into a functional elevation in chemoafferent discharge frequency involves many of the same chemotransduction processes including inhibition of background TASK-like and BK_{Ca} conductances, type I cell depolarisation, Ca^{2+} influx and neurosecretion (18). Whilst there is little evidence for AMPK being stimulated directly by hypercapnia, the absence of basal Lkb1 mediated AMPK

activation may have altered the threshold required for hypercapnic response initiation by downregulating any or all of the processes described above.

Alternatively, the absence of responses to both hypoxia and hypercapnia may have been due to a complete loss of type I cell chemoreceptor function. The STRAD-Lkb1-MO25 complex is known to phosphorylate a total of 13 kinases, all of which are part of the AMPK sub-family (348). At present very little is known about the function of these proteins but it has been suggested that some may be involved in regulation of cell growth, proliferation and polarity (reviewed in (349)). It is possible that the loss of Lkb1 disrupts the full development of important type I cell specific chemotransduction processes.

That said, experiments performed on isolated type I cells by colleagues at the University of Leeds demonstrated that Lkb1 deficient cells had an augmentation in [Ca²⁺], in response to a 60 mM K⁺ external stimulus (albeit seemingly less than those rises recorded for TH-Cre control type I cells) (data not shown). In addition, a small degree of chemoafferent excitation was observed in almost all Lkb1 hom KO CBs in very severe hypoxic conditions and all fibres generated a measurable level of basal discharge. This indicates that some of the key processes involved in type I cell hypoxic and hypercapnic chemotransduction are maintained even in the complete absence of Lkb1. Future studies should, however, be performed to demonstrate that the isolated CBs from the Lkb1 hom KO mice are capable of generating robust responses to stimuli that are unaffected by the loss of hypoxic sensitivity. This could be achieved by administration of exogenous doxapram (TASK channel inhibitor) (350), a substance that would be

predicted to depolarise the type I cell directly and elevate chemoafferent discharge frequency independent of Lkb1-AMPK activation (351).

The full impact of Lkb1 deletion on type I cell phenotype is unknown. Although the results presented in this chapter are strongly indicative of Lkb1-AMPK signalling being central to the CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling process, they should still be viewed with a significant degree of caution given the other uncharacterised potential effects that partial or total Lkb1 deletion may have on type I cell function or viability.

4.3.5 Conclusions

In the CB, Lkb1 is required for the generation of the majority of the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency. Furthermore, Lkb1 is essential for evoking the full chemoafferent response to hypoxia. This suggests that, even in normoxia, Lkb1 phosphorylates AMPK, thus provoking a degree of basal AMPK activation. Importantly, increased phosphorylation of AMPK by Lkb1 is necessary to further activate the CB and to enhance the chemoafferent discharge frequency in hypoxia. These data support the proposal that Lkb1-AMPK signalling provides the critical link between hypoxia induced suppression of mitochondrial energy metabolism and type I cell stimulation.

5. Studying the effects of glucose deprivation on the intact carotid body *in vitro*: low glucose sensing or metabolic depletion?

5.1 Chapter introduction and overview

A number of previous studies have proposed that the CB is sensitive to low glucose and functions as a physiological glucose receptor within the whole animal (238, 246, 248). Given the strong association between metabolic stress and CB stimulation in hypoxia described in the previous two chapters, it is possible that a similar mechanism leading to CB excitation may exist in response to a fall in glucose concentration. If a reduction in substrate delivery into the mitochondria leads to the depression of ATP synthesis then, as with hypoxia, this may lead to activation of Lkb1-AMPK. Accordingly, central low glucose sensing neurones are recognised as being stimulated subsequent to an increase in AMPK activity (235, 236).

Whilst a role for the mammalian CB in glucose homeostasis has been clearly defined (see Chapter 1), there remains a debate as to whether the CB responds either directly and rapidly to low glucose, or indirectly to some other blood-borne stimulus released as a consequence of systemic hypoglycaemia.

The direct impact of low glucose on CB function appears equivocal. Freshly isolated intact CB preparations seem to be acutely unresponsive to low glucose even at sub-

physiological concentrations. Kumar and colleagues demonstrated that the *in vitro* CB chemoafferent activity was not enhanced upon exposure to 2 mM glucose (242) and this same glucose concentration reduced the CB sensitivity to hypercapnia (243). Conde et al. observed that complete glucose deprivation did not acutely stimulate whole CB 3 H-CA or ATP release and failed to potentiate the CB response to mild (7% O₂) hypoxia (247). However, sustained exposure to glucose deprivation has been shown to stimulate the intact CB, with an augmented secretion of neurotransmitters being observed after approximately 40 minutes (247).

In contrast, long-term (> 24 hours) in vitro CB culture preparations show robust and acute sensitivity to physiological levels of low glucose. In the CB slice preparation, 3.3 mM glucose inhibited type I cell K⁺ conductance and evoked a rapid and measurable elevation in DA release (246). Intracellular voltage recordings of petrosal neurones cocultured with type I cell clusters demonstrated that 3.3 mM glucose almost instantaneously enhanced the action potential firing frequency, indicative of intrinsic type I cell low glucose sensitivity (248). In both instances, responses to physiological levels of low glucose were only detected when the superfusate PO₂ was lowered to 90 mmHg, demonstrating a PO₂ dependence on the CB low glucose sensitivity. Zhang et al suggested that the absence of a response in the intact CB, observed in other studies, was due to the high level of PO_2 used in these experiments (248). Given that hyperoxia attenuates the response to hypercapnia (46), it is notional that hyperoxia may act to impair responses to low glucose in a similar way. In the intact CB explant model, following 24 hours of whole organ culture, complete removal of glucose from the superfusate did not increase ³H-CA release in 20% O₂ but it did potentiate the response to hypoxia, again emphasising that low glucose sensitivity is dependent on PO_2 (249).

The focus of the following set of experiments was as follows:

1. To establish if the nature of the response of the freshly isolated intact carotid body *in vitro* to prolonged glucose deprivation is a consequence of direct low glucose sensing or time dependent metabolic reserve depletion.

2. To examine if there is a dependence of PO₂ on the excitation evoked by glucose deprivation in the freshly isolated CB.

3. To investigate whether the conditions of CB tissue incubation, following isolation, altered the sensitivity of the whole organ to subsequent low glucose stimulation.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 The impact of basal chemoafferent fibre discharge frequency on the time taken for the carotid body to respond to glucose deprivation

Recordings of single unit chemoafferent discharge frequency made in the rat *in vivo* have shown a frequency of approximately 0.25–1.5 Hz in arterial normoxia (41). In the first experiments in the present study, the superfusate PO₂ was adjusted (at a fixed PCO₂ of approximately 40 mmHg) to set a basal frequency of 0.25–1.5 Hz in 11 mM glucose consistent with those observations made *in vivo* in arterial normoxia. After this baseline level of discharge frequency was established the CB was exposed to a glucose free superfusate (osmolality balanced with mannitol) equilibrated at the equivalent PO₂. The time taken to respond to the glucose free stimulus was taken when a level of discharge 10% or greater than the mean control basal discharge frequency had been achieved and maintained for at least 30 seconds.

An example of a characteristic response to glucose deprivation at a basal level of discharge between 0.25–1.5 Hz is shown in the upper panel of Figure 5.1A. All fibres set at a basal level of discharge frequency between 0.25–1.5 Hz, did not respond acutely to glucose deprivation, consistent with a lack of intrinsic low glucose sensitivity. At this level of basal discharge frequency an increase in discharge frequency was detected only after at least 20 minutes of glucose free exposure. After a short period of measured excitation, peaking at 3.73 ± 0.90 Hz, the discharge frequency fell to below basal levels or was completely abolished.

The delayed response to glucose free exposure observed after 20 minutes or more was hypothesised as being a consequence of time dependent depletion in metabolic reserve. In the next series of experiments, the superfusate PO₂ was decreased so that the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency increased to levels consistent with moderate hypoxia (see Chapter 2). This was predicted to elevate the rate of glucose utilisation through increased glycolysis (352). After a steady state basal frequency had been established (that was still significantly below the level of a peak hypoxic response) glucose was removed from the superfusate.

Example traces of the effect of an increase in basal frequency on the response time to glucose deprivation are shown in the middle and lower panels of Figure 5.1A. Regression analysis of the grouped data showed a strong correlation between the level of basal chemoafferent fibre discharge frequency and response time to glucose deprivation ($R^2 = 0.7$, P < 0.05) (Figure 5.1B). The stimulation induced by glucose deprivation was still not instantaneous even at very high basal frequencies (Figure 5.1B). These results are consistent with the notion that the basal rate of glycolysis determines the time taken for the CB to respond to glucose deprivation and that a moderate level of steady state hypoxia does not induce any acute low glucose sensitivity.



Figure 5.1 The time taken to respond to glucose deprivation is dependent on basal chemoafferent activity.

The data presented was taken from 16 single chemoafferent fibres from 13 CB preparations. A) Example traces showing the responses to glucose deprivation with increasing initial basal discharge frequencies (upper to lower). Chemoafferent single fibre raw discharge was recorded and expressed in frequency histograms binned at 10 second intervals. For each trace multiple action potentials have been overdrawn to show the single fibre discrimination. B) Grouped data showing a correlation between basal frequency and the time taken to respond to glucose deprivation ($R^2 = 0.7$, P < 0.05; linear regression analysis).

5.2.2 Exposure of the carotid body to severe hypoxia reduces the time taken to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation

The level of glucose utilisation through glycolysis in the CB is known to be dependent on the severity of hypoxia (352). It was next examined whether stimulation of the CB by severe hypoxia had the potential to reduce the time taken to respond to a subsequent glucose free stimulus; potentially through depletion of any metabolic reserve stored within either the type I cell clusters or the afferent neurones. The CB was exposed to one or two 4-5 minute periods of severe hypoxia (superfusate PO₂ approximately 60 mmHg) in 11 mM glucose. Subsequently, after a steady state level of discharge frequency had been re-established (between 0.25–1.5 Hz), superfusate glucose was removed and the time taken to a response was measured. An example of the characteristic response to glucose deprivation following two exposures to severe hypoxia is shown in Figure 5.2A. Control experiments were performed on CBs that were not subjected to hypoxia before removal of glucose. This control group was the same as described in 5.2.1.

A single episode of severe hypoxia decreased the time taken to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation by approximately 40% and a greater reduction in time of 65% was observed following two hypoxic exposures (Figure 5.2B). The peak frequency response to glucose deprivation was not significantly different among the three groups ($3.73 \pm 0.90 \text{ Hz}$; control, $2.83 \pm 0.35 \text{ Hz}$; post one hypoxic exposure, $4.02 \pm 0.53 \text{ Hz}$; post two hypoxic exposures). This verified that prior exposure to severe hypoxia did not attenuate the magnitude of the chemoexcitation evoked by glucose deprivation but did lessen the time taken to respond.

In all experiments where severe hypoxia was applied before the glucose free stimulus, the maximum hypoxic frequency was initially recorded (Figure 5.2A). The peak chemoafferent discharge frequency was also measured in glucose free conditions before it diminished. Examples of the responses of the same fibre to glucose deprivation and hypoxia are shown in Figure 5.3A. Comparison of the mean peak frequencies attained in severe hypoxia and glucose deprivation identified that the degree of chemostimulation induced by glucose deprivation was less than 15% of that observed during severe hypoxia (Figure 5.3B).



Figure 5.2 The time taken to respond to glucose deprivation is significantly reduced by prior exposure to severe hypoxia.

The data presented was taken from 7 single chemoafferent fibres from 6 CB preparations in the control group, 9 fibres from 5 CB preparations in the post one hypoxic exposure group and 12 fibres from 8 CB preparations in the post two hypoxic exposures group. A) Example trace showing the response to a glucose free stimulus following two 4-5 minute episodes of severe hypoxia. Raw neuronal discharge is shown in the upper panel and discharge from a single fibre is expressed in frequency histograms binned at 10 second intervals below. Inset; Multiple action potentials have been overdrawn to show the single fibre discrimination. B) Grouped data showing that one or two exposures to severe hypoxia significantly decreased the time taken to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation. Error bars indicate + SEM. * denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with the time taken to a response to glucose free in the control group and + denotes a significance of P <



Figure 5.3 The amplitude of a chemoafferent excitation induced by glucose deprivation is significantly less than that evoked by severe hypoxia.

A) Example of the raw discharge taken from the same single fibre showing a 10 second period of maximal hypoxic (upper) and glucose free (lower) stimulation. B) Grouped data demonstrating that the response to glucose deprivation was significantly smaller than that induced by hypoxia. The mean data was taken from 12 fibres from 8 CB preparations that were exposed to both severe hypoxia and glucose deprivation. Error bars indicate + SEM. * denotes a significance of P < 0.05 compared with hypoxia; paired t-test.

5.2.3 The lack of acute excitation induced by glucose deprivation in the carotid body; a functional role for glycogen

Failure of glucose deprivation to acutely stimulate the CB would indicate that type I cells have a level of metabolic reserve that can be utilised in the event of complete absence of extracellular substrate delivery. The most common form of metabolic reserve in neuronal brain tissue is glycogen, stored predominately in the neighbouring astrocytes (353). Glycogen is metabolised in astrocytes to form glucose-6-phosphate, which in turn can be converted to lactate and released into the interstitium (354, 355). Uptake of lactate by the adjacent neurones supports their metabolism in times of increased activity (356, 357). Very recently, glycogen metabolism to form lactate has also been implicated in supporting the function of peripheral nerves during glucose free exposure (358). To this point a functional role for glycogen in the CB has not been defined.

Immunohistochemical staining of 10 µm sections of CB tissue showed co-localisation of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (a classical type I cell marker) with both glycogen synthase I and the brain/neuronal isoform of glycogen phosphorylase BB (Figure 5.4A and B respectively). In both instances, staining was reproducible in a total of 3 sections from 3 different CBs. In all sections staining for glycogen synthase I and glycogen phosphorylase BB was not completely confined to TH positive type I cells suggesting a presence of these enzymes in other non TH containing cells e.g. chemoafferent neurones or possibly type II cells (Figure 5.4A and B). Addition of the secondary antibodies without prior primary antibody staining was performed to examine potential non-specific secondary antibody binding. In these instances fluorescence intensity was almost completely abolished. These data indicate that type I cells along with other cells in the CB contained enzymes capable of both synthesis and metabolism of glycogen.

To study the functional importance of glycogen in maintaining CB activity during glucose deprivation, experiments were performed on CB tissue exposed to the glycogen phosphorylase inhibitor 1, 4-Dideoxy-1, 4-imino D-arabinitol hydrochloride (DAB); an agent shown to attenuate glycogenolysis in isolated rat hepatocytes (359). A DAB concentration of 100 μ M was chosen (five times that used on single cells), in order to overcome any diffusion limitations present within the intact CB preparation. 100 μ M DAB was initially added during superfusion with 11 mM glucose and the same DAB concentration was maintained during glucose free exposure. An example response to glucose deprivation in the presence of DAB is shown in Figure 5.5A.

Partial or complete inhibition of glycogen metabolism with DAB significantly reduced the time taken to respond to glucose free exposure by approximately 33% (Figure 5.5B). In all experiments, initial basal discharge was established between 0.25–1.5 Hz before removal of glucose. Maximal stimulation evoked by glucose deprivation was not significantly different between groups; control 5.1 ± 1.2 Hz and DAB 3.3 ± 0.7 Hz (unpaired t-test). These data support the proposal that glycogen metabolism has an important role in supporting the chemoafferent discharge frequency during glucose deprivation.



Tyrosine Hydroxylase

Glycogen Synthase I

Merge

50 µm

В

Α



Tyrosine Hydroxylase Glycogen Phosphorylase

50 µm

Figure 5.4 Co-localisation of tyrosine hydroxylase with glycogen synthase I and neuronal glycogen phosphorylase in the rat carotid body.

CB sections (10 µm) were stained with antibodies specific to glycogen synthase I (A) and neuronal glycogen phosphorylase (B) along with tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), a marker for type I cells. Merged images are shown in the right hand panels suggesting significant co-localisation. (Scale bar : 50 µm).


Figure 5.5 Glycogen is significant in maintaining chemoafferent discharge frequency during glucose deprivation.

Glycogen reserve was inhibited using a known blocker of glycogen phosphorylase, 4-Dideoxy-1, 4-imino D-arabinitol hydrochloride (DAB). Data presented is taken from 8 fibres from 8 CB preparations (control), and 6 fibres from 4 CB preparations (DAB). A) Example traces showing the response to glucose deprivation are demonstrated in control CBs and in CBs treated with DAB. Chemoafferent single fibre raw discharge was recorded and expressed in frequency histograms binned at 10 second intervals. For each trace multiple action potentials have been overdrawn to show single fibre discrimination. B) Grouped data showing that DAB significantly decreased the time taken to respond to glucose deprivation. Error bars indicate + SEM, * denotes a significance level of P< 0.05 compared with the time to a response in the control group; unpaired t-test.

5.2.4 Stimulation evoked by glucose deprivation can be reversed by 1 mM glucose; evidence against the carotid body being a physiological glucose receptor

For the CB to be considered a direct physiological gluco-sensitive tissue it would be expected to show a degree of stimulation to concentrations of low glucose within the physiological range. Two studies have reported acute CB tissue stimulation induced by physiological low glucose concentrations *in vitro* in the CB slice and the CB co-culture preparations respectively (246, 248). However, an acute response to physiological low glucose has not been observed in the intact CB preparations monitoring either chemoafferent discharge frequency or ³H-CA release (242, 247).

Experiments performed in all previous sections of this chapter have identified a response to prolonged glucose deprivation. In this section, it was examined if this response was maintained by adding back just 1 mM glucose, as would be predicted if the CB tissue was a functional low glucose sensor. CBs were first exposed to a single 5 minute period of severe hypoxia in order to reduce the time taken for them to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation (see Section 5.2.2). A baseline discharge frequency between 0.25–1.5 Hz was established and the same PO₂ was sustained for the remainder of the experiment. During the initial glucose free evoked stimulation 1 mM glucose was returned to the superfusate. A second glucose free stimulus was then maintained for the duration of the protocol. A characteristic example is shown in Figure 5.6A. In all experiments the chemoexcitation generated by glucose (Figure 5.6B). Chemoafferent stimulation to a second glucose free stimulus was observed that was equal or greater in magnitude compared with the initial response indicating that the

decline in discharge frequency evoked by 1 mM glucose was not due to CB failure or neurotransmitter depletion (Figure 5.6A and B).





5.2.5 Excitation induced by glucose deprivation can be abolished or is rapidly reversed by lactate and pyruvate; evidence for a response to metabolic stress rather than directly to low glucose

Prolonged exposure of the CB to glucose deprivation would be expected to reduce the rate of glycolysis following total depletion of any glycogen reserve. In the absence of other substrates entering the TCA cycle or electron transport chain this would subsequently decrease cytosolic and mitochondrial NADH levels, causing a reduction in electron flux and decreased ATP production.

Studies in this section were designed to investigate if prolonged glucose deprivation stimulated chemoafferent excitation through a reduction in glycolysis and cellular energy status. CBs were exposed to a glucose free superfusate with or without the addition of 5 mM lactate and 0.5 mM pyruvate. Lactate and pyruvate concentrations were selected to maintain a standard lactate: pyruvate ratio of approximately 10:1 (360). The PO₂ was adjusted to set a basal level of chemoafferent discharge frequency between 0.25–1.5 Hz and remained the same throughout the protocol.

Examples of the chemoafferent discharge frequency measured from two individual preparations during glucose free exposure with and without lactate and pyruvate are shown in Figure 5.7A. An increase in mean discharge frequency was detected in the glucose free only group at 30, 35 and 40 minutes (Figure 5.7B). In contrast no chemoafferent stimulation was detected in the presence of lactate and pyruvate (Figure 5.7B). This suggests that stimulation during glucose deprivation is a consequence of a time dependent run-down in energy status.

However, sustained incubation of the CB tissue in lactate and pyruvate may have encouraged generation of *de novo* glucose through the gluconeogenesis pathway. An absence of a response therefore may have been due to the maintenance of intracellular glucose concentration generated from the lactate and pyruvate substrates.

Investigations subsequently focused on whether the potential metabolic stress and chemostimulation during prolonged glucose deprivation could be acutely reversed by addition of lactate and pyruvate. During the first glucose free induced response 5 mM lactate and 0.5 mM pyruvate were added to the superfusate. An example of the impact of lactate and pyruvate on the chemoafferent discharge frequency recorded from a single fibre at the point of glucose free induced stimulation is shown in Figure 5.7C. In all fibres studied, addition of lactate and pyruvate rapidly restored the enhanced chemoafferent discharge frequency to basal levels within seconds (5.7C and D). Because of the immediate nature of the decline in chemoafferent activity evoked by addition of these substrates it was proposed that they bypassed the glycolysis pathway and entered the TCA cycle independent of *de novo* glucose synthesis through gluconeogenesis. This is consistent with the chemostimulation caused by prolonged glucose deprivation being purely dependent on a complete run-down in glycolysis.



Figure 5.7 Chemoexcitation evoked by glucose deprivation can be abolished or is rapidly reversed by lactate and pyruvate.

A) Individual traces showing the chemoafferent discharge frequency in the glucose free with and without 5 mM lactate and 0.5 mM pyruvate, upper and lower panels respectively. Discharge frequency is expressed in 10 second interval histograms. Single fibre discrimination is shown inset. B) Mean discharge frequencies calculated at time points during exposure to glucose deprivation in the presence or absence of 5 mM lactate and 0.5 mM pyruvate. Data is presented from 8 fibres from 8 CB preparations (glucose free only) and 8 fibres from 6 CB preparations glucose free plus lactate and pyruvate. Error bars indicate \pm SEM, * denotes P < 0.05 compared with basal frequency; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc comparisons test. C) As in A) but with lactate and pyruvate rapidly reversing the initial stimulation evoked by glucose deprivation. Raw discharge frequency from a single fibre is demonstrated (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower). D) Mean data showing that the response to glucose deprivation is restored to basal levels by the addition of lactate and pyruvate. Data presented is from 9 fibres from 5 CB preparations. Error bars indicate \pm SEM, * denotes P < 0.05 compared with basal frequency in 11 mM glucose; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc comparisons test.

5.2.6 Evaluating the effects of glucose deprivation on acute hypoxic sensitivity

Augmentation of hypoxic sensitivity by mild mitochondrial inhibition using 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ has been demonstrated in Chapter 4. These data supported the hypothesis that hypoxic sensing in the CB is centred on a reduction in mitochondrial electron transport. Earlier in this chapter it was shown that glucose deprivation did not acutely stimulate the CB. However, it was put forward that a very small down-regulation in mitochondrial electron transport caused by glucose deprivation, although not great enough to elicit stimulation on its own, may sensitise the CB to acute hypoxia.

Paired hypoxic responses were recorded in either 11 mM glucose or glucose free solutions from the same chemoafferent fibre. The initial PO₂ was 300 mmHg and slowly decreased until the CB chemoafferent discharge frequency started to increase exponentially. At a frequency of approximately 10–12 Hz (below levels of maximal excitation), the response was rapidly terminated by switching to a 95% O₂, 5% CO₂ superfusate.

An example of the hypoxic response curves performed in 11 mM glucose or 0 mM glucose measured from a single fibre is shown in Figure 5.8A. Paired analysis showed that to attain a discharge frequency of 5 Hz, the PO₂ was lower in the glucose free superfusate, indicating a 'left shift' of the hypoxic response curve (Figure 5.8B). Calculating the difference in discharge frequency at selected PO₂ levels during hypoxia identified a significant reduction in frequency induced by glucose deprivation at a superfusate PO₂ of 125 mmHg (Figure 5.8C). Collectively, these data imply that glucose deprivation evoked a slight, but significant, attenuation of the CB response to hypoxia.



Figure 5.8 Glucose deprivation moderately attenuates the carotid body response to hypoxia. Data presented was taken from 8 chemoafferent fibres from 6 CB preparations. A) An example of the hypoxic response curves recorded from a single chemoafferent fibre from a single CB preparation observed in either glucose free or 11 mM glucose superfusates. B) Paired data showing the PO₂ required to attain a frequency of 5Hz in 11 mM glucose and glucose free respectively. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with PO₂ in 11 mM glucose; paired t-test. C) The calculated difference in discharge frequency in glucose free or 11 mM glucose measured at selected levels of superfusate PO₂ during hypoxia. Error bars indicate mean \pm SEM. * denotes p < 0.05 compared with the difference at the PO₂ of 300 mmHg; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc comparisons test.

5.2.7 The impact of carotid body tissue incubation on the subsequent response to glucose deprivation

Published evidence has demonstrated that long term (> 24 hours) culture CB preparations had an acute sensitivity to physiological low glucose (246, 248). In these studies, CB tissue was cultured in hyperoxic conditions. Whether prolonged hyperoxic incubation of the intact CB directly sensitises it to low glucose was investigated in the experiments performed in this section.

Freshly isolated CB tissue was immediately placed in ice-cold bicarbonate buffered Krebs solution equilibrated with 95% O_2 and 5% CO_2 (severe hyperoxia) as described in Chapter 2. Tissue was incubated under these conditions for less than one hour (< 1 hr, hyperoxia), between 4 and 8 hours (4–8 hr, hyperoxia) or for 24 hours (24 hr, hyperoxia), before experiments proceeded. Upon recording, a baseline level of chemoafferent frequency was established between 0.25 and 1.25 Hz in 11 mM glucose by adjusting the superfusate PO_2 , before exposing the CB to glucose deprivation. Characteristic examples of the responses to glucose deprivation following each incubation time period in hyperoxia are shown in Figure 5.9A. Incubation of tissue for 4– 8 hours reduced the time taken to respond to glucose deprivation by approximately 30% compared with the < 1 hr, hyperoxia group (Figure 5.9B). A greater reduction in the time of approximately 65% was observed after 24 hours of incubation (Figure 5.9B).

Additional experiments were performed to examine if ROS production during the incubation period was necessary for modifying the CB response to glucose deprivation. Tissue was incubated in an ice-cold bicarbonate buffered Krebs solution for 24 hours equilibrated with 95% O_2 , 5% CO_2 or air and 5% CO_2 , in the presence of 1 mM Tempol

(superoxide scavenger). Treatment of the CB with Tempol for 24 hours under these conditions did not significantly restore the time taken to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation (Figure 5.9B). In all groups the initial basal discharge frequency and the peak responses to glucose deprivation were not significantly different. These data suggest that incubation of the CB in hyperoxia prior to experimentation does impair the ability of the CB to maintain discharge in the absence of superfusate glucose (thereby diminishing the time taken to respond) but this does not appear to be dependent on the generation of ROS.



Figure 5.9 The duration of hyperoxic tissue incubation but not the generation of reactive oxygen species alters the time for the carotid body to respond to subsequent glucose deprivation. Example traces showing the response to glucose deprivation are demonstrated in CBs following incubation in ice-cold bicarbonate buffered Krebs equilibrated with 95% O₂, 5% CO₂ for less than 1 hour (*i*), between 4 and 8 hours (*ii*) and after 24 hours (*iii*). Chemoafferent single fibre discharge is expressed in frequency histograms binned in 10 second intervals. For each trace multiple action potentials have been overdrawn to show single fibre discrimination. B) Grouped data showing the impact of hyperoxic incubation, in the presence or absence of Tempol (ROS scavenger), on the subsequent time taken to respond to glucose deprivation. Data presented is taken from 10 fibres from 8 CB preparations (< 1 hr, hyperoxia), 8 fibres from 5 CB preparations (24 hr, hyperoxia), 8 fibres from 3 CB preparations (24 hr, hyperoxia, Tempol) and 3 fibres from 3 CB preparations (24 hr, hyperoxia, Tempol) and 3 fibres from 3 CB compared with the time to a response in the < 1 hr, hyperoxia group, + denotes a significance level of P< 0.05 compared with the time to a response in the 4-8 hr, hyperoxia group; one way factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis.

5.2.8 The impact of glucose deprivation on dissociated rat carotid body type I cells

Preliminary investigations monitoring changes in the type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were performed to investigate the potential origin of the response to glucose deprivation. Dissociated type I cells were experimented on within 8 hours of CB isolation. The control superfusate was equilibrated at 10% O₂, to obtain a PO₂ of approximately 80 mmHg. This value is consistent with the PO₂ used in the studies performed on the CB slice and co-culture preparations that reported an acute sensitivity to low glucose (246, 248). $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevations in response to 0% O₂ were recorded initially to confirm normal type I cell function (Figure 5.10). Exposure of the type I cells to glucose deprivation for 40 minutes did not stimulate any increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ above baseline levels (Figure 5.10). The magnitude of the hypoxia induced elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ during glucose free exposure was also suppressed compared to that measured in 11 mM glucose (Figure 5.10). Similar results were observed in one other type I cell cluster dissociated from a CB isolated from a different animal. These preliminary findings indicate that the chemoafferent response to glucose deprivation described earlier in this chapter may not have been of type I cell origin.



Figure 5.10 Dissociated type I cells do not show an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in response to glucose deprivation for up to 40 minutes of exposure.

An example spectrum demonstrating the impact of hypoxia and glucose deprivation on $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in type I cells. Responses to hypoxia were intact indicative of normal type I cell function. Glucose deprivation failed to enhance the type I cell $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ at any point over the course of the 40 minute period of exposure.

5.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion

5.3.1 Key Findings

The main points demonstrated in the current chapter are outlined below:

- The intact CB did not respond acutely to glucose deprivation at a normoxic basal discharge frequency of 0.25–1.5 Hz. A response was observed only after at least 20 minutes of sustained glucose free exposure.
- The time taken to respond to glucose deprivation was significantly reduced by raising basal chemoafferent activity or by prior exposure to severe hypoxia.
- Tyrosine hydroxylase positive type I cell clusters stained positively for both glycogen synthase I and glycogen phosphorylase BB.
- Pharmacological inhibition of glycogen phosphorylase decreased the response time to glucose deprivation.
- A response to glucose deprivation was immediately reversed by 1 mM glucose.
- The response to glucose deprivation was abolished or rapidly reversed by lactate and pyruvate.
- Glucose deprivation moderately attenuated the CB chemoafferent response to hypoxia.
- The time taken to respond to glucose deprivation was dependent on the duration of CB tissue incubation following isolation from the animal.
- Freshly isolated type I cells showed no sensitivity to glucose deprivation for up to 40 minutes of exposure.
- These data do not support the proposal that the CB is a physiological low glucose sensor.

5.3.2 The mechanism of glucose free induced chemoexcitation in the intact carotid body

Low glucose sensitive neurones in the brain are thought to be stimulated primarily as a consequence of a down-regulation in cellular energy status leading to direct activation of AMPK (235, 236). Some reports propose that a reduction in Na⁺/K⁺ pump activity subsequent to impaired glycolysis may also evoke GI neuronal excitation (237). Central to both of these mechanisms is a low glucose induced run-down in metabolism and ATP synthesis. Consistent with GI neurones, it has been suggested that CB stimulation evoked by glucose deprivation is a consequence of decreased ATP generation (249). However, evidence has also been described indicating that alterations in glucose metabolism and [ATP]; were not necessary for low glucose induced type I cell excitation, (246, 253). This implied that the CB contained some form of unidentified glucose sensitive receptor, maybe analogous to those present in the gastro-intestinal tract. Experiments performed in this study aimed to resolve these contradictory observations and conclusively support the hypothesis that chemoafferent stimulation following prolonged periods of glucose deprivation is purely dependent on the complete inhibition of glycolysis and a reduction in ATP production.

Pyruvate is the final product of glycolysis. Lactate can generate pyruvate and is utilised as an alternative metabolic substrate by some central neurones during glucose free exposure (357). In the current investigation, addition of lactate and pyruvate completely abolished the CB response to glucose deprivation. These substrates also immediately reversed the increase in chemoafferent activity caused by the absence of superfusate glucose. Thus, substrates capable of by-passing the glycolytic pathway and rapidly entering the TCA cycle to drive ATP synthesis effectively nullified any glucose free induced stimulation.

In the vast majority of recognised mammalian glucose sensors, cell activation or deactivation is achieved through the direct modulation of glycolysis and $[ATP]_i$ (211, 227, 232). Central to the control of glycolysis in these cells is the highly specialised enzyme glucokinase (211, 227-229, 361). Glucokinase has a very high K_m for glucose (approximately 8 mM) compared with all other hexokinases that are in the μ M range (215, 216). This ensures precise control of glycolysis over the full range of physiological glucose concentrations and makes these cells exquisitely sensitive to small fluctuations in plasma glucose (216).

In the CB, the absence of glucokinase in the type I cell (253) indicates that the rate of glycolysis will only begin to be impaired at very low concentrations of intracellular glucose. In the current study, the response to prolonged glucose deprivation was completely reversed by only 1 mM glucose. This strongly suggests that the stimulation was purely a consequence of time dependent run-down in glycolysis following the complete depletion of intracellular glucose. This could be the justification as to why a complete lack of chemoexcitation was observed in other intact CB preparations where 2 mM glucose was used as the low glucose stimulus (242, 243). Detection of a response only in the complete absence of glucose and not over a physiological range supports the proposal that the CB cannot function as an effective physiological glucose sensor.

5.3.3 The intact carotid body did not respond acutely to glucose deprivation; a role for glycogen

The central aim of the chapter was to characterise the response of the intact freshly isolated CB to prolonged glucose deprivation. The lack of an acute response to physiological low glucose has been described previously in this intact preparation (242, 247). Other different CB preparations appear to have a degree of intrinsic low glucose sensitivity (246, 248). It has been speculated that the apparent absence of low glucose sensitivity in the intact CB was due to the high level of PO₂ used in those investigations (248).

In experiments described in this thesis, the basal chemoafferent activity was adjusted to frequencies (0.25–1.5 Hz) consistent with those observed *in vivo* in arterial normoxia, in the rat (41). At this level of basal discharge frequency, exposure of the CB to glucose deprivation did not produce any further elevation in chemoafferent activity for at least 20 minutes. Increasing basal chemoafferent frequency to levels consistent with moderate hypoxia did reduce the time taken to respond. Even at these relatively high frequencies (6-8 Hz), the stimulation was still not rapid, taking at least 4 to 5 minutes to begin. In view of these findings it is suggested that the absence of low glucose sensitivity reported in previous studies was not a consequence of a high background PO₂. It could be argued that a PO₂ of 90 mmHg used on the monolayer of type I cells co-cultured with petrosal neurones (that showed intrinsic low glucose sensitivity) (248) is relatively hyperoxic compared to what these cells would be exposed to *in vivo*. Therefore, another mechanism independent of PO₂ must account for the low glucose sensitivity of these cultured type I cells.

Maintenance of basal chemoafferent discharge in glucose free conditions demonstrated that the CB tissue was able to sustain metabolic activity in the complete absence of extracellular substrate delivery. This is probably due to the presence of a significant level of intracellular metabolic reserve within either the type I cell, the afferent neurone or another neighbouring cell. In the complete absence of glucose uptake, glycogen metabolism would be fundamental for the preservation of glycolysis. In the brain tissue, astrocyte glycogen metabolism has been shown to increase during global ischaemia *in vivo* (362) and during glucose deprivation *in vitro* (355, 363). Functionally, regional escalations in astrocytic glycogenolysis have been shown to preserve central neuronal cell viability during glucose deprivation (364). It now appears that Schwann cell glycogen metabolism is essential in supporting the metabolism and function of peripheral myelinated neurones during prolonged glucose deprivation (358).

In this investigation, immunohistochemical analysis of CB sections positively identified both glycogen synthase I and glycogen phosphorylase BB in type I cell clusters. This implies that the type I cell is able to synthesise and metabolise glycogen. Pharmacological inhibition of glycogen phosphorylase significantly decreased the time taken for the CB to be stimulated by glucose deprivation. This outlined a functional role for glycogen in supporting chemoafferent function in the absence of external glucose consumption. However, the response was still not immediate, potentially signifying a residual degree of glycogen metabolism. A commercially available inhibitor selective for glycogen phosphorylase BB is not available and the DAB concentration used (100 μ M) may have not been sufficient to completely ablate glycogenolysis in this intact CB preparation. The concentration of 100 μ M DAB used was 5 fold higher than that previously shown to partially impair hepatocyte glycogenolysis, in order to try and overcome diffusion limitations present in this whole organ preparation. A very recent study showed that glycogen metabolism in Schwann cells was dramatically impaired using 1 mM DAB (358). These cells were also incubated for 2 hours in the presence of DAB before experimentation. On reflection, a similar concentration and time of incubation in DAB may have further reduced the time taken for the CB to respond to glucose deprivation and this would have more conclusively established a functional role for glycogen in the CB.

It is established that hypoxia increases the rate of glucose uptake into the CB and this is highly indicative of an increase in glycolysis and glucose utilisation (352). The key allosteric activator of glycogen phosphorylase BB is AMP (365). Potential hypoxia evoked increases in AMP (see Chapter 4) would favour the metabolism of glycogen in the CB. Together these two mechanisms are predicted to have enhanced CB glycogen depletion in severe hypoxia. It is proposed that this run-down of glycogen accounted for the dramatic reduction in time taken for the CB to be stimulated by glucose deprivation following exposure to severe hypoxia. During glucose free exposure, a diminished initial store of glycogen would be consistent with a more rapid run-down in glycolysis and a faster reduction in the cellular energy status. Direct biochemical measurements of tissue CB glycogen content were not made because of the exceedingly small quantity of tissue. Cellular quantification of glycogen may be estimated by use of electron microscopy (358). Using this method, future experiments may focus on monitoring CB glycogen content to confirm the presence of glycogen in type I or other cells and depletion following severe hypoxia, ischaemia or glucose deprivation.

5.3.4 Is the chemoafferent response to glucose deprivation of type I cell origin?

The chemoafferent response to prolonged glucose deprivation could be a consequence of type I cell depolarisation, Ca²⁺ influx and neurosecretion leading to an increase in post-synaptic action potential generation. Alternatively, the increase in frequency could be the outcome of an increase in afferent neuronal excitability independent of any type I cell activation.

The chemoafferent response to prolonged glucose free exposure is observed approximately 20–40 minutes after the initial exposure. Preliminary data presented in this chapter indicates that dissociated type I cells are not stimulated by glucose deprivation for at least 40 minutes. The reason for this discrepancy was not definitively resolved. The chemoafferent responses to glucose deprivation and hypoxia are both suggested as being highly dependent on a reduction in cellular energy status. If this metabolic stress acted through the type I cell following prolonged removal of superfusate glucose (as it does in hypoxia) then the degree of chemoafferent excitation evoked by hypoxia and glucose deprivation may be expected to be equivalent.

The findings from this chapter identified that the magnitude of enhanced chemoafferent activity observed during prolonged glucose deprivation was only approximately 15% of that induced by hypoxia. It may be that the signalling within the type I cell following a reduction in energy status is fundamentally different between hypoxia and glucose deprivation. This is highly unlikely given that AMPK is activated by hypoxia and glucose deprivation (5, 102). It is more probable that the response to glucose deprivation is purely of neuronal identity and this would account for the discrepancy between cellular and whole organ responses described in this chapter.

Prolonged glucose deprivation does stimulate peripheral neurones. Consistent with data from the current study, a rise in the rate of spontaneous axonal depolarisations was reported in neurones in the optic nerve 35 to 40 minutes following removal of superfusate glucose (366). Electron microscopy has detected glycogen like granules in both the synaptic and non-synaptic elements of the sensory nerve endings in the CB (367, 368). The proposal that the lack of an acute response to glucose free media was dependent on glycogen remains plausible even if the excitation is purely of neuronal origin. The type I cell may contain more glycogen than the afferent neurone. On the other hand, a more rapid run-down of glycogen in the nerve ending compared with the type I cell, in normoxia or hypoxia, could be due to the increase in energy demand relied upon to generate neuronal action potentials. Calculations derived from neuronal activity estimated that an augmentation in single fibre frequency from 0 to 6 Hz increased ATP consumption by 8 fold (369). Following faster glycogen depletion in the afferent neurone, glycolysis would be impaired leading to a metabolic compromise before having any effect on the type I cell. Linking a depression in cellular energy status with an elevation in neuronal excitability could be through impairment of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase but a mechanism of this nature is still to be confirmed.

5.3.5 The effect of low glucose on the carotid body response to acute hypoxia

The mitochondrial hypothesis puts forward that chemoexcitation in hypoxia is dependent on a reduction in electron transport and the induction of metabolic stress. In the intact CB acute glucose deprivation was unable to increase chemoafferent frequency in basal conditions. Glucose deprivation has been shown to augment the CB response to acute hypoxia *in vitro* without stimulating the CB in more normoxic conditions (249, 251). In this study, chemoexcitation evoked by hypoxia was slightly attenuated by glucose deprivation as evidenced by a small 'left shift' in the hypoxic response curve. The discharge frequency at any PO₂ was lower in the glucose free solutions and this became more exaggerated in more hypoxic conditions. [Ca²⁺]_i elevation in 0% O₂ was also inhibited in type I cells following 40 minutes of glucose deprivation.

A definitive explanation for this attenuation of the hypoxic response in glucose free conditions remains unidentified. Earlier findings in this thesis were consistent with the mitochondrial hypothesis and a hypoxia induced reduction in cellular energy status. However, the response to hypoxia may still require a significant amount of ATP consumption to drive many of the chemotransduction processes. An increase in ATP derived independently of the mitochondria may be attained by increased activation of adenylate kinase, or through an increase in the rate of glycolysis. The absence of extracellular glucose may have led to an inability to produce enough ATP through glycolysis to drive the full hypoxic response even when glycogen metabolism was maximal.

5.3.6 The effect of tissue incubation on the carotid body response to glucose deprivation

The data from the current study is consistent with those made in other studies indicating an absence of acute low glucose sensitivity in freshly isolated CB tissue (242, 243, 247, 249). Other studies using more long-term CB preparations including CB thin slices and co-cultures of type I cell clusters with petrosal neurones have reported rapid CB stimulation in response to low glucose (246, 248). Evidence from a recent investigation

showed that a single day of culture induced a degree of low glucose sensitivity in type I cells that was absent immediately following isolation (249).

The CB tissue that showed acute low glucose sensitivity appeared to have been cultured for a period of days under hyperoxic conditions. *In vitro* preparations incubated in hyperoxia are characterised by an increase in ROS production (370-372), an up regulation of anti-oxidant enzymes (373), DNA damage (374) and alterations in metabolism. More specifically, it has been reported that mitochondrial energy production is impaired by selective inhibition of succinate dehydrogenase and aconitase in the TCA cycle and ETC. It has been observed that hyperoxia induces a shift away from mitochondrial ATP generation in favour of anaerobic glycolysis (375). Pulmonary tissue exposed to hyperoxia for 7 days showed an increase in GLUT-1 and GLUT-4 mRNA and an increase in mRNA and protein expression of hexokinase II; both consistent with enhanced glucose utilisation (376). The same group also showed that ATP generated specifically through glycolysis was critical in maintaining lung tissue viability and preventing cell death in hyperoxia. Thus, it would seem that *in vitro* preparations exposed to prolonged periods of hyperoxia become more reliant on the availability of extracellular glucose uptake.

In this series of experiments, incubation of the whole CB organ in hyperoxia significantly decreased the time taken for it to be stimulated by glucose deprivation. The response time to glucose deprivation following 24 hours of hyperoxic incubation was only about 30% of that compared with freshly isolated tissue. These findings suggest that prolonged tissue incubation following isolation had a striking effect on the ability of the CB to maintain metabolism in the absence of superfusate glucose. Two hypotheses for

this are proposed. Firstly, incubation may have caused either a reduction in or an impairment of the capability of the organ to utilise metabolic glycogen reserves. Secondly, diminished TCA and ETC activity may have made the CB more dependent on glycolysis that generates far less ATP per molecule of glucose than total oxidative metabolism. 24 hour incubation either in lower PO₂ containing conditions or in the presence of Tempol (free radical scavenger) did not reverse the time of response of the CB to glucose deprivation. It is concluded that, in this instance, any variation in metabolic status seems to be independent of ROS generation.

The discrepancies in CB sensitivity to low glucose reported across a number of different investigations may be a consequence of two factors. Firstly, both groups that observed an acute sensitivity to low glucose used a method of decapitation before removing the CB tissue up to 5 minutes later. It is probable that this method caused a significant period of sustained ischaemia and severe hypoxia that increased CB metabolism and caused a dramatic reduction in metabolic glycogen reserves. Secondly, acute low glucose sensitivity was shown in tissue following a prolonged period (days) of incubation in conditions different to those *in vivo*. The acute low glucose sensitivity of this CB tissue is suggested as being a consequence of change in metabolic status of the cells following this incubation period leading to the total reliance on the extracellular glucose uptake for maintenance of glycolysis.

5.3.7 A role for the carotid body in glucose homeostasis

The findings described in this thesis are conceivably contradictory to previous reports, conclusively demonstrating that the CB is stimulated in hypoglycaemia *in vivo*. A number of studies have shown that CB activation has an important role in restoring plasma

glucose concentrations in response to hypoglycaemia, both in animals (240) and humans (241, 377). CB excitation in hypoglycaemia also appears to be fundamental in matching ventilation with the increase in metabolic rate and thereby preventing systemic acidosis (242, 243).

The global counter-regulatory response to hypoglycaemia is multi-faceted and highly integrated. Direct or indirect actions of hypoglycaemia include sympathetic activation (378), systemic hypokalaemia (379), cerebral vasodilatation (380), augmented ventilation and an increase in whole body metabolism (242). In addition, a number of counter-regulatory endocrine or neuro-endocrine factors are released into the systemic circulation including adrenaline, noradrenaline, cortisol and glucagon (245, 381). Consistent with the results identified in this thesis it is hypothesised that one of these factors released as a consequence of hypoglycaemia may stimulate the CB rather than low glucose per se. Of these the most probable CB activator may be a catecholamine given that a number of investigations have demonstrated that exogenous adrenaline and noradrenaline administration both elevated CSN activity and increased ventilation in vivo (382-384). This excitatory impact does however seem to show some inter-species variability, with intra-carotid administration of noradrenaline appearing to decrease ventilation in goats (385). Future experiments may aim to fully characterise the importance of adrenaline or noradrenaline in activating the CB and augmenting ventilation in hypoglycaemia. If catecholamines are found to stimulate the CB in humans then they may have an additional, and as yet unidentified, physiological role in enhancing ventilation during exercise.

5.3.8 Conclusions

The freshly isolated intact CB does not have an inherent sensitivity to physiological concentrations of low glucose and these observations indicate that it cannot act as a functional low glucose receptor in the whole animal. The maintenance of normal basal chemoafferent activity during glucose deprivation is supported by metabolism of glycogen to generate glucose that drives glycolysis. Prolonged glucose deprivation does evoke chemoafferent stimulation in the intact preparation and this is probably a consequence of a time dependent depletion in cellular energy status in the afferent neurone and not the type I cell. The intrinsic low glucose sensitivity described in other CB preparations is proposed as being dependent on an alteration of metabolic status subsequent to tissue ischaemia during surgery or following long term incubation *ex vivo*. These findings do not rule out a role for the CB in glucose homeostasis in the whole animal but suggest that the CB is activated indirectly by another blood-borne stimulus released as a consequence of the systemic hypoglycaemia and not directly by low glucose.

6. A functional role for adenosine derived from ecto-5'nucleotidase in mediating the carotid body responses to hypoxia, hypercapnia and mitochondrial inhibition.

6.1 Chapter introduction and overview

The previous three chapters have focused on the impact of changes in cellular energy status on initiating CB chemoafferent stimulation, either in hypoxia or prolonged glucose deprivation. The results presented in Chapters 3 and 4 indicate that ATP, ADP and AMP are important intracellular signalling molecules and determine the extent of type I cell stimulation by modifying AMPK activity in the presence of Lkb1. The final results chapter now switches to investigate the effect of extracellular ATP metabolism on CB function. ATP is recognised as an important excitatory neurotransmitter. Upon hypoxic or hypercapnic stimulation it is released from type I cells and acts on the post-synaptic membrane to induce action potential generation. ATP is highly unstable and in the presence of ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolyase 1 (CD39) and ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) it can be rapidly metabolised to form adenosine. Adenosine is a well established neuromodulator in the CNS but its effects in the CB are less well characterised. This chapter focuses on the potential of this 'pool' of extracellular adenosine, derived from ATP metabolism, to modulate CB excitability.

Previous studies have established that exogenous adenosine administration acutely increases the CSN firing frequency *in vivo* and *in vitro* (280-283). This stimulation is

coupled to an increase in minute ventilation (284, 285) and in humans augmentation of adenosine signalling has been shown to amplify sympathetic outflow in skeletal muscle subsequent to the increase in respiration (288). In hypoxia, pharmacological inhibition of adenosine receptors causes an attenuation of both the increase in CSN discharge frequency (291) and the acute phase of the ventilatory response *in vivo* (292). On isolated CB tissue, non-selective A₂ receptor antagonism by caffeine inhibits both the ³H-CA release and CSN activity under basal conditions and during hypoxic stimulation (297). It has been proposed that the importance of adenosine on modulating chemoafferent activity is most obvious in conditions of mild hypoxia (10).

The identification of significant levels of extracellular adenosine within the CB has been reported in normoxic/hyperoxic conditions and the degree of endogenous production is now known to increase in hypoxia (11). A recent study demonstrated that the increase in adenosine production under mild hypoxic conditions was not further amplified in extreme hypoxia (10).

Adenosine may also be generated within the actual type I cell through intracellular ATP catabolism. It may be released through the bidirectional nucleotide transporter ENT thereby contributing to the overall synaptic adenosine concentration (290). Pharmacological inhibition of ENT appears not to modify CB extracellular adenosine concentrations in normoxia, but does attenuate the increase in synaptic adenosine during hypoxia (11). The same study reported that CD73 deactivation with AOPCP significantly reduced adenosine concentrations in both normoxia and hypoxia. As yet the relative functional significance of intracellular and extracellular derived adenosine on CB sensory activity has not been defined in normoxia, hypoxia, hypercapnia or in response

to mild mitochondrial inhibition associated with sLTF in animals pre-conditioned with CIH (313). With this in mind the experiments in the current chapter were designed to examine the functional impact of adenosine derived specifically from CD73 on the CB basal discharge frequency and on the chemoafferent response to hypoxia. A role for adenosine produced purely from CD73 activity in establishing the stimulus threshold required for chemoafferent activation in response to mild mitochondrial inhibition and hypercapnia was also investigated in later sections.

The aims of the studies in this chapter are summarised below:

1. To establish if adenosine derived from CD73 was important in the generation of the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency in normoxia/hyperoxia.

2. To examine if CD73 activity was significant in eliciting peak chemoafferent responses to severe hypoxia or in modifying the sensitivity of the CB to graded hypoxia.

3. To investigate if chemoafferent stimulation evoked by mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ was altered by impaired adenosinergic signalling or reduced CD73 activity.

4. To study if the functional CB response to hypercapnia had any dependence on adenosine derived specifically from CD73 or on cAMP generated from transmembrane adenylate cyclase.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Neuromodulation of the carotid body response to hypoxia by adenosine generated from ecto-5'-nucleotidase

The first set of experiments in this chapter were designed to evaluate the functional significance of the CD73 derived adenosine on single fibre CSN activity under basal normoxic/hyperoxic conditions and in hypoxia.

Isolated intact CBs were superfused at a control PO₂ of 300 mmHg to establish an initial baseline firing frequency (Figure 6.1A). Although seemingly hyperoxic, it was hypothesised that due to the diffusion gradient across the tissue the PO₂ at the site of individual type I cell clusters would be significantly lower. The mean basal discharge frequency in 300 mmHg PO₂ was 0.58 ± 0.34 Hz (Figure 6.1B) and this value was consistent with *in vivo* recordings made in the rat in arterial normoxia. The superfusate PO₂ was then changed to a single fixed value of 60 mmHg (estimated as being severely hypoxic in the superfused intact CB preparation) to induce a maximal level of chemoafferent hypoxic discharge frequency. Paired experiments were performed in the presence and absence of 100 μ M α , β -methylene ADP (AOPCP), an inhibitor of CD73. This concentration was consistent with that previously used on the whole intact CB preparation and is known to decrease adenosine production in both normoxic and hypoxic conditions (11).

The impact of AOPCP under normoxic/hyperoxic (superfusate PO₂ of approximately 300 mmHg) conditions was striking and almost completely abolished the basal chemoafferent activity (Figure 6.1A and B). However, this level of inhibition was not

maintained in severe hypoxia as evidenced by the increase in discharge frequency evoked at a superfusate PO_2 of 60 mmHg being equivalent in the presence and absence of AOPCP (Figure 6.1C).

Further experiments examined a potential effect of CD73 generated adenosine on the chemoafferent response to graded hypoxia. Rather than switching to a single level of severe hypoxia, the superfusate PO₂ was slowly reduced from 300 mmHg to approximately 100 mmHg before being rapidly reversed to avoid potential organ damage or neurotransmitter depletion. A characteristic example of the discharge frequency recorded from a single fibre during graded hypoxia in the presence and absence of AOPCP is shown in Figure 6.2A. The individual hypoxic response curves obtained from the same fibre are plotted in Figure 6.2B, showing a characteristic reduction in the PO₂ threshold required for initiation of hypoxia response coupling evoked by concomitant application of AOPCP. The inhibition caused by AOPCP was rapidly reversible and the original response to hypoxia was almost fully recovered following removal of the agent from the superfusate (Figure 6.2A and B).

In order to quantify this change in PO₂ threshold or 'left shift', PO₂ values were calculated from the response curves when the discharge frequency was at 5 Hz, and compared in the presence and absence of AOPCP. This frequency was selected as it lies on the exponential region of the curve but is not at a point at which the response may have begun to decline (see Chapter 2). Grouped paired measurements showed that AOPCP significantly reduced the superfusate PO₂ required to elicit a discharge frequency of 5 Hz by a mean value of approximately 30 mmHg and this reduction was consistent across all fibres (Figure 6.2C). This emphasised a significant role for

extracellular adenosine generated from CD73 in establishing the set point for the initiation of CB response to hypoxia.

Detailed analysis of individual hypoxic response curves showed that the exponential rate constant was significantly elevated in the presence of AOPCP (0.054 ± 0.009) compared with the paired controls (0.038 ± 0.006 , n=8; paired t-test). This demonstrates that the rate of increase in discharge frequency upon onset of the response was greater in the presence of AOPCP. The shape of the response curve (an example of which is shown in Figure 6.2B) suggests that AOPCP effectively abolished the graded nature of chemoafferent response to hypoxia.

Data from individual response curves was used to calculate the difference in absolute discharge frequency in the presence of CD73 inhibition over a range of PO₂ values during hypoxia (Figure 6.2D). At all superfusate PO₂ levels between 300 and 100 mmHg, AOPCP depressed the single fibre discharge frequency. The magnitude of attenuation was significantly enhanced at PO₂ values of 125 and 100 mmHg (Figure 6.2D). Therefore, the absolute effect of CD73 inhibition on the chemoafferent activity exhibited a clear PO₂ dependence and this demonstrates that adenosine is significant in establishing the acute hypoxic sensitivity of the *in vitro* CB.







Figure 6.2 Adenosine generated from CD73 is important in establishing the hypoxic sensitivity of the *in vitro* carotid body.

A) Characteristic example of the response to graded hypoxia (300–100 mmHg PO₂) in the presence and absence of CD73 inhibition with AOPCP. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that collate single fibre action potentials in 10 s periods. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination from which the frequency was taken. B) Individual hypoxic response curves taken from the same fibre recorded in A), showing a reversible 'left shift' in the presence of AOPCP. C) PO₂ values for each fibre when the discharge frequency was at 5 Hz in the first control and following addition of AOPCP. D) Calculated mean difference in discharge frequency evoked by AOPCP over a range of superfusate PO₂ levels. The data presented is from 8 fibres from 5 CB preparations. Error bars indicate ± S.E.M. For C), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control PO₂; paired t-test. For D), + denotes P < 0.05 compared with the frequency difference at 300 mmHg PO₂; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis.

6.2.2 Neuromodulation of the carotid body response to nitrite by extracellular adenosine

Results from Section 6.2.1 demonstrated that adenosine derived from CD73 almost completely abolished basal chemoafferent discharge and altered the PO₂ threshold required for initiation of the response to hypoxia. These data support the idea that downstream effectors of adenosinergic signalling pathways are significant in establishing the hypoxic sensitivity of the CB. It was hypothesised that adenosine generated from CD73 may have a similar neuromodulatory role in regulating the CB sensitivity to other related or unrelated stimuli. As yet, the impact of adenosinergic signalling on the CB response to mitochondrial inhibition has not been investigated. Detailed examination of neuromodulators and their effects on CB responses to mild mitochondrial inhibitors may be of particular importance given that the sLTF associated following CIH is closely associated with mild inhibition of mitochondrial electron transport (313).

In these experiments, the rapidly reversible mitochondrial inhibitor nitrite (NO₂⁻) was used to induce moderate elevations in chemoafferent discharge frequency consistent with those frequencies observed in sLTF following CIH (313). The CB was exposed to 10 mM NO₂⁻ for 5 minutes and a mean discharge frequency was taken from the final minute, once a relatively stable level of excitation had been achieved (Figure 6.3A and B). The non-specific adenosine receptor antagonist 8-SPT (300 μ M) significantly diminished basal chemoafferent activity and attenuated the frequency attained upon stimulation with NO₂⁻ (Figure 6.3A and B). These inhibitory actions of 8-SPT were reversible as shown in the example trace in Figure 6.3A. The absolute increase in discharge frequency elicited by NO₂⁻ (NO₂⁻ – basal) in the presence of 8-SPT was
reduced in each fibre studied and the calculated mean NO₂⁻-induced frequency elevation with concurrent 8-SPT application was approximately 25% of that observed in control conditions (Figure 6.3C).

Inhibition of CD73 with 100 μ M AOPCP produced even more striking results. An example trace demonstrating the impact of AOPCP on the response to 10 mM NO₂⁻ is shown in Figure 6.4A. AOPCP almost completely abolished basal discharge and eradicated the response to NO₂⁻ (Figure 6.4B). In every fibre tested, the absolute elevation in discharge frequency evoked by NO₂⁻ (NO₂⁻ – basal) was almost completely ablated in the presence of AOPCP (Figure 6.4C). These data indicate that chemoafferent stimulation evoked by mild mitochondrial inhibition with 10 mM NO₂⁻ is critically dependent on receptor mediated actions of adenosine generated from CD73.



Figure 6.3 Adenosine receptor blockade attenuates the carotid body response to mitochondrial inhibition with 10 mM nitrite

A) Characteristic example recording of the response to nitrite (NO_2^-) in the presence and absence of the non-specific adenosine receptor antagonist 8-SPT. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that group single fibre action potentials in 10 s intervals. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to measure frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded under basal conditions and following addition of NO₂⁻, in control and following addition of 8-SPT. The data presented is from 8 fibres from 5 CB preparations. Error bars indicate \pm S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control frequency; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis test. C) Discharge frequency differences (NO₂⁻ – basal) for each fibre in the presence and absence of 8-SPT. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control frequency is paired t-test.



Figure 6.4 Adenosine derived from CD73 is a critical mediator of the carotid body response to mitochondrial inhibition with 10 mM nitrite.

A) Characteristic example recording of the response to nitrite (NO_2^{-}) in the presence and absence of the CD73 inhibitor AOPCP. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that group single fibre action potentials in 10 s periods. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to calculate the frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded under basal conditions and following addition of NO₂⁻, in control and following addition of AOPCP. The data presented is from 10 fibres from 5 CB preparations. Error bars indicate \pm S.E.M. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control frequency differences (NO₂⁻ – basal) for each fibre in the presence and absence of AOPCP. * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control frequency differences (NO₂⁻ – basal) for each fibre in the

6.2.3 Neuromodulation of the carotid body response to hypercapnia by extracellular adenosine

The importance of adenosine derived from CD73 on CB basal chemoafferent activity and responses to graded hypoxia or mild mitochondrial inhibition was observed in the previous two sections. These results are consistent with the idea that the neuromodulatory function of adenosine is to contribute to the resting excitability of the CB and to establish a threshold for activation in response to any stimulus. To investigate this idea further, measurements of chemoafferent activity were made in response to hypercapnia (another comparatively mild stimulus), in the presence and absence of pharmacological agents that impaired adenosinergic signalling pathways.

Experiments initially evaluated the effect of adenosine receptor antagonism on the chemoafferent response to hypercapnia. Addition of non-selective adenosine receptor antagonist 8-SPT (300 μ M) to the superfusate significantly diminished discharge frequency in both normocapnic (40 mmHg PCO₂) and hypercapnic conditions (80 mmHg PCO₂) (Figure 6.5A and B). Measurements from all fibres showed that the absolute increase in discharge frequency evoked by hypercapnia was significantly depressed in the presence of 8-SPT (Figure 6.5C). The calculated CO₂ sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂) following application of 8-SPT was approximately 20% of control (Figure 6.5D).

Selective inhibition of CD73 with 100 µM AOPCP almost completely abolished the single fibre discharge frequency recorded in both normocapnic and hypercapnic conditions (Figure 6.6A and B). This inhibitory effect was rapidly reversed once the drug was removed from the superfusate as demonstrated in the raw trace example in Figure 6.6A. Recordings from all single fibres showed that the absolute increase in discharge

frequency evoked by hypercapnia was decreased with AOPCP application compared with control (Figure 6.6C). The mean increase in discharge frequency in the presence of AOPCP upon hypercapnic stimulation was just above 0 Hz, demonstrating almost complete ablation of the response to hypercapnia (Figure 6.6C). Subsequent calculation of CO₂ sensitivity identified a remarkable reduction with AOPCP and again demonstrated that inhibitory targeting of adenosine derived from CD73 effectively abolished the functional response of the CB to hypercapnic stimulation (Figure 6.6D). In view of these findings, it is proposed that tonic generation of adenosine from CD73 has a functional role in establishing the CB sensitivity to hypercapnia.



Figure 6.5 Adenosine receptor blockade attenuates the carotid body response to hypercapnia. A) Characteristic example recording of the response to hypercapnia in the presence and absence of the non-specific adenosine receptor antagonist 8-SPT. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that group single fibre action potentials in 10 s periods. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to measure frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded in normocapnia (PCO₂ = 40 mmHg) and hypercapnia (PCO₂ = 80 mmHg), in control and following addition of 8-SPT. C) Discharge frequency differences (80–40 mmHg PCO₂) for each single fibre in the presence and absence of 8-SPT. D) Calculated mean CO₂ sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂) in control conditions and following 8-SPT application. The data presented is from 7 fibres from 3 CB preparations. Error bars indicate \pm S.E.M. For B), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. For C) and D), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; paired t-test.



Figure 6.6 Adenosine derived from CD73 is a critical neuromodulator of the carotid body chemoafferent response to hypercapnia.

A) Characteristic example recording of the response to hypercapnia in the presence and absence of the CD73 inhibitor AOPCP. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that group single fibre action potentials in 10 s intervals. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to measure frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded in normocapnia (PCO₂ = 40 mmHg) and hypercapnia (PCO₂ = 80 mmHg), in control conditions and following addition of AOPCP. C) Discharge frequency differences (80–40 mmHg PCO₂) for each fibre in the presence and absence of AOPCP. D) Calculated mean CO₂ sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂) in control conditions and following AOPCP drug application. The data presented is from 6 fibres from 5 CB preparations. Error bars indicate ± S.E.M. For B), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. For C) and D), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; paired t-test.

6.2.4 The impact of cAMP generated from transmembrane adenylate cyclase on the carotid body response to hypercapnia

The final experiments were designed to investigate the potential role of effectors downstream of adenosine A₂ receptors in mediating CB chemoafferent excitability. Stimulation of G-protein coupled adenosine A₂ receptors increases neuronal excitability by directly activating transmembrane adenylate cyclases (tmAC) and augmenting [cAMP]_i. The significant inhibitory effects of CD73 deactivation on basal chemoafferent activity and on responses to a number of stimuli described earlier in the section were hypothesised as being primarily due to a decrease in basal [cAMP]_i generation. Inhibition of tmAC has been shown previously to attenuate the response to hypoxia (386) and so was not studied in this section. However, the impact of direct inhibition of tmAC on the basal CB chemoafferent activity and on the functional sensory neuronal response to hypercapnia has not previously been examined.

Addition of the tmAC selective antagonist SQ22536 (200 μ M) (387) elicited a rapid reduction of the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency in normocapnic conditions in all fibres tested (Figure 6.7A and B). In addition, the absolute mean discharge frequency observed upon hypercapnic stimulation was significantly attenuated by SQ22536 (Figure 6.7A and B). This inhibitory action of SQ22536 on normocapnic and hypercapnic discharge frequency was reversed upon removal of the agent from the superfusate as shown in the raw trace example in Figure 6.7A. In all fibres, the absolute increase in discharge frequency evoked by hypercapnia was depressed in the presence of SQ22536 (Figure 6.7C). The calculated CO₂ sensitivity was significantly reduced by SQ22536, measuring only approximately 60% of the control CO₂ sensitivity (Figure 6.7D). These data identify a functional role for CAMP derived from tmAC in setting the basal chemoafferent discharge in normocapnia and in establishing a significant component of the CB sensitivity to hypercapnia.



Figure 6.7 Pharmacological inhibition of transmembrane adenylate cyclase attenuates basal chemoafferent activity and the response to hypercapnia.

A) Characteristic example recording of the response to hypercapnia in the presence and absence of the tmAC inhibitor SQ22536. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) that collate single fibre action potentials in 10 s periods. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination used to measure frequency. B) Mean discharge frequencies recorded under normocapnic (PCO₂ = 40 mmHg) and hypercapnic (PCO₂ = 80 mmHg), in control conditions and following addition of SQ22536. C) Discharge frequency differences (80–40 mmHg PCO₂) for each fibre in the presence and absence of SQ22536. D) Calculated mean CO₂ sensitivity (Δ Hz / mmHg PCO₂) in control conditions and following SQ22536 drug application. The data presented is from 7 fibres from 4 CB preparations. Error bars indicate ± S.E.M. For B), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; one way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. For C) and D), * denotes P < 0.05 compared with control group; paired t-test.

6.3 Chapter synopsis and discussion

6.3.1 Summary of key findings

The main findings of the current chapter are described as follows;

- Inhibition of the extracellular adenosine generated from CD73 almost completely abolished CB basal chemoafferent activity, significantly altered the set point for hypoxia stimulus response coupling and impaired hypoxic sensitivity, but did not change the absolute peak discharge frequency induced under severe hypoxic conditions.
- The CB response to mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ was significantly attenuated by non-selective adenosine receptor antagonism. Inhibition of extracellular adenosine derived from CD73 almost completely eradicated the CB excitation induced by NO₂⁻ in all fibres tested.
- Hypercapnia stimulus response coupling in the CB was markedly reduced by adenosine receptor blockade and was almost entirely removed in the absence of CD73 activity. Selective inhibitory targeting of transmembrane adenylate cyclase evoked a significant reduction in the CB basal chemoafferent activity and impaired the sensory response to hypercapnia.

6.3.2 The neuromodulatory actions of extracellular adenosine derived from ecto-5'-nucleotidase on the chemoafferent discharge frequency in normoxia

Findings from this study suggest that extracellular adenosine derived specifically from ATP and CD73 activity in normoxic/hyperoxic conditions is necessary for the generation of basal chemoafferent discharge frequency in the CB. A tonic release of ATP into interstitium from type I cells has been proposed previously, based upon findings that measurable amounts of ATP can be recovered from the superfusate of the whole organ following periods of relative normoxia (10). The same study reported that inhibition of CD73 with AOPCP evoked a 2-3 fold increase in extracellular ATP concentration in the same normoxic conditions, indicative of a very high rate of basal extracellular ATP catabolism. It was observed that production of adenosine in normoxia was dependent on CD73 activity and not on the ENT transporter.

The results described in this chapter show that this pool of adenosine is of critical functional importance for the maintenance of CSN activity *in vitro*. In view of this previously uncharacterised finding it is proposed that *in vivo* maintenance of adenosinergic pathways would be central to the respiratory drive arising from the CB in arterial normoxia.

6.3.3 The impact of adenosine on carotid body stimulation by hypoxia

Adenosine formation through extracellular purine catabolism by CD73 also seems to be of functional importance in mediating the CB response to hypoxia. CD73 inhibition attenuated the chemoafferent discharge frequency during the entire response to graded hypoxia (PO₂ approximately 300–100 mmHg). The degree of inhibition was enhanced in moderate hypoxia indicating that CD73 deactivation impairs the overall CB hypoxic sensitivity. That said, at a single level of very severe hypoxia (PO₂ approximately 60 mmHg) inhibition of CD73 did not depress the peak level of chemoafferent excitation. Collectively, these data imply that at any level of mild to moderate hypoxia, a restriction on the adenosinergic signalling pathways translates into a functional depression of the chemoafferent discharge frequency. Once a critical hypoxic threshold has been reached, this inhibition is overcome, allowing for the discharge frequency to increase, albeit at a lower PO₂. This is consistent with previous reports showing that the effect of A₂ receptor blockade was greater in mild to moderate hypoxic conditions than in a very severe hypoxic environment (10).

More detailed analysis of the parameters of the hypoxic response revealed that adenosine produced from CD73 is specifically important in setting the PO₂ threshold at which the response to hypoxia is initiated. This was demonstrated by all hypoxic response curves being 'left shifted' in the presence of the CD73 inhibitor AOPCP compared to their paired controls. This change in PO₂ threshold is also the most plausible explanation for the overall depression in CB hypoxic sensitivity. Whilst the initiation of the increase in discharge frequency occurred consistently at a lower PO₂ value, the actual rate of exponential increase following onset of the response was enhanced by the CD73 inhibition. The exaggerated augmentation of the exponential increase in discharge frequency produced response curves that lacked any significant gradation. This may have been because of a 'build up' of excitatory factors during the inhibitory phase, making the response to hypoxia more discrete rather than continuous. Taken together these data indicate that adenosine derived from CD73 is not only an important mediator in establishing the hypoxic sensitivity of the CB but its production also allows for the early phase of the chemoafferent response to hypoxia to be graded.

6.3.4 A role for adenosine derived from ecto-5'-nucleotidase on the carotid body sensory response to mild mitochondrial inhibition with nitrite

CB stimulation evoked by mitochondrial inhibition shares a number of the transduction processes known to be present in hypoxia signalling, including inhibition of TASK-like and TREK-1 conductances, Ca^{2+} influx and neurosecretion (18). It was predicted that attenuation of the adenosinergic signalling through targeting of CD73 would have a similar inhibitory action on the CB response to mitochondrial inhibition as with hypoxia. Previously, the neuromodulatory action of adenosine on the CB response to mild mitochondrial inhibition had not been studied. Chronic mild inhibition of mitochondrial complex I has been put forward as being central to the chronic increase in both CB basal activity and the response to hypoxia following CIH (313). Although the precise mechanism of NO_2^- induced mitochondrial inhibition may be different to that seen after CIH, it was used here to give a potential insight into the neuromodulatory actions of adenosine on a mild mitochondrial stimulus similar in magnitude to that observed following CIH.

Adenosine receptor antagonism and inhibition of CD73 both significantly depressed the level of chemoafferent excitation induced by NO₂⁻ and these findings are indicative of an important role for adenosine in mediating the CB response to mild mitochondrial inhibition. Attenuation by selective targeting of CD73 produced greater attenuation than that elicited by adenosine receptor antagonism alone. This suggests that at the dose of 8-SPT used in these studies, full antagonism of all adenosine receptors may not have been achieved or maintained throughout the entire protocols.

These findings also suggest that for chemoafferent responses to NO_2^{-1} to be preserved, generation of adenosine from extracellular rather than intracellular ATP catabolism is of more functional significance. Pharmacological inhibition of CD73 almost completely prevented the rise in chemoafferent discharge frequency induced by NO_2^{-1} . If adenosine produced within the type I cell and released through ENT was important in mediating CB excitability then a large component of this response would have been preserved even in the presence of CD73. Since this was not the case, it is proposed that adenosine released through ENT is not functionally significant under these circumstances. This could be confirmed in future experiments by demonstrating that the response to NO_2^{-1} is unaffected by pharmacological blockade of ENT.

These results do support the hypothesis that adenosine generated from CD73 significantly contributes to setting the chemosensitivity of the CB to mild mitochondrial inhibition. If adenosine has a similar role in mediating CB excitability following CIH then inhibitory targeting of CD73 may be able to partially reverse the sLTF. Future experiments may aim to characterise a role for adenosinergic signalling in modifying CB hypersensitivity in animals following CIH or CHF. Therapeutically, selective targeting of the CD73 within the synapse between the type I cell and afferent neurone may be necessary because of the other numerous essential physiological actions of adenosine that are also dependent on CD73 activity. Comprehensive characterisation of the downstream effector molecules involved in CB adenosinergic neuromodulation may allow for the development of alternative pharmacological agents that selectively reduce CB chemoafferent activity without provoking systemic complications.

6.3.5 The impact of adenosine and cAMP in establishing the carotid body sensitivity to hypercapnia and other related stimuli.

Chemoafferent excitation induced by hypercapnia (80 mmHg PCO₂) was significantly diminished by adenosine receptor antagonism and almost completely abolished by inhibition of CD73 activity. The suppressing effect caused by loss of CD73 activity was greater than that of adenosine receptor blockade. Consistent with Section 6.3.4, this was indicative of a failure of 8-SPT (at the concentration used) to evoke complete adenosine receptor antagonism throughout the entire protocols. The data also implies that extracellular generation of adenosine through CD73 activity, rather than adenosine release through ENT, was necessary for coupling hypercapnia to CB chemoafferent stimulation.

The findings described in this chapter identify an essential role for endogenous CD73 generated adenosine in establishing the sensitivity of the CB to hypercapnia. This was consistent with the impact of adenosine on mediating CB responses to mitochondrial inhibitors and hypoxia. These three stimuli share many of the same chemotransduction processes including TASK-like and TREK-1 channel inhibition, Ca^{2+} influx and neurosecretion (18). Synergistic interactions between the hypercapnic and hypoxic stimuli have been described in previous reports (46, 210), and in Chapter 3 it was shown for the first time that mitochondrial inhibition with NO_2^- potentiated the chemoafferent response to hypercapnia. The precise site of interaction remains unidentified but the generation of multiplicative responses may be a consequence of an up-regulation in some or all of the processes mentioned above. Given the close association between these stimuli it is probable that adenosine establishes the sensitivity to all three by acting

on the same as yet unidentified intracellular target directly involved in one of the shared chemotransduction mechanisms.

All cloned adenosine receptors are coupled to tmACs and receptor activation induces changes in [cAMP]_i (reviewed in (295).It is established that exogenous adenosine application increases the cAMP content of the intact *in vitro* CB (298). Elevations in cAMP content have also been identified in hypoxia and hypercapnia (206, 208). Inhibitory targeting of tmAC has recently been shown to attenuate CB ³H-DA secretion in response to hypoxia (386). In the present investigation, the same inhibitor of tmAC (SQ22536) significantly reduced the basal chemoafferent frequency and attenuated the CB response to hypercapnia. Collectively, these data suggest that cAMP is an important intermediate downstream signalling molecule that is involved in modulating basal CB excitability and in establishing the sensitivity of the CB to hypoxia and hypercapnia.

Full characterisation of the direct and indirect intracellular targets of cAMP is yet to be fully resolved. It has been proposed that within the CB type I cell the activity of PKA and EPAC is enhanced in response to increased levels of cAMP (299, 386). Exogenous adenosine also directly attenuates the TASK-like K⁺ current (299). A depression in TASK-like current has been previously implicated in both hypoxic and hypercapnic signalling in the CB. PKA phosphorylation of the TASK-like channels could potentially impair K⁺ current in a similar manner to that observed in the presence of AMPK (88). Thus, the importance of adenosine derived from CD73 in mediating basal CB excitability and in establishing the CB sensitivity to hypoxia and hypercapnia may be conferred through selective attenuation of the TASK-like current. Whether PKA or EPAC directly

modifies TASK-like or other channels in the CB is unknown and may be the focus of future investigations.

In addition, the observed functional impact of adenosine on CB function may be in part due to the activation of A_{2A} receptors on the post-synaptic chemoafferent neurone (297). Post-synaptic A_{2A} mediated modification of chemoafferent neuronal activity is likely to involve alterations in [cAMP]_i and activation of downstream targets such as PKA and PKC, consistent with the excitatory adenosinergic signalling pathways that have been characterised in a number of different regions in the CNS (388). The consequence of variations in [cAMP]_i on post-synaptic chemoafferent neuronal excitability has not been reported in the CB and may be the subject of future studies.

6.3.6 Justification of drug concentrations

Conclusions from the present work are based on the selectivity of the drugs used. Drug types and concentrations were chosen primarily, based on previous work performed in the CB field, but also to overcome potential diffusion distance limitations known to be present in the whole intact CB preparation. A dose of 100 μ M AOPCP was chosen as this concentration has been shown previously to decrease adenosine generation in both normoxic and hypoxic conditions in the intact CB preparation (11). 8-SPT was used at 300 μ M, the same concentration previously reported to decrease the chemoafferent response to AICAR in the intact CB preparation (88). Importantly, in superfused arterial ring preparations, similar concentrations of 8-SPT (100–300 μ M) have been demonstrated to inhibit responses to adenosine whilst allowing for responses to ATP or ATP analogues to remain intact, indicative of adenosine receptor selectivity (389, 390).

preparations (299, 386, 391). The concentration used in this study (200 µM) was 2-3 times greater than that used on type I cells in previous studies in order to overcome diffusion limitations. Despite this relatively high concentration, the smaller inhibitory effect of SQ22536 compared with AOPCP and 8-SPT is maybe suggestive of a degree of incomplete tmAC saturation. Given that the CB expresses mRNA for 9 isoforms of tmAC (Nunes et al, unpublished findings) it is plausible to suggest that SQ22536 may not have caused full inhibition of each tmAC isoform activated by adenosine because of varying selectivity towards each subtype. Other similar non-selective tmAC inhibitors are available and future experiments could be performed using a combination of these agents to confirm the importance of tmAC derived cAMP in modulating CB excitability.

6.3.7 Conclusions

Endogenous adenosine produced from extracellular catabolism of ATP in the presence of ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) is necessary for the generation of a basal chemoafferent discharge frequency. This source of adenosine is also significant in establishing the sensitivity of the CB to mitochondrial inhibition, hypoxia and hypercapnia. The excitatory actions of adenosine are most likely to be mediated through changes in [cAMP]_i. Comprehensive characterisation of adenosinergic signalling pathways inherent within the CB needs to be evaluated further.

7. Overall discussion

7.1 General summary of key findings

A key finding in the studies described in this thesis is that mild mitochondrial inhibition with exogenous NO₂⁻ increased the sensitivity of the CB to hypoxia. An interaction of this nature has been previously uncharacterised and these results provide direct evidence showing that modification of mitochondrial function is integral to CB O₂ sensing. Subsequent studies showed that the chemoafferent response to hypoxia was almost completely abolished in CBs isolated from mice deficient in Lkb1. Lkb1 is recognised as the essential kinase required to achieve full activation of AMPK, a protein widely regarded as the sensor of cellular energy status. The observations described in this report strongly suggest that activation of the Lkb1-AMPK signalling cascade is the fundamental process that couples hypoxia induced mitochondrial inhibition with type I cell depolarisation and stimulation. A mechanism of this type unifies the two previously described 'mitochondrial' and 'membrane' hypotheses for CB hypoxia sensing.

Despite the close association between impaired cellular metabolism and CB stimulation, further observations demonstrated that the freshly isolated intact CB was not acutely sensitive to glucose deprivation. This confirms previous reports suggesting that the CB is highly unlikely to act as a physiological gluco-sensor. The ability for the CB to sustain basal chemoafferent activity in the absence of glucose was found to be dependent on the metabolism of glycogen. The chemoafferent stimulation described in response to prolonged glucose deprivation was consistent with a time dependent run-down in glycogen and a complete inhibition of glycolysis. A significant change in the metabolic status or glycogen content of the type I cell or afferent neurone may account for the acute sensitivity to low glucose observed in other long-term culture CB preparations. These data also demonstrate, for the first time, an energy store in type I cells that might account for its ability to sustain activity during high and/or prolonged periods of stimulation. In addition, the potentially labile nature of this store, under *in vitro* conditions, might account for the qualitative discrepancies in the literature regarding the response of the CB to glucose deprivation.

The final set of experiments showed that pharmacological deactivation of CD73 led to the obliteration of basal CB chemoafferent activity, decreased the hypoxic sensitivity and completely abolished the responses to hypercapnia and mild mitochondrial inhibition. This indicates that extracellular catabolism of ATP is the main source of adenosine within the CB in normoxia and that tonic generation of adenosine acts to establish the overall sensitivity of the CB to a number of different physiological stimuli. Future development of clinical interventions targeted to selectively modify CD73 activity or adenosinergic signalling within the CB may be used to reduce the increase in chemoafferent activity associated with certain pathologies.

7.2 The carotid body mitochondrion as an acute O₂ sensor

The fundamental feature of the CB is its ability to produce functional responses to reductions in P_aO_2 before the whole body metabolism is irreversibly impaired. In this way, the CB must have a highly specialised acute O_2 sensing mechanism that is

activated before the P_aO₂ falls to levels that begin to reduce mitochondrial electron transport and ATP generation in other cell types. It is recognised that mitochondrial poisons in the absence of hypoxia, are able to evoke CB stimulation. Observations from Chapter 3 emphasised that the extent of chemoafferent excitation was closely associated with the degree of mitochondrial inhibition. More importantly, additional results showed that mild inhibition of the type I cell mitochondria using exogenous NO₂⁻ sensitised the CB to hypoxia. In the presence of NO₂⁻, functional chemoafferent responses to hypoxia were initiated at higher PO₂ values. When applied simultaneously, these two stimuli generated multiplicative, rather than additive responses indicative of a significant degree of stimulus interaction. In view of these findings it is proposed that inhibition of type I cell mitochondrial function is the fundamental mechanism required for initiation of the CB response to hypoxia.

The type I cell mitochondria appear to have a uniquely low affinity for O₂. Previous experiments have detected a degree of mitochondrial depolarisation and attenuation of electron transport at PO₂ levels as high as 40 mmHg (4, 56). This suggests that type I cell mitochondrial function will start to be impaired at PO₂s significantly above those that would begin to reduce mitochondrial activity in other cell types. This feature is highly significant because it identifies a precise mechanism by which the type I cell can be exquisitively sensitive to relatively small reductions in PO₂.

But why does the type I cell mitochondrion have such a low affinity for O_2 ? It has been previously reported that cytochrome a_3 in complex IV in the CB was reduced at PO_2 values between 40 and 80 mmHg (3). This perhaps indicates that the CB possesses a unique isoform of cytochrome a_3 with a configuration that makes binding of O_2 to the

 Cu_B /haem a_3 binuclear centre much less favourable. Alternatively, another endogenously produced factor may act to impair O_2 binding at this site. Exogenous $NO_2^$ was used in this study because of its unique potential to generate NO locally at the mitochondria. Observations from Chapter 3 were consistent with the excitatory actions of NO_2^- being a consequence of initial NO formation and impairment of mitochondrial function. This implies that if enough endogenous NO is produced locally at the mitochondria (either through NOS or NO_2^-) then it may act to reduce the affinity of cytochrome a_3 for O_2 in complex IV. However, a physiological role for endogenous NO in modifying type I cell mitochondrial activity is yet to be confirmed.

7.3 Lkb1-AMPK signalling as a fundamental process that couples hypoxia to chemoafferent excitation

Experiments performed in Chapter 4 aimed to characterise a component of the signalling process that couples hypoxia induced mitochondrial impairment with chemoafferent stimulation. It was observed that conditional deletion of Lkb1 almost completely ablated the CB chemoafferent response to hypoxia. This suggests that Lkb1 is necessary for eliciting CB activation in hypoxia.

The best characterised function of Lkb1 is its ability to phosphorylate the Thr 172 residue in the activation loop on the catalytic α subunit of AMPK, thereby promoting activation. Lkb1 mediated phosphorylation is recognised as the essential step required for complete activation of AMPK. AMPK is widely regarded as the global sensor of cellular energy status because its activity is tightly regulated by the relative intracellular concentration of adenosine nucleotides, and in particular the AMP:ATP ratio. In the CB,

impairment of mitochondrial electron transport in hypoxia has the potential to cause a reduction in [ATP]_i, through decreased ATP synthesis, and an increase in [AMP]_i, subsequent to activation of adenylate kinase. It is proposed that, as long as Lkb1 is functional, an increase in the AMP:ATP ratio would account for activation of AMPK following a depression in mitochondrial energy metabolism in hypoxia.

Previous studies have shown that AMPK activation with AICAR stimulates CB chemoafferent activity and this effect is associated with type I cell depolarisation and Ca²⁺ influx (5, 88). The direct targets of AMPK in the type I cell appear to be a number of different K⁺ channels including TASK, TREK-1 and BK_{Ca}, all of which have been implicated in CB O₂ sensing (5, 29, 88). Proposed deactivation of AMPK by Compound C is known to partially attenuate the chemoafferent response to hypoxia by approximately 50% (88). The results presented in this thesis (utilising genetic technology to entirely diminish Lkb1-AMPK signalling) are more conclusive and indicate that activation of AMPK by Lkb1 phosphorylation is the essential process that couples mitochondrial induced metabolic stress with CB activation in hypoxia.

7.4 The importance of glycogen metabolism in the carotid body upon exposure to glucose deprivation

The findings described in Chapter 5 clearly establish that the freshly isolated intact CB is not acutely sensitive to glucose deprivation. A significant chemoafferent response was recorded, but only after approximately 20-40 minutes of exposure to the glucose free stimulus. In preliminary experiments, isolated type I cells did not exhibit any excitation in response to glucose deprivation even after 40 minutes of exposure. It is therefore proposed that the CB cannot function as a physiological low glucose sensor *in vivo*.

The preservation of normal chemoafferent activity in glucose free conditions suggests that the CB is able to maintain metabolic status in the absence of extracellular substrate delivery. This is based on findings from previous chapters clearly suggesting that a reduction in mitochondrial activity and cellular energy status would lead directly to Lkb1-AMPK activation and CB excitation. The reason for this apparent lack of metabolic stress in glucose free conditions was shown to be dependent on the metabolism of glycogen, allowing for the maintenance of glycolysis and sufficient acetyl CoA delivery into the mitochondria. Pharmacological inhibition of glycogen phosphorylase activity or proposed AMP mediated depletion of glycogen during periods of severe hypoxia, both significantly reduced the time taken for the CB to respond to glucose free exposure was rapidly reversed by only 1 mM glucose or by addition of lactate and pyruvate. This supported the idea that the CB was only stimulated in response to a depleted cellular energy status following complete inhibition of glycolysis and exhaustion of glycogen reserves.

These findings are in direct contrast with others that have shown a direct sensitivity of the CB to low glucose (246, 248). The reason for these clear discrepancies may be dependent on a variation in metabolic status of the CB tissue used across all of the different *in vitro* preparations. In the investigations performed by Pardal et al. (246) and Zhang et al. (248) the CB was only isolated up to 5 minutes after decapitation. This is likely to have subjected the CB tissue to a period of severe ischaemia and hypoxia and

consequentially may have significantly depleted glycogen stores. This may have made the CB much more sensitive to a reduction in extracellular glucose concentration. Furthermore, a sensitivity to low glucose reported in these same studies was only observed in CB tissue following periods of long term (between 3 and 7 days) hyperoxic incubation. The evidence presented in Chapter 5 identified a significant reduction in the time taken to respond to glucose deprivation 18-24 hours after removal of the CB from the animal. A reason for this change remained unidentified although it appeared not to be dependent on hyperoxic induced ROS generation. Nevertheless, long term incubation does seem to be important in altering the CB sensitivity to low glucose and this may significantly account for the findings reported in other investigations.

7.5 Adenosine derived from ecto-5'-nucleotidase as an important neuromodulator in the carotid body

The main focus of the final results chapter was to examine the potential impact of adenosine on CB function. ATP is not only a metabolic signalling molecule in the CB, it is also an important excitatory neurotransmitter that evokes depolarisation in the adjacent chemoafferent neurone leading to post-synaptic action potential generation. Following release, extracellular catabolism of ATP in the presence of CD39 and CD73 has the added potential to rapidly form a significant pool of extracellular adenosine.

Initial studies found that pharmacological inhibition of CD73 failed to depress the chemoafferent responses to a single level of very severe hypoxia. However, more detailed analysis of graded chemoafferent hypoxic response curves revealed that deactivation of CD73 significantly impaired CB hypoxic sensitivity. This was achieved by

altering the threshold required for hypoxic response initiation. In other words the PO_2 at which the CB began to respond was lower in the absence of adenosine derived from CD73. These observations provide direct evidence supporting the proposal that adenosine generated from extracellular catabolism of ATP in the presence of CD73 has an important role in establishing the sensitivity of the CB to hypoxia.

The impact of CD73 antagonism on basal CB activity and on responses to more moderate stimuli was even more striking. The basal chemoafferent discharge frequency was obliterated following inhibition of CD73. The sensory responses to hypercapnia and a moderate dose of NO_2^- were almost entirely abolished. This establishes that adenosine is tonically produced from CD73 and is essential in generating the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency. Adenosine also seems to have a critical functional role in setting the threshold at which the CB begins to respond to a number of different stimuli.

Adenosine is likely to act through stimulation of A₂ receptors leading to an increase in cAMP production from tmACs. Similar inhibitory effects on CB basal activity and on responses to hypercapnia were observed in the presence of adenosine receptor blockade and upon non-specific antagonism of tmACs. Previous studies have also reported that the same inhibitor of tmAC (SQ22536) attenuated the CB response to a single level of hypoxia (386). In view of these observations, it is proposed that cAMP has a vital role in regulating the basal CB excitability and in part controls the stimulus intensity threshold required for response initiation. The downstream targets of cAMP were not identified in this project. Intermediate activation of PKA and/or EPAC may be of significance given their established association with cAMP. However, the ultimate target

is likely to be common to the pathways involved in sensing hypoxia and hypercapnia and additionally, the target must be active under basal conditions. Modification of adenosinergic signalling or of the as yet unidentified downstream targets of cAMP may prove to be important in reversing the hyperexcitability of the CB in CHF or following CIH.

7.6 Key method limitations

7.6.1 Carotid body isolation

All of the experiments described in this thesis were performed *in vitro*, on CB tissue or cells following surgical isolation of the intact organ from the animal. In all surgeries, the CB was harvested only after the CCA had been clamped. The organ would have been exposed to a short period of ischaemia, hypoxia and potentially acidosis, all likely to have induced intense CB stimulation. This may have evoked an irreversible depletion of neurotransmitter stores and glycogen content and in some cases may have brought about permanent cell damage or even necrosis. To limit the time of ischaemia, CB tissue was isolated as rapidly as possible and within 30 seconds of clamping of the CCA. However, it is predicted that chemoafferent responses recorded *in vitro* would not have absolutely corresponded to the equivalent responses had they been measured *in vitro*.

7.6.2 The in vitro superfused whole organ carotid body preparation

The majority of studies in this report were performed using the *in vitro* superfused intact carotid body preparation. This is a widely used preparation and it allows for the maintenance of structural organ integrity. However, gases, substrates or drugs must

diffuse or be transported across the whole organ from the external superfusate in order to reach the cellular targets within the tissue. As a consequence of potential diffusion or transport limitations, superfusate recordings of PO₂s, PCO₂s and drug concentrations may not have accurately reflected the actual levels that the individual type I cells were exposed to.

It has been estimated that in the intact rat CB preparation in vitro (approximately 200-300 μ m diameter), the maximum difference between the superfusate PO₂ at the CB surface and the tissue PO_2 at the centre of the CB was approximately 80 mmHg (48). Therefore, the actual PO₂ at the level of a type I cell cluster may be up to 80 mmHg lower than the recorded superfusate PO₂. Impairment of O₂ diffusion may be amplified further depending on the amount of connective tissue and fat that surrounds the surface of the CB capsule. In order to ensure adequate metabolism for all cells, basal chemoafferent discharge frequency (unless stated otherwise, as in Chapter 5) was determined at a superfusate PO₂ of 300 mmHg in the rat CB and 200 mmHg in the mouse CB (assumed to have a smaller diameter). There is a strong possibility that a number of cells would have been exposed to hyperoxia under these conditions. The term 'basal discharge frequency' described in this thesis is only used as a representation of spontaneous CB activity and should not be thought of as the absolute frequency that would be expected in normoxia. However, because of the known shape of the chemoafferent PO₂ response curve (see Chapter 2), these values are hypothesised as being similar.

In all experiments described in this thesis, the superfusate PO₂ at which the chemoafferent response to hypoxia was initiated was consistent with the range reported

in previous studies using the *in vitro* mouse (132) and rat (46) CB preparations. The hypoxic response curves generated from these superfused *in vitro* CB preparations seem to be relatively 'right shifted' compared to those obtained *in vivo*. This apparent discrepancy is most likely a consequence of the PO₂ diffusion limitations present across the whole organ.

The position of a single chemoafferent response curve in relation to the superfusate PO_2 will depend on the relative depth of the type I cell cluster and chemoafferent neurone within the CB. This ensures that for a single CB preparation, PO_2 responses curves may be observed over a wide range of different PO_2s . Therefore, for the majority of studies, the PO_2 response curves calculated in the presence and absence of exogenous drug applications were made from recordings of the same chemoafferent fibre (innervating the same type I cluster). This ensured that data was 'paired' and that the conclusions were based on the impact of the drug on CB function and not on inconsistencies in the PO_2 across the whole tissue.

A number of the conclusions formed in this thesis are largely based on the action of exogenous pharmacological agents. Drug types and concentrations were chosen primarily based on precedents established in previous work performed in the CB field. In some cases higher concentrations were used than have been reported in the literature. This was to overcome the potential diffusion and transport limitations across the CB tissue. The absolute drug concentration that type I cells were exposed to when the chemoafferent discharge frequency was being recorded was unable to be determined. Therefore, these results should be viewed with some caution because of the potential partial or non-selective actions of the agents used.

7.7 Future experiments

7.7.1 Characterisation of the carotid body mitochondrial complex IV

In view of the results from this thesis and others, it is suggested that O₂ in the CB type I cell is detected at the level of the mitochondria and specifically within complex IV. The unique low affinity binding of O₂ to complex IV could be related to the expression of cell type specific mitochondrial isozymes of the O₂ sensitive proteins. A key experiment would be to characterise the phenotype of the type I cell mitochondria. This could be done by initially extracting mRNA from dissociated CB type I cells. As comparators, mRNA would be extracted from rat liver (often used for mitochondrial studies, and represents a 'standard' and well-defined mitochondrial phenotype) and adrenal medullary cells. These mRNA samples would be subjected to transcriptomic analysis. Gene expression data would be analysed and based on databases of mitochondrial proteins altered isozyme mRNA expression in type I cells in comparison to liver and adrenal medullary cells could be detected.

Data from this transcriptomic study would provide a 'model' isozyme profile of the electron transport chain (and in particular complex IV) in type I cells compared to both liver and adrenal medullary cells. Then, using siRNA and expression constructs, the adrenal medullary isozyme expression profile would be altered to mimic the type I cell, starting with single component changes in complex IV. Having confirmed the correct profile, changes in the mitochondrial function and excitability of the adrenal medullary cells in response to O_2 would be examined to see whether this had been altered to mimic the type I cell phenotype.

Alternatively, the low affinity binding of O₂ in complex IV may be mediated by some other extra-mitochondrial factor. A potential candidate identified from studies in this thesis is NO. Whether or not endogenous NO sets the mitochondrial O₂ sensitivity remains to be determined. Interestingly, hypoxic ventilatory responses appear to be attenuated in NOS-3 deficient mice, suggestive of a reduction in CB hypoxic sensitivity. Future studies using isolated CB tissue could examine whether mitochondrial sensitivity to O₂ is altered in these NOS-3 KO mice and if so, is this coupled to an attenuation of the functional chemoafferent response to hypoxia? Conditional deletion of NOS-3 in cells expressing TH would be achieved by use of Cre-Lox recombination technology similar to that described in Chapter 4. This would eliminate the potential confounding complication of chronic local vasoconstriction and chronic hypoxia from birth, a condition also known to impair acute CB hypoxic sensitivity.

7.7.2 Confirmation of AMPK as the link between the mitochondria and K⁺ channels

The data presented in this thesis strongly supports the hypothesis that activation of Lkb1-AMPK signalling subsequent to the hypoxia induced impairment of mitochondrial energy metabolism couples directly to CB stimulation. This was based on observations from experiments identifying a powerful attenuation of hypoxic sensitivity in CBs deficient in Lkb1, the essential kinase required to activate AMPK. However, since the STRAD-Lkb1-MO25 complex is known to phosphorylate a total of 13 kinases (348), it is possible that the loss of hypoxic sensitivity was achieved through the diminished activity of any one of these other proteins.

To confirm the role of AMPK in O_2 sensing, similar experiments to those described in Chapter 4 should be performed on CBs isolated from mice deficient in AMPK. Total global AMPK deficiency is embryonic lethal and so again the use of Cre-Lox recombination technology would be used to conditionally delete AMPK expression in cells only expressing TH. Single KO of the α 1 subunit may not be sufficient to completely obliterate AMPK activity because of the potential for compensatory upregulation of the α 2 subunit. Development of a conditional α 1, α 2 double AMPK KO mouse model would be required. In addition to recordings of CB chemoafferent activity, measurements of whole animal ventilation and type I cell [Ca²⁺]_i elevations in response to hypoxia could be made to further confirm the importance of AMPK in CB O₂ sensing. Techniques required for the successful generation of the conditional α 1, α 2 double AMPK KO mouse are currently in development.

7.7.3 Identification of a molecular mechanism involved in carotid body plasticity

Both CHF and CIH have been shown to alter the O₂ sensitivity of type I cells. This could be due to transcriptional modifications such as changes in isozyme expression or posttranslational mechanisms, such as protein S-nitrosation or carbonylation. Evidence suggests that a reduction in mitochondrial complex I activity subsequent to ROS generation from NOX-2 may underpin this CB hyperexcitability following CIH. A similar mechanism is likely to exist in the type I cell during CHF. Importantly, this tonic deactivation of complex I may induce chronic cellular metabolic stress leading to a chronic increase in the expression or activity of Lkb1-AMPK signalling. Experiments performed on type I cells or CBs from mice deficient in Lkb1 or AMPK following preconditioning with CIH would demonstrate whether Lkb1-AMPK activation is necessary to induce sLTF. If this is found to be the case then inhibitory targeting of Lkb1-AMPK may act to attenuate CB hypersensitivity in CHF or following CIH.

7.7.4 Characterising the downstream targets of adenosine and cAMP in the carotid body type I cell

The results described in Chapter 6 suggest that adenosine is an important excitatory neuromodulator of CB chemoafferent activity. The impact of adenosine on type I cell function is predicted to be mediated through changes in cellular [cAMP]. All of the downstream targets of cAMP are yet to be comprehensively characterised in the type I cell. Two intermediate effector candidates are PKA and EPAC, both known to be stimulated by cAMP. Initially, inhibitors of PKA and/or EPAC would be used to see if they mimicked the inhibitory effect of CD73 antagonism on CB chemoafferent activity, thereby resolving whether PKA or EPAC were involved in establishing the CB sensitivity to physiological stimuli. Potentially PKA could phosphorylate a number of different proteins or channels in the CB including TASK-1, TASK-3, TREK-1, or BK_{Ca}. Western blot analysis using phosphorylation specific antibodies could be implemented to identify these potential modifications. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of PKA in type I cells could be used to identify whether phosphorylation of any of these channels directly impairs their K⁺ conductance. Characterisation of a PKA mediated attenuation of the background K⁺ current in normoxia may explain how adenosine is able to regulate basal chemoafferent activity and establish the threshold at which the CB begins to respond to a number of different physiological stimuli.

7.8 Concluding remarks

Augmentation of the sensory chemoafferent activity originating in the CB both under basal conditions and in response to hypoxia is becoming more apparent in a wide number of pathologies including SDB, CHF and essential/spontaneous hypertension (2). Up-regulation of the downstream reflex pathways tightly associated with CB stimulation in these disease states leads to a chronic increase in sympatho-adrenal activation, an elevation in baseline vascular tone and the progression of hypertension (392). Selective targeting of the CB using pharmacological agents to reduce chemoafferent outflow may therefore be crucial for restricting the development of hypertension and cardiovascular complications in these patient populations.

The development of therapeutic agents for use in clinical practice has, however, been limited due to the fact that the identity of the type I cell specific O₂ sensor and its associated downstream effectors have remained elusive. The primary experiments in the present study were designed to generate findings that advance the understanding of the precise mechanisms underpinning CB activation by hypoxia.

The results presented in this thesis demonstrate that a reduction in type I cell mitochondrial electron transport by NO_2^- directly enhances the sensitivity of the CB to hypoxia. These findings provide evidence suggesting that mitochondrial function lies at the centre of CB O_2 sensing. More specifically the results strengthen the hypothesis that the first step in the CB hypoxia stimulus response coupling process is a reduction in mitochondrial energy respiration following an impaired binding of O_2 to the Cu_B / haem a_3 binuclear centre within complex IV. Further studies indicate that activation of the Lkb1-AMPK signalling pathway (subsequent to an increase in the AMP:ATP ratio)

appears to be the key step in linking a decrease in mitochondrial function with type I cell stimulation in hypoxia. A degree of Lkb1 mediated phosphorylation of AMPK in normoxia also seems to be necessary for the generation of basal chemoafferent discharge frequency. It is predicted that future development of therapeutic agents able to selectively target and deactivate Lkb1 or AMPK in the type I cell may prove to be clinically important in reducing the augmented chemoafferent activity in certain pathologies.

In addition to hypoxia, the CB may be stimulated by a number of other external stimuli such as hypercapnia and acidosis (393). Although there is strong evidence implying that the CB is involved in systemic glucose homeostasis, the findings described in this thesis indicate a lack of intrinsic low glucose sensitivity in the type I cell. The maintenance of cellular energy status in the complete absence of external glucose consumption seems to be achieved by the metabolism of stored glycogen. This raises the intriguing question as to what factor, released as a consequence of systemic hypoglycaemia, stimulates the CB, thereby promoting the downstream reflex increase in blood glucose. This may be the focus of future investigations and could be of significant clinical importance given the rapid emergence of diseases associated with dysfunctional systemic glucose regulation.

Chemoafferent signalling into the NTS may also be modified by a host of different neurotransmitters and neuromodulators. The final chapter in this thesis identifies an important and novel functional role for endogenous adenosine, derived specifically from extracellular catabolism of ATP, in mediating basal chemoafferent outflow and in establishing the CB sensitivity to multiple related stimuli. The results suggest that the tonic production of adenosine in this manner acts to prime the CB to subsequent
stimulation. Future comprehensive characterisation of the adenosinergic pathways present in the CB may allow for the development of pharmacological agents capable of suppressing the increase in chemoafferent activity in patients with SDB, CHF and spontaneous/essential hypertension without impacting on other organ systems. All of the key findings described in this thesis are summarised in Figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1 Summary of key findings.

Carotid body (CB) activation is tightly coupled to a decrease in cellular energy status. In hypoxia, an increase in the AMP:ATP ratio enhances AMPK phosphorylation by Lkb1 thereby activating downstream chemotransduction processes necessary to elevate the chemoafferent fibre discharge frequency. Type I cell mitochondrial function can be impaired by NO generated directly from NO₂⁻. Mild mitochondrial inhibition with NO₂⁻ enhances the sensitivity of the CB to hypoxia. This suggests that the elevation in the AMP:ATP ratio required to stimulate Lkb1-AMPK in hypoxia is a secondary consequence of a reduction in mitochondrial electron transport and ATP synthesis. In response to glucose deprivation, metabolism of glycogen acts to maintain substrate delivery into the mitochondria allowing for sufficient ATP synthesis to preserve the cellular energy status. Therefore, glucose deprivation does not acutely activate the CB. ATP released as an excitatory neurotransmitter in normoxia and hypoxia is metabolised by CD39 and CD73 and leads to the generation of synaptic adenosine. This 'pool' of adenosine has a crucial function in establishing the basal chemoafferent discharge frequency and the sensitivity of the CB to stimulation by hypoxia, hypercapnia and mitochondrial inhibitors. The impact of adenosine is mediated through A₂ receptors and an increase in pre- or post-synaptic cAMP concentration.

Appendix I: Supplementary data



Supplementary figure 1 The excitatory impact of nitrite on augmenting the chemoafferent response to hypoxia in a single fibre is also apparent in a multiple fibre preparation when discharge frequency is collated.

A) An example raw trace taken from a multiple fibre recording showing the effect of 3.3 mM nitrite (NO₂⁻) on the chemoafferent frequency response to graded hypoxia. Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) grouped in 10 s intervals. B) The characteristic 'right shift' induced by 3.3 mM NO₂⁻ on the chemoafferent hypoxic response curve calculated from single fibre recordings is also evident when the discharge frequency is collated from multiple fibres within the same preparation.



Supplementary figure 2 Pharmacological scavenging of superoxide (O_2) does not reduce the chemoafferent response to nitrite.

An example trace showing the absence of an effect of the superoxide (O_2) scavenger Tempol (1 mM) on the chemoafferent frequency response to 10 mM nitrite (NO_2) . Raw discharge is shown (upper) along with frequency histograms (lower) grouped in 10 s intervals. Overdrawn action potentials are shown inset to demonstrate the single fibre discrimination from which the frequency was taken.

References

1. Kumar P. Systemic effects resulting from carotid body stimulation-invited article. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2009;648:223-33.

2. Prabhakar NR, Peng YJ. Peripheral chemoreceptors in health and disease. J Appl Physiol. 2004 Jan;96(1):359-66.

3. Mills E, Jobsis FF. Simultaneous measurement of cytochrome a_3 reduction and chemoreceptor afferent activity in the carotid body. Nature. 1970 Mar 21;225(5238):1147-9.

4. Duchen MR, Biscoe TJ. Mitochondrial function in type I cells isolated from rabbit arterial chemoreceptors. J Physiol. 1992 May;450:13-31.

5. Evans AM, Mustard KJ, Wyatt CN, Peers C, Dipp M, Kumar P, et al. Does AMP-activated protein kinase couple inhibition of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation by hypoxia to calcium signaling in O_2 -sensing cells? J Biol Chem. 2005 Dec 16;280(50):41504-11.

6. Hardie DG, Salt IP, Hawley SA, Davies SP. AMP-activated protein kinase: an ultrasensitive system for monitoring cellular energy charge. Biochem J. 1999 Mar 15;338:717-22.

7. Woods A, Johnstone SR, Dickerson K, Leiper FC, Fryer LGD, Neumann D, et al. LKB1 is the upstream kinase in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. Curr Biol. [Article]. 2003 Nov;13(22):2004-8.

8. Prabhakar NR, Semenza GL. Gaseous messengers in oxygen sensing. J Mol Med (Berl). 2012 Mar;90(3):265-72.

9. Conde SV, Monteiro EC, Obeso A, Gonzalez C. Adenosine in peripheral chemoreception: new insights into a historically overlooked molecule--invited article. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2009;648:145-59.

10. Conde SV, Monteiro EC, Rigual R, Obeso A, Gonzalez C. Hypoxic intensity: a determinant for the contribution of ATP and adenosine to the genesis of carotid body chemosensory activity. J Appl Physiol. 2012 Jun;112(12):2002-10.

11. Conde SV, Monteiro EC. Hypoxia induces adenosine release from the rat carotid body. J Neurochem. 2004 Jun;89(5):1148-56.

12. McDonald DM, Blewett RW. Location and size of carotid body-like organs (paraganglia) revealed in rats by the permeability of blood vessels to Evans blue dye. J Neurocytol. 1981 Aug;10(4):607-43.

13. De Castro F. Sur la structure et l'innervation de la glande carotidienne (glomus caroticum) de l'homme et des mammiferes, et sur un nouveaux systeme d'innervation autonome du nerf glossopharyngien. Trab Lab Invest Biol Univ Madrid. 1926;24:365-432.

14. Gonzalez C, Almaraz L, Obeso A, Rigual R. Carotid body chemoreceptors: from natural stimuli to sensory discharges. Physiol Rev. 1994 Oct;74(4):829-98.

15. Kondo H, Iwanaga T, Nakajima T. Immunocytochemical study on the localization of neuron-specific enolase and S-100 protein in the carotid body of rats. Cell Tissue Res. 1982;227(2):291-5.

16. Morgan M, Pack RJ, Howe A. Nerve endings in rat carotid body. Cell Tissue Res. 1975;157(2):255-72.

17. De Burgh Daly M, Lambertsen CJ, Schweitzer A. Observations on the volume of blood flow and oxygen utilization of the carotid body in the cat. J Physiol. 1954 Jul 28;125(1):67-89.

18. Kumar P, Prabhakar NR. Peripheral Chemoreceptors: Function and Plasticity of the Carotid Body. Comprehensive Physiology. 2012:141–219.

19. Delpiano MA, Hescheler J. Evidence for a PO_2 -sensitive K⁺ channel in the type-I cell of the rabbit carotid body. FEBS Lett. 1989 Jun 5;249(2):195-8.

20. Buckler KJ. A novel oxygen-sensitive potassium current in rat carotid body type I cells. J Physiol. 1997 Feb 1;498 (Pt 3):649-62.

21. Wyatt CN, Wright C, Bee D, Peers C. O_2 -sensitive K⁺ currents in carotid body chemoreceptor cells from normoxic and chronically hypoxic rats and their roles in hypoxic chemotransduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Jan 3;92(1):295-9.

22. Wyatt CN, Peers C. Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels in isolated type I cells of the neonatal rat carotid body. J Physiol. 1995 Mar 15;483 (Pt 3):559-65.

23. Stea A, Nurse CA. Whole-cell and perforated-patch recordings from O₂-sensitive rat carotid body cells grown in short- and long-term culture. Pflugers Arch. 1991 Mar;418(1-2):93-101.

24. Lopez-Lopez J, Gonzalez C, Urena J, Lopez-Barneo J. Low pO_2 selectively inhibits K⁺ channel activity in chemoreceptor cells of the mammalian carotid body. J Gen Physiol. 1989 May;93(5):1001-15.

25. Peers C. Effect of lowered extracellular pH on Ca^{2+} -dependent K⁺ currents in type I cells from the neonatal rat carotid body. J Physiol. 1990 Mar;422:381-95.

26. Osanai S, Buerk DG, Mokashi A, Chugh DK, Lahiri S. Cat carotid body chemosensory discharge (in vitro) is insensitive to charybdotoxin. Brain Res. 1997 Feb 7;747(2):324-7.

27. Buckler KJ, Williams BA, Honore E. An oxygen-, acid- and anaesthetic-sensitive TASKlike background potassium channel in rat arterial chemoreceptor cells. J Physiol. 2000 May 15;525 Pt 1:135-42.

28. Yamamoto Y, Taniguchi K. Expression of tandem P domain K⁺ channel, TREK-1, in the rat carotid body. J Histochem Cytochem. 2006 Apr;54(4):467-72.

29. Kreneisz O, Benoit JP, Bayliss DA, Mulkey DK. AMP-activated protein kinase inhibits TREK channels. J Physiol. 2009 Dec 15;587(Pt 24):5819-30.

30. Biscoe TJ, Duchen MR. Responses of type I cells dissociated from the rabbit carotid body to hypoxia. J Physiol. 1990 Sep;428:39-59.

31. Buckler KJ, Vaughan-Jones RD. Effects of hypoxia on membrane potential and intracellular calcium in rat neonatal carotid body type I cells. J Physiol. 1994 May 1;476(3):423-8.

32. Sato M, Ikeda K, Yoshizaki K, Koyano H. Response of cytosolic calcium to anoxia and cyanide in cultured glomus cells of newborn rabbit carotid body. Brain Res. 1991 Jun 14;551(1-2):327-30.

33. Urena J, Fernandez-Chacon R, Benot AR, Alvarez de Toledo GA, Lopez-Barneo J. Hypoxia induces voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ entry and quantal dopamine secretion in carotid body glomus cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Oct 11;91(21):10208-11.

34. Buttigieg J, Nurse CA. Detection of hypoxia-evoked ATP release from chemoreceptor cells of the rat carotid body. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004 Sep 10;322(1):82-7.

35. Metz B. Release of ACh from the carotid body by hypoxia and hypoxia plus hypercapnia. Respir Physiol. 1969 Apr;6(3):386-94.

36. Fitzgerald RS, Shirahata M, Wang HY. Acetylcholine release from cat carotid bodies. Brain Res. 1999 Sep 11;841(1-2):53-61.

37. Fidone S, Gonzalez C, Yoshizaki K. Effects of low oxygen on the release of dopamine from the rabbit carotid body in vitro. J Physiol. 1982 Dec;333:93-110.

38. Obeso A, Rocher A, Fidone S, Gonzalez C. The role of dihydropyridine-sensitive Ca²⁺ channels in stimulus-evoked catecholamine release from chemoreceptor cells of the carotid body. Neuroscience. 1992;47(2):463-72.

39. Benot AR, Lopez-Barneo J. Feedback Inhibition of Ca²⁺ Currents by Dopamine in Glomus Cells of the Carotid Body. Eur J Neurosci. 1990;2(9):809-12.

40. Biscoe TJ, Purves MJ, Sampson SR. The frequency of nerve impulses in single carotid body chemoreceptor afferent fibres recorded in vivo with intact circulation. J Physiol. 1970 May;208(1):121-31.

41. Vidruk EH, Olson EB, Jr., Ling L, Mitchell GS. Responses of single-unit carotid body chemoreceptors in adult rats. J Physiol. 2001 Feb 15;531(Pt 1):165-70.

42. Eyzaguirre C, Lewin J. Effect of different oxygen tensions on the carotid body in vitro. J Physiol. 1961 Dec;159:238-50.

43. Eyzaguirre C, Koyano H. Effects of hypoxia, hypercapnia, and pH on the chemoreceptor activity of the carotid body in vitro. J Physiol. 1965 Jun;178(3):385-409.

44. Rumsey WL, Iturriaga R, Spergel D, Lahiri S, Wilson DF. Optical measurements of the dependence of chemoreception on oxygen pressure in the cat carotid body. Am J Physiol. 1991 Oct;261(4 Pt 1):C614-22.

45. Landauer RC, Pepper DR, Kumar P. Effect of chronic hypoxaemia from birth upon chemosensitivity in the adult rat carotid body in vitro. J Physiol. 1995 Jun 1;485 (Pt 2):543-50.

46. Pepper DR, Landauer RC, Kumar P. Postnatal development of CO_2 - O_2 interaction in the rat carotid body in vitro. J Physiol. 1995 Jun 1;485 (Pt 2):531-41.

47. Biscoe TJ, Bradley GW, Purves MJ. The relation between carotid body chemoreceptor discharge, carotid sinus pressure and carotid body venous flow. J Physiol. 1970 May;208(1):99-120.

48. Pepper DR, Landauer RC, Kumar P. Extracellular potassium and chemosensitivity in the rat carotid body, in vitro. J Physiol. 1996 Jun 15;493 (Pt 3):833-43.

49. Owen H, Gesell R. Peripheral and central chemical control of pulmonary ventilation. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1931 Apr;28(7):0765-6.

50. Krylov SS, Anichkov SV. The effect of metabolic inhibitors on carotid chemoreceptors. Arterial Chemoreceptors. 1968:103-9.

51. Mulligan E, Lahiri S, Storey BT. Carotid body O₂ chemoreception and mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. J Appl Physiol. 1981 Aug;51(2):438-46.

52. Obeso A, Almaraz L, Gonzalez C. Effects of cyanide and uncouplers on chemoreceptor activity and ATP content of the cat carotid body. Brain Res. 1989 Mar 6;481(2):250-7.

53. Rocher A, Obeso A, Gonzalez C, Herreros B. Ionic mechanisms for the transduction of acidic stimuli in rabbit carotid body glomus cells. J Physiol. 1991 Feb;433:533-48.

54. Wyatt CN, Buckler KJ. The effect of mitochondrial inhibitors on membrane currents in isolated neonatal rat carotid body type I cells. J Physiol. 2004 Apr 1;556(Pt 1):175-91.

55. Biscoe TJ, Duchen MR, Eisner DA, O'Neill SC, Valdeolmillos M. Measurements of intracellular Ca²⁺ in dissociated type I cells of the rabbit carotid body. J Physiol. 1989 Sep;416:421-34.

56. Duchen MR, Biscoe TJ. Relative mitochondrial membrane potential and [Ca²⁺]i in type I cells isolated from the rabbit carotid body. J Physiol. 1992 May;450:33-61.

57. Peers C, Wyatt CN. The role of maxiK channels in carotid body chemotransduction. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2007 Jul 1;157(1):75-82.

58. Tamura M, Hazeki O, Nioka S, Chance B. In vivo study of tissue oxygen metabolism using optical and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopies. Annu Rev Physiol. 1989;51:813-34.

59. Wilson DF, Rumsey WL, Green TJ, Vanderkooi JM. The oxygen dependence of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation measured by a new optical method for measuring oxygen concentration. J Biol Chem. 1988 Feb 25;263(6):2712-8.

60. Mills E. Spectrophotometric and fluorometric studies on the mechanism of chemoreception in the carotid body. Fed Proc. 1972 Sep-Oct;31(5):1394-8.

61. Mills E, Jobsis FF. Mitochondrial respiratory chain of carotid body and chemoreceptor response to changes in oxygen tension. J Neurophysiol. 1972 Jul;35(4):405-28.

62. Biscoe TJ, Duchen MR. Cellular basis of transduction in carotid chemoreceptors. Am J Physiol. 1990 Jun;258(6 Pt 1):L271-8.

63. Ortega-Saenz P, Pardal R, Garcia-Fernandez M, Lopez-Barneo J. Rotenone selectively occludes sensitivity to hypoxia in rat carotid body glomus cells. J Physiol. 2003 May 1;548(Pt 3):789-800.

64. Piruat JI, Pintado CO, Ortega-Saenz P, Roche M, Lopez-Barneo J. The mitochondrial SDHD gene is required for early embryogenesis, and its partial deficiency results in persistent carotid body glomus cell activation with full responsiveness to hypoxia. Mol Cell Biol. 2004 Dec;24(24):10933-40.

65. Gasbarrini A, Borle AB, Farghali H, Bender C, Francavilla A, Van Thiel D. Effect of anoxia on intracellular ATP, Na⁺_i, Ca²⁺_i, Mg²⁺_i, and cytotoxicity in rat hepatocytes. J Biol Chem. 1992 Apr 5;267(10):6654-63.

66. Hayashi T, Hirshman MF, Fujii N, Habinowski SA, Witters LA, Goodyear LJ. Metabolic stress and altered glucose transport: activation of AMP-activated protein kinase as a unifying coupling mechanism. Diabetes. 2000 Apr;49(4):527-31.

67. Obeso A, Almaraz L, Gonzalez C. Correlation between adenosine triphosphate levels, dopamine release and electrical activity in the carotid body: support for the metabolic hypothesis of chemoreception. Brain Res. 1985 Nov 25;348(1):64-8.

68. Obeso A, Almaraz L, Gonzalez C. Effects of 2-deoxy-D-glucose on in vitro cat carotid body. Brain Res. 1986 Apr 16;371(1):25-36.

69. Verna A, Talib N, Roumy M, Pradet A. Effects of metabolic inhibitors and hypoxia on the ATP, ADP and AMP content of the rabbit carotid body in vitro: the metabolic hypothesis in question. Neurosci Lett. 1990 Aug 14;116(1-2):156-61.

70. Acker H, Starlinger H. Adenosine triphosphate content in the cat carotid body under different arterial O_2 and CO_2 conditions. Neurosci Lett. 1984 Sep 7;50(1-3):175-9.

71. Bock P. Histochemical demonstration of adenine nucleotides in carotid body type I cells. Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol. 1980;25:235-9.

72. Zhang M, Zhong H, Vollmer C, Nurse CA. Co-release of ATP and ACh mediates hypoxic signalling at rat carotid body chemoreceptors. J Physiol. 2000 May 15;525 Pt 1:143-58.

73. Droge W. Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev. [Review]. 2002 Jan;82(1):47-95.

74. Cadenas E, Boveris A, Ragan CI, Stoppani AOM. Production of superoxide radicals and hydrogen-peroxide by NADH-ubiquinone reductase and ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase from beef-heart mitochondria. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 1977 1977;180(2):248-57.

75. Weisiger RA, Fridovic.I. Superoxide dismutase - organelle specificity. J Biol Chem. [Article]. 1973;248(10):3582-92.

76. Sutton HC, Winterbourn CC. On the participation of higher oxidation-states of iron and copper in fenton reactions. Free Radic Biol Med. [Article]. 1989;6(1):53-60.

77. Turrens JF, Freeman BA, Levitt JG, Crapo JD. The effect of hyperoxia on superoxide production by lung sub-mitochondrial particles. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. [Article]. 1982;217(2):401-10.

78. Loschen G, Azzi A, Flohe L. Mitochondrial H_2O_2 formation - relationship with energy conservation. FEBS Lett. [Article]. 1973;33(1):84-8.

79. Hoffman DL, Salter JD, Brookes PS. Response of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation to steady-state oxygen tension: implications for hypoxic cell signaling. Am J Physiol-Heart Circul Physiol. [Article]. 2007 Jan;292(1):H101-H8.

80. Waypa GB, Chandel NS, Schumacker PT. Model for hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction involving mitochondrial oxygen sensing. Circ Res. [Article]. 2001 Jun;88(12):1259-66.

81. Poyton RO, Ball KA, Castello PR. Mitochondrial generation of free radicals and hypoxic signaling. Trends Endocrinol Metab. [Review]. 2009 Sep;20(7):332-40.

82. He L, Dinger B, Sanders K, Hoidal J, Obeso A, Stensaas L, et al. Effect of p47phox gene deletion on ROS production and oxygen sensing in mouse carotid body chemoreceptor cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2005 Dec;289(6):L916-24.

83. Yamamoto Y, Konig P, Henrich M, Dedio J, Kummer W. Hypoxia induces production of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species in glomus cells of rat carotid body. Cell Tissue Res. 2006 Jul;325(1):3-11.

84. Papreck JR, Martin EA, Lazzarini P, Kang D, Kim D. Modulation of K(2P)3.1 (TASK-1), K (2P)9.1 (TASK-3), and TASK-1/3 heteromer by reactive oxygen species. Pflugers Arch. 2012 Nov;464(5):471-80.

85. Agapito MT, Sanz-Alfayate G, Gomez-Nino A, Gonzalez C, Obeso A. General redox environment and carotid body chemoreceptor function. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2009 Mar;296(3):C620-31.

86. Gomez-Nino A, Agapito MT, Obeso A, Gonzalez C. Effects of mitochondrial poisons on glutathione redox potential and carotid body chemoreceptor activity. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2009 Jan 1;165(1):104-11.

87. Sanz-Alfayate G, Obeso A, Agapito MT, Gonzalez C. Reduced to oxidized glutathione ratios and oxygen sensing in calf and rabbit carotid body chemoreceptor cells. J Physiol. 2001 Nov 15;537(Pt 1):209-20.

88. Wyatt CN, Mustard KJ, Pearson SA, Dallas ML, Atkinson L, Kumar P, et al. AMPactivated protein kinase mediates carotid body excitation by hypoxia. J Biol Chem. 2007 Mar 16;282(11):8092-8.

89. Davies SP, Hawley SA, Woods A, Carling D, Haystead TAJ, Hardie DG. Purification of the AMP-activated protein-kinase on ATP-gamma-sepharose and analysis of its subunit structure. Eur J Biochem. [Article]. 1994 Jul;223(2):351-7.

90. Hawley SA, Davison M, Woods A, Davies SP, Beri RK, Carling D, et al. Characterization of the AMP-activated protein kinase kinase from rat liver and identification of threonine 172 as the major site at which it phosphorylates AMP-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem. [Article]. 1996 Nov;271(44):27879-87.

91. Scott JW, Hawley SA, Green KA, Anis M, Stewart G, Scullion GA, et al. CBS domains form energy-sensing modules whose binding of adenosine ligands is disrupted by disease mutations. J Clin Invest. [Article]. 2004 Jan;113(2):274-84.

92. Bateman A. The structure of a domain common to archaebacteria and the homocystinuria disease protein. Trends BiochemSci. [Article]. 1997 Jan;22(1):12-3.

93. Xiao B, Heath R, Saiu P, Leiper FC, Leone P, Jing C, et al. Structural basis for AMP binding to mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase. Nature. 2007 Sep 27;449(7161):496-500.

94. Xiao B, Sanders MJ, Underwood E, Heath R, Mayer FV, Carmena D, et al. Structure of mammalian AMPK and its regulation by ADP. Nature. [Article]. 2011 Apr;472(7342):230-3.

95. Hawley SA, Selbert MA, Goldstein EG, Edelman AM, Carling D, Hardie DG. 5'-AMP activates the AMP-activated protein-kinase cascade and Ca²⁺/calmodulin activates the calmodulin-dependent protein-kinase-i cascade, via 3 independent mechanisms. J Biol Chem. [Article]. 1995 Nov;270(45):27186-91.

96. Suter M, Riek U, Tuerk R, Schlattner U, Wallimann T, Neumann D. Dissecting the role of 5 '-AMP for allosteric stimulation, activation, and deactivation of AMP-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem. [Article]. 2006 Oct;281(43):32207-16.

97. Davies SP, Helps NR, Cohen PTW, Hardie DG. 5'-AMP inhibits dephosphorylation, as well as promoting phosphorylation, of the AMP-activated protein kinase. Studies using bacterially expressed human protein phosphatase-2C alpha and native bovine protein phosphatase-2A(c). FEBS Lett. [Article]. 1995 Dec;377(3):421-5.

98. Hawley SA, Boudeau J, Reid JL, Mustard KJ, Udd L, Makela TP, et al. Complexes between the LKB1 tumor suppressor, STRAD alpha/beta and MO25 alpha/beta are upstream kinases in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. Journal of Biology. [; Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2003 2003 (Epub 2003 Sep;2(4):28).

99. Zeqiraj E, Filippi BM, Deak M, Alessi DR, van Aalten DMF. Structure of the LKB1-STRAD-MO25 Complex Reveals an Allosteric Mechanism of Kinase Activation. Science. [Article]. 2009 Dec;326(5960):1707-11.

100. Hardie DG, Hawley SA. AMP-activated protein kinase: the energy charge hypothesis revisited. Bioessays. [Review]. 2001 Dec;23(12):1112-9.

101. Hawley SA, Ross FA, Chevtzoff C, Green KA, Evans A, Fogarty S, et al. Use of Cells Expressing gamma Subunit Variants to Identify Diverse Mechanisms of AMPK Activation. Cell Metab. [Article]. 2010 Jun;11(6):554-65.

102. Mu J, Brozinick JT, Valladares O, Bucan M, Birnbaum MJ. A role for AMP-activated protein kinase in contraction- and hypoxia-regulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle. Mol Cell. [Article]. 2001 May;7(5):1085-94.

103. Salt IP, Johnson G, Ashcroft SJH, Hardie DG. AMP-activated protein kinase is activated by low glucose in cell lines derived from pancreatic beta cells, and may regulate insulin release. Biochem J. [Article]. 1998 Nov;335:533-9.

104. Baron SJ, Li J, Russell RR, Neumann D, Miller EJ, Tuerk R, et al. Dual mechanisms regulating AMPK kinase action in the ischemic heart. Circulation Research. 2005 Feb 18;96(3):337-45.

105. Shaw RJ, Kosmatka M, Bardeesy N, Hurley RL, Witters LA, DePinho RA, et al. The tumor suppressor LKB1 kinase directly activates AMP-activated kinase and regulates apoptosis in response to energy stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. [Article]. 2004 Mar;101(10):3329-35.

106. Sakamoto K, Zarrinpashneh E, Budas GR, Pouleur AC, Dutta A, Prescott AR, et al. Deficiency of LKB1 in heart prevents ischemia-mediated activation of AMPK alpha 2 but not AMPK alpha 1. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab. [Article]. 2006 May;290(5):E780-E8.

107. Mkrtchian S, Kahlin J, Ebberyd A, Gonzalez C, Sanchez D, Balbir A, et al. The human carotid body transcriptome with focus on oxygen sensing and inflammation - a comparative analysis. J Physiol-London. [Article]. 2012 Aug;590(16):3807-19.

108. Evans AM, Hardie DG, Peers C, Wyatt CN, Viollet B, Kumar P, et al. Ion channel regulation by AMPK: the route of hypoxia-response coupling in the carotid body and pulmonary artery. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009 Oct;1177:89-100.

109. Barbe C, Al-Hashem F, Conway AF, Dubuis E, Vandier C, Kumar P. A possible dual site of action for carbon monoxide-mediated chemoexcitation in the rat carotid body. J Physiol. 2002 Sep 15;543(Pt 3):933-45.

110. Wilson DF, Mokashi A, Chugh D, Vinogradov S, Osanai S, Lahiri S. The primary oxygen sensor of the cat carotid body is cytochrome a_3 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. FEBS Lett. 1994 Sep 12;351(3):370-4.

111. Rozanov C, Roy A, Mokashi A, Wilson DF, Lahiri S, Acker H. Chemosensory response to high pCO is blocked by cadmium, a voltage-sensitive calcium channel blocker. Brain Res. 1999 Jun 26;833(1):101-7.

112. Lahiri S, Ehleben W, Acker H. Chemoreceptor discharges and cytochrome redox changes of the rat carotid body: role of heme ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Aug 3;96(16):9427-32.

113. Maines MD. The heme oxygenase system: A regulator of second messenger gases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. [Review]. 1997;37:517-54.

114. Prabhakar NR. Endogenous carbon monoxide in control of respiration. Respir Physiol. 1998 Oct;114(1):57-64.

115. Kemp PJ. Hemeoxygenase-2 as an O_2 sensor in K⁺ channel-dependent chemotransduction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005 Dec 9;338(1):648-52.

116. Prabhakar NR, Dinerman JL, Agani FH, Snyder SH. Carbon monoxide: a role in carotid body chemoreception. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Mar 14;92(6):1994-7.

117. Overholt JL, Bright GR, Prabhakar NR. Carbon monoxide and carotid body chemoreception. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1996;410:341-4.

118. Zhuang J, Xu F, Campen M, Hernandez J, Shi S, Wang R. Transient carbon monoxide inhibits the ventilatory responses to hypoxia through peripheral mechanisms in the rat. Life Sci. 2006 Apr 25;78(22):2654-61.

119. Riesco-Fagundo AM, Perez-Garcia MT, Gonzalez C, Lopez-Lopez JR. O_2 modulates large-conductance Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channels of rat chemoreceptor cells by a membrane-restricted and CO-sensitive mechanism. Circ Res. 2001 Aug 31;89(5):430-6.

120. Williams SE, Wootton P, Mason HS, Bould J, Iles DE, Riccardi D, et al. Hemoxygenase-2 is an oxygen sensor for a calcium-sensitive potassium channel. Science. 2004 Dec 17;306(5704):2093-7.

121. Williams SE, Brazier SP, Baban N, Telezhkin V, Muller CT, Riccardi D, et al. A structural motif in the C-terminal tail of slo1 confers carbon monoxide sensitivity to human BK_{Ca} channels. Pflugers Arch. 2008 Jun;456(3):561-72.

122. Adachi T, Ishikawa K, Hida W, Matsumoto H, Masuda T, Date F, et al. Hypoxemia and blunted hypoxic ventilatory responses in mice lacking heme oxygenase-2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004 Jul 23;320(2):514-22.

123. Ortega-Saenz P, Pascual A, Gomez-Diaz R, Lopez-Barneo J. Acute oxygen sensing in heme oxygenase-2 null mice. J Gen Physiol. 2006 Oct;128(4):405-11.

124. Kamoun P. Endogenous production of hydrogen sulfide in mammals. Amino Acids. [Article]. 2004 Jun;26(3):243-54.

125. Kimura H. Hydrogen sulfide: its production and functions. Exp Physiol. [Article]. 2011 Sep;96(9):833-5.

126. Kabil O, Vitvitsky V, Xie P, Banerjee R. The Quantitative Significance of the Transsulfuration Enzymes for H2S Production in Murine Tissues. Antioxid Redox Signal. [Article]. 2011 Jul;15(2):363-72.

127. Li Q, Sun B, Wang X, Jin Z, Zhou Y, Dong L, et al. A crucial role for hydrogen sulfide in oxygen sensing via modulating large conductance calcium-activated potassium channels. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2010 May 15;12(10):1179-89.

128. Van de Louw A, Haouzi P. Inhibitory effects of hyperoxia and methemoglobinemia on H_2S induced ventilatory stimulation in the rat. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2012 May 31;181(3):326-34.

129. Haouzi P, Bell H, Philmon M. Hydrogen sulfide oxidation and the arterial chemoreflex: effect of methemoglobin. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011 Aug 15;177(3):273-83.

130. Buckler KJ. Effects of exogenous hydrogen sulphide on calcium signalling, background (TASK) K channel activity and mitochondrial function in chemoreceptor cells. Pflugers Arch. 2011 Apr;463(5):743-54.

131. Makarenko VV, Nanduri J, Raghuraman G, Fox AP, Gadalla MM, Kumar GK, et al. Endogenous H₂S is required for Hypoxic Sensing by Carotid Body Glomus Cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2012 Jun 27.

132. Peng YJ, Nanduri J, Raghuraman G, Souvannakitti D, Gadalla MM, Kumar GK, et al. H_2S mediates O_2 sensing in the carotid body. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Jun 8;107(23):10719-24.

133. Telezhkin V, Brazier SP, Cayzac SH, Wilkinson WJ, Riccardi D, Kemp PJ. Mechanism of inhibition by hydrogen sulfide of native and recombinant BK_{Ca} channels. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2010 Jul 31;172(3):169-78.

134. Erecinska M, Wilson D. Inhibitors of mitochondrial function. Pergammon Press, Oxford. 1981.

135. Fitzgerald RS, Shirahata M, Chang I, Kostuk E, Kiihl S. The impact of hydrogen sulfide H_2S on neurotransmitter release from the cat carotid body. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011 May 31;176(3):80-9.

136. Prabhakar NR, Kumar GK, Chang CH, Agani FH, Haxhiu MA. Nitric oxide in the sensory function of the carotid body. Brain Res. 1993 Oct 15;625(1):16-22.

137. Wang ZZ, Bredt DS, Fidone SJ, Stensaas LJ. Neurons synthesizing nitric oxide innervate the mammalian carotid body. J Comp Neurol. 1993 Oct 15;336(3):419-32.

138. Wang ZZ, Stensaas LJ, Bredt DS, Dinger B, Fidone SJ. Localization and actions of nitric oxide in the cat carotid body. Neuroscience. 1994 May;60(1):275-86.

139. Valdes V, Mosqueira M, Rey S, Del Rio R, Iturriaga R. Inhibitory effects of NO on carotid body: contribution of neural and endothelial nitric oxide synthase isoforms. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2003 Jan;284(1):L57-68.

140. Iturriaga R, Mosqueira M, Villanueva S. Effects of nitric oxide gas on cat carotid body chemosensory response to hypoxia. Brain Res. 2000 Feb 14;855(2):282-6.

141. Iturriaga R, Villanueva S, Mosqueira M. Dual effects of nitric oxide on cat carotid body chemoreception. J Appl Physiol. 2000 Sep;89(3):1005-12.

142. Fitzgerald RS, Shirahata M, Chang I. The effect of a nitric oxide donor, sodium nitroprusside, on the release of acetylcholine from the in vitro cat carotid body. Neurosci Lett. 2005 Sep 9;385(2):148-52.

143. Kline DD, Prabhakar NR. Peripheral chemosensitivity in mutant mice deficient in nitric oxide synthase. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2000;475:571-9.

144. Kline DD, Yang T, Premkumar DR, Thomas AJ, Prabhakar NR. Blunted respiratory responses to hypoxia in mutant mice deficient in nitric oxide synthase-3. J Appl Physiol. 2000 Apr;88(4):1496-508.

145. Kholwadwala D, Donnelly DF. Maturation of carotid chemoreceptor sensitivity to hypoxia: in vitro studies in the newborn rat. J Physiol. 1992;453:461-73.

146. Tatsumi K, Pickett CK, Weil JV. Attenuated carotid body hypoxic sensitivity after prolonged hypoxic exposure. J Appl Physiol. 1991 Feb;70(2):748-55.

147. McGregor KH, Gil J, Lahiri S. A morphometric study of the carotid body in chronically hypoxic rats. J Appl Physiol. 1984 Nov;57(5):1430-8.

148. Summers BA, Overholt JL, Prabhakar NR. Nitric oxide inhibits L-type Ca²⁺ current in glomus cells of the rabbit carotid body via a cGMP-independent mechanism. J Neurophysiol. 1999 Apr;81(4):1449-57.

149. Silva JM, Lewis DL. Nitric oxide enhances Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ channel activity in rat carotid body cells. Pflugers Arch. 2002 Mar;443(5-6):671-5.

150. Li YL, Sun SY, Overholt JL, Prabhakar NR, Rozanski GJ, Zucker IH, et al. Attenuated outward potassium currents in carotid body glomus cells of heart failure rabbit: involvement of nitric oxide. J Physiol. 2004 Feb 15;555(Pt 1):219-29.

151. Brown GC. Nitric oxide regulates mitochondrial respiration and cell functions by inhibiting cytochrome oxidase. FEBS Lett. 1995 Aug 7;369(2-3):136-9.

152. Casey DB, Badejo AM, Jr., Dhaliwal JS, Murthy SN, Hyman AL, Nossaman BD, et al. Pulmonary vasodilator responses to sodium nitrite are mediated by an allopurinol-sensitive mechanism in the rat. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009 Feb;296(2):H524-33.

153. Hunter CJ, Dejam A, Blood AB, Shields H, Kim-Shapiro DB, Machado RF, et al. Inhaled nebulized nitrite is a hypoxia-sensitive NO-dependent selective pulmonary vasodilator. Nat Med. 2004 Oct;10(10):1122-7.

154. Crawford JH, Isbell TS, Huang Z, Shiva S, Chacko BK, Schechter AN, et al. Hypoxia, red blood cells, and nitrite regulate NO-dependent hypoxic vasodilation. Blood. 2006 Jan 15;107(2):566-74.

155. Cosby K, Partovi KS, Crawford JH, Patel RP, Reiter CD, Martyr S, et al. Nitrite reduction to nitric oxide by deoxyhemoglobin vasodilates the human circulation. Nat Med. 2003 Dec;9(12):1498-505.

156. Duranski MR, Greer JJ, Dejam A, Jaganmohan S, Hogg N, Langston W, et al. Cytoprotective effects of nitrite during in vivo ischemia-reperfusion of the heart and liver. J Clin Invest. 2005 May;115(5):1232-40.

157. Noiri E, Nakao A, Uchida K, Tsukahara H, Ohno M, Fujita T, et al. Oxidative and nitrosative stress in acute renal ischemia. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2001 Nov;281(5):F948-57.

158. Murillo D, Kamga C, Mo L, Shiva S. Nitrite as a mediator of ischemic preconditioning and cytoprotection. Nitric Oxide. 2011 Aug 1;25(2):70-80.

159. Bryan NS, Rassaf T, Maloney RE, Rodriguez CM, Saijo F, Rodriguez JR, et al. Cellular targets and mechanisms of nitros(yl)ation: an insight into their nature and kinetics in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Mar 23;101(12):4308-13.

160. Huang Z, Shiva S, Kim-Shapiro DB, Patel RP, Ringwood LA, Irby CE, et al. Enzymatic function of hemoglobin as a nitrite reductase that produces NO under allosteric control. J Clin Invest. 2005 Aug;115(8):2099-107.

161. Webb AJ, Milsom AB, Rathod KS, Chu WL, Qureshi S, Lovell MJ, et al. Mechanisms underlying erythrocyte and endothelial nitrite reduction to nitric oxide in hypoxia: role for xanthine oxidoreductase and endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circ Res. 2008 Oct 24;103(9):957-64.

162. Zhang Z, Naughton D, Winyard PG, Benjamin N, Blake DR, Symons MC. Generation of nitric oxide by a nitrite reductase activity of xanthine oxidase: a potential pathway for nitric oxide formation in the absence of nitric oxide synthase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1998 Aug 28;249(3):767-72.

163. Totzeck M, Hendgen-Cotta UB, Luedike P, Berenbrink M, Klare JP, Steinhoff HJ, et al. Nitrite Regulates Hypoxic Vasodilation via Myoglobin-Dependent Nitric Oxide Generation. Circulation. 2012 Jul 17;126(3):325-34.

164. Badejo AM, Jr., Hodnette C, Dhaliwal JS, Casey DB, Pankey E, Murthy SN, et al. Mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenase mediates vasodilator responses of glyceryl trinitrate and sodium nitrite in the pulmonary vascular bed of the rat. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2010 Sep;299(3):H819-26.

165. Gautier C, van Faassen E, Mikula I, Martasek P, Slama-Schwok A. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase reduces nitrite anions to NO under anoxia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006 Mar 17;341(3):816-21.

166. Aamand R, Dalsgaard T, Jensen FB, Simonsen U, Roepstorff A, Fago A. Generation of nitric oxide from nitrite by carbonic anhydrase: a possible link between metabolic activity and vasodilation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009 Dec;297(6):H2068-74.

167. Petersen MG, Dewilde S, Fago A. Reactions of ferrous neuroglobin and cytoglobin with nitrite under anaerobic conditions. J Inorg Biochem. 2008 Sep;102(9):1777-82.

168. Shiva S. Mitochondria as metabolizers and targets of nitrite. Nitric Oxide. 2010 Feb 15;22(2):64-74.

169. Feelisch M, Fernandez BO, Bryan NS, Garcia-Saura MF, Bauer S, Whitlock DR, et al. Tissue processing of nitrite in hypoxia: an intricate interplay of nitric oxide-generating and - scavenging systems. J Biol Chem. 2008 Dec 5;283(49):33927-34.

170. Modin A, Bjorne H, Herulf M, Alving K, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JO. Nitrite-derived nitric oxide: a possible mediator of 'acidic-metabolic' vasodilation. Acta Physiol Scand. 2001 Jan;171(1):9-16.

171. Kozlov AV, Staniek K, Nohl H. Nitrite reductase activity is a novel function of mammalian mitochondria. FEBS Lett. 1999 Jul 2;454(1-2):127-30.

172. Castello PR, David PS, McClure T, Crook Z, Poyton RO. Mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase produces nitric oxide under hypoxic conditions: implications for oxygen sensing and hypoxic signaling in eukaryotes. Cell Metab. 2006 Apr;3(4):277-87.

173. Castello PR, Woo DK, Ball K, Wojcik J, Liu L, Poyton RO. Oxygen-regulated isoforms of cytochrome c oxidase have differential effects on its nitric oxide production and on hypoxic signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Jun 17;105(24):8203-8.

174. Basu S, Azarova NA, Font MD, King SB, Hogg N, Gladwin MT, et al. Nitrite reductase activity of cytochrome c. J Biol Chem. 2008 Nov 21;283(47):32590-7.

175. Rassaf T, Flogel U, Drexhage C, Hendgen-Cotta U, Kelm M, Schrader J. Nitrite reductase function of deoxymyoglobin: oxygen sensor and regulator of cardiac energetics and function. Circ Res. 2007 Jun 22;100(12):1749-54.

176. Hendgen-Cotta UB, Merx MW, Shiva S, Schmitz J, Becher S, Klare JP, et al. Nitrite reductase activity of myoglobin regulates respiration and cellular viability in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Jul 22;105(29):10256-61.

177. Brown GC, Cooper CE. Nanomolar concentrations of nitric oxide reversibly inhibit synaptosomal respiration by competing with oxygen at cytochrome oxidase. FEBS Lett. 1994 Dec 19;356(2-3):295-8.

178. Cleeter MW, Cooper JM, Darley-Usmar VM, Moncada S, Schapira AH. Reversible inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase, the terminal enzyme of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, by nitric oxide. Implications for neurodegenerative diseases. FEBS Lett. 1994 May 23;345(1):50-4.

179. Shiva S, Brookes PS, Patel RP, Anderson PG, Darley-Usmar VM. Nitric oxide partitioning into mitochondrial membranes and the control of respiration at cytochrome c oxidase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Jun 19;98(13):7212-7.

180. Shiva S, Huang Z, Grubina R, Sun J, Ringwood LA, MacArthur PH, et al. Deoxymyoglobin is a nitrite reductase that generates nitric oxide and regulates mitochondrial respiration. Circ Res. 2007 Mar 16;100(5):654-61.

181. Shiva S, Sack MN, Greer JJ, Duranski M, Ringwood LA, Burwell L, et al. Nitrite augments tolerance to ischemia/reperfusion injury via the modulation of mitochondrial electron transfer. J Exp Med. 2007 Sep 3;204(9):2089-102.

182. Heeringa J, Berkenbosch A, de Goede J, Olievier CN. Relative contribution of central and peripheral chemoreceptors to the ventilatory response to CO_2 during hyperoxia. Respir Physiol. 1979 Aug;37(3):365-79.

183. Rodman JR, Curran AK, Henderson KS, Dempsey JA, Smith CA. Carotid body denervation in dogs: eupnea and the ventilatory response to hyperoxic hypercapnia. J Appl Physiol. 2001 Jul;91(1):328-35.

184. Blain GM, Smith CA, Henderson KS, Dempsey JA. Contribution of the carotid body chemoreceptors to eupneic ventilation in the intact, unanesthetized dog. J Appl Physiol. 2009 May;106(5):1564-73.

185. Fitzgerald RS, Parks DC. Effect of hypoxia on carotid chemoreceptor response to carbon dioxide in cats. Respir Physiol. 1971 Jun;12(2):218-29.

186. Engwall MJ, Vidruk EH, Nielsen AM, Bisgard GE. Response of the goat carotid body to acute and prolonged hypercapnia. Respir Physiol. 1988 Dec;74(3):335-44.

187. Black AM, McCloskey DI, Torrance RW. The responses of carotid body chemoreceptors in the cat to sudden changes of hypercapnic and hypoxic stimuli. Respir Physiol. 1971 Oct;13(1):36-49.

188. Buckler KJ, Vaughan-Jones RD. Effects of hypercapnia on membrane potential and intracellular calcium in rat carotid body type I cells. J Physiol. 1994 Jul 1;478 (Pt 1):157-71.

189. Rocher A, Geijo-Barrientos E, Caceres AI, Rigual R, Gonzalez C, Almaraz L. Role of voltage-dependent calcium channels in stimulus-secretion coupling in rabbit carotid body chemoreceptor cells. J Physiol. 2005 Jan 15;562(Pt 2):407-20.

190. Zhang M, Nurse CA. CO2/pH chemosensory signaling in co-cultures of rat carotid body receptors and petrosal neurons: role of ATP and ACh. J Neurophysiol. 2004 Dec;92(6):3433-45.

191. Rigual R, Lopez-Lopez JR, Gonzalez C. Release of dopamine and chemoreceptor discharge induced by low pH and high PCO₂ stimulation of the cat carotid body. J Physiol. 1991 Feb;433:519-31.

192. Iturriaga R, Lahiri S, Mokashi A. Carbonic anhydrase and chemoreception in the cat carotid body. Am J Physiol. 1991 Oct;261(4 Pt 1):C565-73.

193. Travis DM. Molecular CO_2 is inert on carotid chemoreceptor: demonstration by inhibition of carbonic anhydrase. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1971 Sep;178(3):529-40.

194. Tripp BC, Smith K, Ferry JG. Carbonic anhydrase: New insights for an ancient enzyme. J Biol Chem. [Review]. 2001 Dec;276(52):48615-8.

195. Woods RI. Distribution of cytochrome oxidase monoamine oxidase and carbonic anhydrase in carotid body of rabbit. Nature. 1967 1967;213(5082):1240-&.

196. Nurse CA. Carbonic anhydrase and neuronal enzymes in cultured glomus cells of the carotid body of the rat. Cell Tissue Res. 1990 Jul;261(1):65-71.

197. Yamamoto Y, Fujimura M, Nishita T, Nishijima K, Atoji Y, Suzuki Y. Immunohistochemical localization of carbonic anhydrase isozymes in the rat carotid body. J Anat. 2003 Jun;202(6):573-7.

198. Iturriaga R, Mokashi A, Lahiri S. Dynamics of carotid body responses in vitro in the presence of CO_2 -HCO₃: role of carbonic anhydrase. J Appl Physiol. 1993 Oct;75(4):1587-94.

199. Hanson MA, Nye PC, Rao PS, Torrance RW. Effects of acetazolamide and benzolamide on the response of the carotid chemoreceptors to CO₂ [proceedings]. J Physiol. 1978 Nov;284:165P-6P.

200. Buckler KJ, Vaughan-Jones RD, Peers C, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Nye PC. Effects of extracellular pH, PCO_2 and HCO_3^- on intracellular pH in isolated type-I cells of the neonatal rat carotid body. J Physiol. 1991 Dec;444:703-21.

201. Buckler KJ, Vaughan-Jones RD, Peers C, Nye PC. Intracellular pH and its regulation in isolated type I carotid body cells of the neonatal rat. J Physiol. 1991 May;436:107-29.

202. Trapp S, Aller MI, Wisden W, Gourine AV. A role for TASK-1 (KCNK3) channels in the chemosensory control of breathing. J Neurosci. 2008 Aug 27;28(35):8844-50.

203. Ortega-Saenz P, Levitsky KL, Marcos-Almaraz MT, Bonilla-Henao V, Pascual A, Lopez-Barneo J. Carotid body chemosensory responses in mice deficient of TASK channels. J Gen Physiol. 2010 Apr;135(4):379-92.

204. Tan ZY, Lu Y, Whiteis CA, Benson CJ, Chapleau MW, Abboud FM. Acid-sensing ion channels contribute to transduction of extracellular acidosis in rat carotid body glomus cells. Circ Res. 2007 Nov 9;101(10):1009-19.

205. Petheo GL, Molnar Z, Roka A, Makara JK, Spat A. A pH-sensitive chloride current in the chemoreceptor cell of rat carotid body. J Physiol. 2001 Aug 15;535(Pt 1):95-106.

206. Summers BA, Overholt JL, Prabhakar NR. CO₂ and pH independently modulate L-type Ca²⁺ current in rabbit carotid body glomus cells. J Neurophysiol. 2002 Aug;88(2):604-12.

207. Nunes AR, Monteiro EC, Johnson SM, Gauda EB. Bicarbonate-regulated soluble adenylyl cyclase (sAC) mRNA expression and activity in peripheral chemoreceptors. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2009;648:235-41.

208. Perez-Garcia MT, Almaraz L, Gonzalez C. Effects of different types of stimulation on cyclic AMP content in the rabbit carotid body: functional significance. J Neurochem. 1990 Oct;55(4):1287-93.

209. Lahiri S, DeLaney RG. Stimulus interaction in the responses of carotid body chemoreceptor single afferent fibers. Respir Physiol. 1975 Sep;24(3):249-66.

210. Dasso LL, Buckler KJ, Vaughan-Jones RD. Interactions between hypoxia and hypercapnic acidosis on calcium signaling in carotid body type I cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2000 Jul;279(1):L36-42.

211. Efrat S, Tal M, Lodish HF. The pancreatic beta-cell glucose sensor. Trends Biochem Sci. 1994 Dec;19(12):535-8.

212. Smith PA, Ashcroft FM, Rorsman P. Simultaneous recordings of glucose dependent electrical activity and ATP-regulated K⁺-currents in isolated mouse pancreatic beta-cells. FEBS Lett. 1990 Feb 12;261(1):187-90.

213. Ammala C, Bokvist K, Galt S, Rorsman P. Inhibition of ATP-regulated K⁺-channels by a photoactivatable ATP-analogue in mouse pancreatic beta-cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1991 May 17;1092(3):347-9.

214. Larsson O, Kindmark H, Brandstrom R, Fredholm B, Berggren PO. Oscillations in K_{ATP} channel activity promote oscillations in cytoplasmic free Ca²⁺ concentration in the pancreatic beta cell. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 May 14;93(10):5161-5.

215. Lowry OH, Passonneau JV. The Relationships between Substrates and Enzymes of Glycolysis in Brain. J Biol Chem. 1964 Jan;239:31-42.

216. Meglasson MD, Matschinsky FM. Pancreatic islet glucose metabolism and regulation of insulin secretion. Diabetes Metab Rev. 1986;2(3-4):163-214.

217. Liang Y, Najafi H, Smith RM, Zimmerman EC, Magnuson MA, Tal M, et al. Concordant glucose induction of glucokinase, glucose usage, and glucose-stimulated insulin release in pancreatic islets maintained in organ culture. Diabetes. 1992 Jul;41(7):792-806.

218. Efrat S, Leiser M, Wu YJ, Fusco-DeMane D, Emran OA, Surana M, et al. Ribozymemediated attenuation of pancreatic beta-cell glucokinase expression in transgenic mice results in impaired glucose-induced insulin secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Mar 15;91(6):2051-5.

219. Thorens B, Mueckler M. Glucose transporters in the 21st Century. Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab. [Review]. 2010 Feb;298(2):E141-E5.

220. Johnson JH, Newgard CB, Milburn JL, Lodish HF, Thorens B. The high K_m glucose transporter of islets of Langerhans is functionally similar to the low affinity transporter of liver and has an identical primary sequence. J Biol Chem. 1990 Apr 25;265(12):6548-51.

221. Thorens B, Guillam MT, Beermann F, Burcelin R, Jaquet M. Transgenic reexpression of GLUT1 or GLUT2 in pancreatic beta cells rescues GLUT2-null mice from early death and restores normal glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. J Biol Chem. 2000 Aug 4;275(31):23751-8.

222. Ibrahim N, Bosch MA, Smart JL, Qiu J, Rubinstein M, Ronnekleiv OK, et al. Hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin neurons are glucose responsive and express K_{ATP} channels. Endocrinology. 2003 Apr;144(4):1331-40.

223. Burdakov D, Luckman SM, Verkhratsky A. Glucose-sensing neurons of the hypothalamus. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2005 Dec 29;360(1464):2227-35.

224. Fioramonti X, Contie S, Song Z, Routh VH, Lorsignol A, Penicaud L. Characterization of glucosensing neuron subpopulations in the arcuate nucleus: integration in neuropeptide Y and pro-opio melanocortin networks? Diabetes. 2007 May;56(5):1219-27.

225. Levin BE. Metabolic sensing neurons and the control of energy homeostasis. Physiol Behav. 2006 Nov 30;89(4):486-9.

226. Lynch RM, Tompkins LS, Brooks HL, Dunn-Meynell AA, Levin BE. Localization of glucokinase gene expression in the rat brain. Diabetes. 2000 May;49(5):693-700.

227. Kang L, Dunn-Meynell AA, Routh VH, Gaspers LD, Nagata Y, Nishimura T, et al. Glucokinase is a critical regulator of ventromedial hypothalamic neuronal glucosensing. Diabetes. 2006 Feb;55(2):412-20.

228. Kang L, Routh VH, Kuzhikandathil EV, Gaspers LD, Levin BE. Physiological and molecular characteristics of rat hypothalamic ventromedial nucleus glucosensing neurons. Diabetes. 2004 Mar;53(3):549-59.

229. Dunn-Meynell AA, Routh VH, Kang L, Gaspers L, Levin BE. Glucokinase is the likely mediator of glucosensing in both glucose-excited and glucose-inhibited central neurons. Diabetes. 2002 Jul;51(7):2056-65.

230. Rowe IC, Treherne JM, Ashford ML. Activation by intracellular ATP of a potassium channel in neurones from rat basomedial hypothalamus. J Physiol. 1996 Jan 1;490 (Pt 1):97-113.

231. O'Malley D, Reimann F, Simpson AK, Gribble FM. Sodium-coupled glucose cotransporters contribute to hypothalamic glucose sensing. Diabetes. 2006 Dec;55(12):3381-6.

232. Thorens B. Brain glucose sensing and neural regulation of insulin and glucagon secretion. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2011 Oct;13 Suppl 1:82-8.

233. Levin BE, Becker TC, Eiki J, Zhang BB, Dunn-Meynell AA. Ventromedial hypothalamic glucokinase is an important mediator of the counterregulatory response to insulin-induced hypoglycemia. Diabetes. 2008 May;57(5):1371-9.

234. Kim MS, Park JY, Namkoong C, Jang PG, Ryu JW, Song HS, et al. Anti-obesity effects of alpha-lipoic acid mediated by suppression of hypothalamic AMP-activated protein kinase. Nat Med. 2004 Jul;10(7):727-33.

235. Han SM, Namkoong C, Jang PG, Park IS, Hong SW, Katakami H, et al. Hypothalamic AMP-activated protein kinase mediates counter-regulatory responses to hypoglycaemia in rats. Diabetologia. 2005 Oct;48(10):2170-8.

236. Murphy BA, Fakira KA, Song Z, Beuve A, Routh VH. AMP-activated protein kinase and nitric oxide regulate the glucose sensitivity of ventromedial hypothalamic glucose-inhibited neurons. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2009 Sep;297(3):C750-8.

237. Marty N, Dallaporta M, Thorens B. Brain glucose sensing, counterregulation, and energy homeostasis. Physiology (Bethesda). 2007 Aug;22:241-51.

238. Alvarez-Buylla R, de Alvarez-Buylla ER. Carotid sinus receptors participate in glucose homeostasis. Respir Physiol. 1988 Jun;72(3):347-59.

239. Alvarez-Buylla R, Alvarez-Buylla E, Mendoza H, Montero SA, Alvarez-Buylla A. Pituitary and adrenals are required for hyperglycemic reflex initiated by stimulation of CBR with cyanide. Am J Physiol. 1997 Jan;272(1 Pt 2):R392-9.

240. Koyama Y, Coker RH, Stone EE, Lacy DB, Jabbour K, Williams PE, et al. Evidence that carotid bodies play an important role in glucoregulation in vivo. Diabetes. 2000 Sep;49(9):1434-42.

241. Wehrwein EA, Basu R, Basu A, Curry TB, Rizza RA, Joyner MJ. Hyperoxia blunts counterregulation during hypoglycaemia in humans: possible role for the carotid bodies? J Physiol. 2010 Nov 15;588(Pt 22):4593-601.

242. Bin-Jaliah I, Maskell PD, Kumar P. Indirect sensing of insulin-induced hypoglycaemia by the carotid body in the rat. J Physiol. 2004 Apr 1;556(Pt 1):255-66.

243. Bin-Jaliah I, Maskell PD, Kumar P. Carbon dioxide sensitivity during hypoglycaemiainduced, elevated metabolism in the anaesthetized rat. J Physiol. 2005 Mar 15;563(Pt 3):883-93.

244. Ohshima Y, Iwase M, Izumizaki M, Nakayama H, Narita I, Homma I. Effects of fasting on hypoxic ventilatory responses and the contribution of histamine H₁ receptors in mice. J Physiol Sci. 2011 Mar;61(2):73-82.

245. Ward DS, Voter WA, Karan S. The effects of hypo- and hyperglycaemia on the hypoxic ventilatory response in humans. J Physiol. 2007 Jul 15;582(Pt 2):859-69.

246. Pardal R, Lopez-Barneo J. Low glucose-sensing cells in the carotid body. Nat Neurosci. 2002 Mar;5(3):197-8.

247. Conde SV, Obeso A, Gonzalez C. Low glucose effects on rat carotid body chemoreceptor cells' secretory responses and action potential frequency in the carotid sinus nerve. J Physiol. 2007 Dec 15;585(Pt 3):721-30.

248. Zhang M, Buttigieg J, Nurse CA. Neurotransmitter mechanisms mediating low-glucose signalling in cocultures and fresh tissue slices of rat carotid body. J Physiol. 2007 Feb 1;578(Pt 3):735-50.

249. Gallego-Martin T, Fernandez-Martinez S, Rigual R, Obeso A, Gonzalez C. Effects of low glucose on carotid body chemoreceptor cell activity studied in cultures of intact organs and in dissociated cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2012 Apr;302(8):C1128-40.

250. Kumar P. How sweet it is: sensing low glucose in the carotid body. J Physiol. 2007 Feb 1;578(Pt 3):627.

251. Fitzgerald RS, Shirahata M, Chang I, Kostuk E. The impact of hypoxia and low glucose on the release of acetylcholine and ATP from the incubated cat carotid body. Brain Res. 2009 May 13;1270:39-44.

252. Kim D, Kim I, Papreck JR, Donnelly DF, Carroll JL. Characterization of an ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel in rat carotid body glomus cells. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011 Aug 15;177(3):247-55.

253. Garcia-Fernandez M, Ortega-Saenz P, Castellano A, Lopez-Barneo J. Mechanisms of low-glucose sensitivity in carotid body glomus cells. Diabetes. 2007 Dec;56(12):2893-900.

254. Zhong H, Zhang M, Nurse CA. Synapse formation and hypoxic signalling in co-cultures of rat petrosal neurones and carotid body type 1 cells. J Physiol. 1997 Sep 15;503 (Pt 3):599-612.

255. Wang ZZ, Stensaas LJ, Dinger B, Fidone SJ. Immunocytochemical localization of choline acetyltransferase in the carotid body of the cat and rabbit. Brain Res. 1989 Sep 25;498(1):131-4.

256. Nurse CA, Zhang M. Acetylcholine contributes to hypoxic chemotransmission in cocultures of rat type 1 cells and petrosal neurons. Respir Physiol. 1999 Apr 1;115(2):189-99.

257. Nurse CA. Localization of acetylcholinesterase in dissociated cell cultures of the carotid body of the rat. Cell Tissue Res. 1987 Oct;250(1):21-7.

258. Zhong H, Nurse CA. Nicotinic acetylcholine sensitivity of rat petrosal sensory neurons in dissociated cell culture. Brain Res. 1997 Aug 22;766(1-2):153-61.

259. Fitzgerald RS, Shirahata M. Acetylcholine and carotid body excitation during hypoxia in the cat. J Appl Physiol. 1994 Apr;76(4):1566-74.

260. Donnelly DF. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors do not mediate excitatory transmission in young rat carotid body. J Appl Physiol. 2009 Dec;107(6):1806-16.

261. Prasad M, Fearon IM, Zhang M, Laing M, Vollmer C, Nurse CA. Expression of $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ receptor subunits in rat carotid body afferent neurones: role in chemosensory signalling. J Physiol. 2001 Dec 15;537(Pt 3):667-77.

262. Lewis C, Neidhart S, Holy C, North RA, Buell G, Surprenant A. Coexpression of $P2X_2$ and $P2X_3$ receptor subunits can account for atp-gated currents in sensory neurons. Nature. [Article]. 1995 Oct;377(6548):432-5.

263. McQueen DS, Bond SM, Moores C, Chessell I, Humphrey PP, Dowd E. Activation of P2X receptors for adenosine triphosphate evokes cardiorespiratory reflexes in anaesthetized rats. J Physiol. 1998 Mar 15;507 (Pt 3):843-55.

264. Niane LM, Donnelly DF, Joseph V, Bairam A. Ventilatory and carotid body chemoreceptor responses to purinergic P2X receptor antagonists in newborn rats. J Appl Physiol. Jan;110(1):83-94.

265. Rong W, Gourine AV, Cockayne DA, Xiang Z, Ford AP, Spyer KM, et al. Pivotal role of nucleotide P2X₂ receptor subunit of the ATP-gated ion channel mediating ventilatory responses to hypoxia. J Neurosci. 2003 Dec 10;23(36):11315-21.

266. Zapata P, Hess A, Bliss EL, Eyzaguirre C. Chemical, electron microscopic and physiological observations on the role of catecholamines in the carotid body. Brain Res. 1969 Jul;14(2):473-96.

267. Nurse CA, Fearon IM. Carotid body chemoreceptors in dissociated cell culture. Microsc Res Tech. 2002 Nov 1;59(3):249-55.

268. Chiocchio SR, Biscardi AM, Tramezzani JH. Catecholamines in the carotid body of the cat. Nature. 1966 Nov 19;212(5064):834-5.

269. Welsh MJ, Heistad DD, Abboud FM. Depression of ventilation by dopamine in man. Evidence for an effect on the chemoreceptor reflex. J Clin Invest. 1978 Mar;61(3):708-13.

270. Zapata P. Effects of dopamine on carotid chemo- and baroreceptors in vitro. J Physiol. 1975 Jan;244(1):235-51.

271. Docherty RJ, McQueen DS. Inhibitory action of dopamine on cat carotid chemoreceptors. J Physiol. 1978 Jun;279:425-36.

272. Mir AK, McQueen DS, Pallot DJ, Nahorski SR. Direct biochemical and neuropharmacological identification of dopamine D₂-receptors in the rabbit carotid body. Brain Res. 1984 Jan 23;291(2):273-83.

273. Gauda EB, Northington FJ, Linden J, Rosin DL. Differential expression of A_{2A} , A_1 -adenosine and D_2 -dopamine receptor genes in rat peripheral arterial chemoreceptors during postnatal development. Brain Res. 2000 Jul 28;872(1-2):1-10.

274. Carroll JL, Boyle KM, Wasicko MJ, Sterni LM. Dopamine D₂ receptor modulation of carotid body type 1 cell intracellular calcium in developing rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2005 May;288(5):L910-6.

275. Conde SV, Gonzalez C, Batuca JR, Monteiro EC, Obeso A. An antagonistic interaction between A_{2B} adenosine and D_2 dopamine receptors modulates the function of rat carotid body chemoreceptor cells. J Neurochem. 2008 Dec;107(5):1369-81.

276. Oomori Y, Nakaya K, Tanaka H, Iuchi H, Ishikawa K, Satoh Y, et al. Immunohistochemical and histochemical evidence for the presence of noradrenaline, serotonin and gamma-aminobutyric acid in chief cells of the mouse carotid body. Cell Tissue Res. 1994 Nov;278(2):249-54.

277. Zhang M, Nurse CA. Does endogenous 5-HT mediate spontaneous rhythmic activity in chemoreceptor clusters of rat carotid body? Brain Res. 2000 Jul 28;872(1-2):199-203.

278. Zhang M, Fearon IM, Zhong H, Nurse CA. Presynaptic modulation of rat arterial chemoreceptor function by 5-HT: role of K⁺ channel inhibition via protein kinase C. J Physiol. 2003 Sep 15;551(Pt 3):825-42.

279. Jacono FJ, Peng YJ, Kumar GK, Prabhakar NR. Modulation of the hypoxic sensory response of the carotid body by 5-hydroxytryptamine: role of the 5-HT₂ receptor. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2005 Feb 15;145(2-3):135-42.

280. McQueen DS, Ribeiro JA. Effects of beta-endorphin, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide and cholecystokinin octapeptide on cat carotid chemoreceptor activity. Q J Exp Physiol. 1981 Jul;66(3):273-84.

281. McQueen DS, Ribeiro JA. On the specificity and type of receptor involved in carotid body chemoreceptor activation by adenosine in the cat. Br J Pharmacol. 1983 Oct;80(2):347-54.

282. Runold M, Cherniack NS, Prabhakar NR. Effect of adenosine on isolated and superfused cat carotid body activity. Neurosci Lett. 1990 May 18;113(1):111-4.

283. Vandier C, Conway AF, Landauer RC, Kumar P. Presynaptic action of adenosine on a 4aminopyridine-sensitive current in the rat carotid body. J Physiol. 1999 Mar 1;515 (Pt 2):419-29.

284. Monteiro EC, Ribeiro JA. Ventilatory effects of adenosine mediated by carotid body chemoreceptors in the rat. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 1987 Feb;335(2):143-8.

285. Monteiro EC, Ribeiro JA. Adenosine deaminase and adenosine uptake inhibitions facilitate ventilation in rats. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 1989 Aug;340(2):230-8.

286. Watt AH, Reid PG, Stephens MR, Routledge PA. Adenosine-induced respiratory stimulation in man depends on site of infusion. Evidence for an action on the carotid body? Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1987 Apr;23(4):486-90.

287. Biaggioni I, Killian TJ, Mosqueda-Garcia R, Robertson RM, Robertson D. Adenosine increases sympathetic nerve traffic in humans. Circulation. 1991 May;83(5):1668-75.

288. Engelstein ED, Lerman BB, Somers VK, Rea RF. Role of arterial chemoreceptors in mediating the effects of endogenous adenosine on sympathetic nerve activity. Circulation. 1994 Dec;90(6):2919-26.

289. Bianchi V, Spychala J. Mammalian 5'-nucleotidases. J Biol Chem. 2003 Nov 21;278(47):46195-8.

290. Cass CE, Young JD, Baldwin SA. Recent advances in the molecular biology of nucleoside transporters of mammalian cells. Biochem Cell Biol. 1998;76(5):761-70.

291. McQueen DS, Ribeiro JA. Pharmacological characterization of the receptor involved in chemoexcitation induced by adenosine. Br J Pharmacol. 1986 Jul;88(3):615-20.

292. Lee SD, Nakano H, Farkas GA. Adenosinergic modulation of ventilation in obese zucker rats. Obes Res. 2005 Mar;13(3):545-55.

293. Maxwell DL, Fuller RW, Nolop KB, Dixon CM, Hughes JM. Effects of adenosine on ventilatory responses to hypoxia and hypercapnia in humans. J Appl Physiol. 1986 Nov;61(5):1762-6.

294. Nurse CA. Neurotransmitter and neuromodulatory mechanisms at peripheral arterial chemoreceptors. Exp Physiol. 2010 Jun;95(6):657-67.

295. Ribeiro JA, Sebastiao AM. Modulation and metamodulation of synapses by adenosine. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2010 Jun;199(2):161-9.

296. Kobayashi S, Conforti L, Millhorn DE. Gene expression and function of adenosine A_{2A} receptor in the rat carotid body. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2000 Aug;279(2):L273-82.

297. Conde SV, Obeso A, Vicario I, Rigual R, Rocher A, Gonzalez C. Caffeine inhibition of rat carotid body chemoreceptors is mediated by A_{2A} and A_{2B} adenosine receptors. J Neurochem. 2006 Jul;98(2):616-28.

298. Monteiro EC, Vera-Cruz P, Monteiro TC, Silva e Sousa MA. Adenosine increases the cAMP content of the rat carotid body in vitro. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1996;410:299-303.

299. Xu F, Xu J, Tse FW, Tse A. Adenosine stimulates depolarization and rise in cytoplasmic [Ca²⁺] in type I cells of rat carotid bodies. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2006 Jun;290(6):C1592-8.

300. Young T, Palta M, Dempsey J, Skatrud J, Weber S, Badr S. The occurrence of sleepdisordered breathing among middle-aged adults. N Engl J Med. [Article]. 1993 Apr;328(17):1230-5.

301. Duran J, Esnaola S, Rubio R, Iztueta A. Obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea and related clinical features in a population-based sample of subjects aged 30 to 70 yr. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. [Article]. 2001 Mar;163(3):685-9.

302. Nieto FJ, Young TB, Lind BK, Shahar E, Samet JM, Redline S, et al. Association of sleep-disordered breathing, sleep apnea, and hypertension in a large community-based study. JAMA-J Am Med Assoc. [Article]. 2000 Apr;283(14):1829-36.

303. Flemons WW, Buysse D, Redline S, Pack A, Strohl K, Wheatley J, et al. Sleep-related breathing disorders in adults: Recommendations for syndrome definition and measurement techniques in clinical research. Sleep. [Review]. 1999 Aug;22(5):667-89.

304. Shahar E, Whitney CW, Redline S, Lee ET, Newman AB, Nieto FJ, et al. Sleepdisordered breathing and cardiovascular disease: Cross-sectional results of the sleep heart health study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. [Article]. 2001 Jan;163(1):19-25.

305. Yaggi HK, Concato J, Kernan WN, Lichtman JH, Brass LM, Mohsenin V. Obstructive sleep apnea as a risk factor for stroke and death. N Engl J Med. [Article]. 2005 Dec;353(19):2034-41.

306. Carlson JT, Hedner J, Elam M, Ejnell H, Sellgren J, Wallin BG. Augmented resting sympathetic activity in awake patients with obstructive sleep-apnea. Chest. [Article]. 1993 Jun;103(6):1763-8.

307. Somers VK, Dyken ME, Clary MP, Abboud FM. Sympathetic neural mechanisms in obstructive sleep-apnea. J Clin Invest. [Article]. 1995 Oct;96(4):1897-904.

308. Peppard PE, Young T, Palta M, Skatrud J. Prospective study of the association between sleep-disordered breathing and hypertension. N Engl J Med. [Article]. 2000 May;342(19):1378-84.

309. Narkiewicz K, van de Borne PJH, Montano N, Dyken ME, Phillips BG, Somers VK. Contribution of tonic chemoreflex activation to sympathetic activity and blood pressure in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Circulation. [Article]. 1998 Mar;97(10):943-5.

310. Fletcher EC, Lesske J, Behm R, Miller CC, 3rd, Stauss H, Unger T. Carotid chemoreceptors, systemic blood pressure, and chronic episodic hypoxia mimicking sleep apnea. J Appl Physiol. 1992 May;72(5):1978-84.

311. Narkiewicz K, van de Borne PJH, Pesek CA, Dyken ME, Montano N, Somers VK. Selective potentiation of peripheral chemoreflex sensitivity in obstructive sleep apnea. Circulation. [Article]. 1999 Mar;99(9):1183-9.

312. Greenberg HE, Sica A, Batson D, Scharf SM. Chronic intermittent hypoxia increases sympathetic responsiveness to hypoxia and hypercapnia. J Appl Physiol. [Article]. 1999 Jan;86(1):298-305.

313. Peng YJ, Overholt JL, Kline D, Kumar GK, Prabhakar NR. Induction of sensory long-term facilitation in the carotid body by intermittent hypoxia: implications for recurrent apneas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Aug 19;100(17):10073-8.

314. Peng YJ, Rennison J, Prabhakar NR. Intermittent hypoxia augments carotid body and ventilatory response to hypoxia in neonatal rat pups. J Appl Physiol. 2004 Nov;97(5):2020-5.

315. Peng YJ, Nanduri J, Yuan G, Wang N, Deneris E, Pendyala S, et al. NADPH oxidase is required for the sensory plasticity of the carotid body by chronic intermittent hypoxia. J Neurosci. 2009 Apr 15;29(15):4903-10.

316. Peng YJ, Yuan G, Jacono FJ, Kumar GK, Prabhakar NR. 5-HT evokes sensory longterm facilitation of rodent carotid body via activation of NADPH oxidase. J Physiol. 2006 Oct 1;576(Pt 1):289-95.

317. Peng YJ, Yuan G, Ramakrishnan D, Sharma SD, Bosch-Marce M, Kumar GK, et al. Heterozygous HIF-1alpha deficiency impairs carotid body-mediated systemic responses and reactive oxygen species generation in mice exposed to intermittent hypoxia. J Physiol. 2006 Dec 1;577(Pt 2):705-16.

318. Yuan G, Nanduri J, Khan S, Semenza GL, Prabhakar NR. Induction of HIF-1alpha expression by intermittent hypoxia: involvement of NADPH oxidase, Ca²⁺ signaling, prolyl hydroxylases, and mTOR. J Cell Physiol. 2008 Dec;217(3):674-85.

319. Yuan G, Khan SA, Luo W, Nanduri J, Semenza GL, Prabhakar NR. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 mediates increased expression of NADPH oxidase-2 in response to intermittent hypoxia. J Cell Physiol. 2011 Nov;226(11):2925-33.

320. Peng YJ, Nanduri J, Khan SA, Yuan G, Wang N, Kinsman B, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha (HIF-2alpha) heterozygous-null mice exhibit exaggerated carotid body sensitivity to hypoxia, breathing instability, and hypertension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011 Feb 15;108(7):3065-70.

321. Nanduri J, Wang N, Yuan G, Khan SA, Souvannakitti D, Peng YJ, et al. Intermittent hypoxia degrades HIF-2alpha via calpains resulting in oxidative stress: implications for recurrent apnea-induced morbidities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009 Jan 27;106(4):1199-204.

322. Prabhakar NR. Sensory plasticity of the carotid body: role of reactive oxygen species and physiological significance. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011 Sep 30;178(3):375-80.

323. Khan SA, Nanduri J, Yuan G, Kinsman B, Kumar GK, Joseph J, et al. NADPH oxidase 2 mediates intermittent hypoxia-induced mitochondrial complex I inhibition: relevance to blood pressure changes in rats. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011 Feb 15;14(4):533-42.

324. Leimbach WN, Wallin BG, Victor RG, Aylward PE, Sundlof G, Mark AL. Direct evidence from intraneural recordings for increased central sympathetic outflow in patients with heart-failure. Circulation. [Article]. 1986 May;73(5):913-9.

325. Chua TP, Clark AL, Amadi AA, Coats AJ. Relation between chemosensitivity and the ventilatory response to exercise in chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996 Mar 1;27(3):650-7.

326. Sun SY, Wang W, Zucker IH, Schultz HD. Enhanced peripheral chemoreflex function in conscious rabbits with pacing-induced heart failure. J Appl Physiol. 1999 Apr;86(4):1264-72.

327. Sun SY, Wang W, Zucker IH, Schultz HD. Enhanced activity of carotid body chemoreceptors in rabbits with heart failure: role of nitric oxide. J Appl Physiol. 1999 Apr;86(4):1273-82.

328. Li YL, Li YF, Liu D, Cornish KG, Patel KP, Zucker IH, et al. Gene transfer of neuronal nitric oxide synthase to carotid body reverses enhanced chemoreceptor function in heart failure rabbits. Circ Res. 2005 Aug 5;97(3):260-7.

329. Ding Y, Li YL, Schultz HD. Downregulation of carbon monoxide as well as nitric oxide contributes to peripheral chemoreflex hypersensitivity in heart failure rabbits. J Appl Physiol. 2008 Jul;105(1):14-23.

330. Li YL, Gao L, Zucker IH, Schultz HD. NADPH oxidase-derived superoxide anion mediates angiotensin II-enhanced carotid body chemoreceptor sensitivity in heart failure rabbits. Cardiovasc Res. 2007 Aug 1;75(3):546-54.

331. Li YL, Xia XH, Zheng H, Gao L, Li YF, Liu D, et al. Angiotensin II enhances carotid body chemoreflex control of sympathetic outflow in chronic heart failure rabbits. Cardiovasc Res. 2006 Jul 1;71(1):129-38.

332. Ding Y, Li YL, Zimmerman MC, Schultz HD. Elevated mitochondrial superoxide contributes to enhanced chemoreflex in heart failure rabbits. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2009 Feb;298(2):R303-11.

333. Abdala AP, McBryde FD, Marina N, Hendy EB, Engelman ZJ, Fudim M, et al. Hypertension is critically dependent on the carotid body input in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Physiol. 2012 Sep 1;590(Pt 17):4269-77.

334. Matsukawa T, Mano T, Gotoh E, Ishii M. Elevated sympathetic-nerve activity in patients with accelerated essential-hypertension. J Clin Invest. [Article]. 1993 Jul;92(1):25-8.

335. Tan ZY, Lu Y, Whiteis CA, Simms AE, Paton JF, Chapleau MW, et al. Chemoreceptor hypersensitivity, sympathetic excitation, and overexpression of ASIC and TASK channels before the onset of hypertension in SHR. Circ Res. 2010 Feb 19;106(3):536-45.

336. Grynkiewicz G, Poenie M, Tsien RY. A new generation of Ca²⁺ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J Biol Chem. 1985 Mar 25;260(6):3440-50.

337. Joels N, Neil E. The action of high tensions of carbon monoxide on the carotid chemoreceptors. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther. 1962 Oct 1;139:528-34.

338. Kline DD, Yang T, Huang PL, Prabhakar NR. Altered respiratory responses to hypoxia in mutant mice deficient in neuronal nitric oxide synthase. J Physiol. 1998 Aug 15;511 (Pt 1):273-87.

339. Varas R, Buckler KJ. Regulation of a TASK-like potassium channel in rat carotid body type I cells by ATP. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2006;580:167-72; discussion 351-9.

340. Griffiths C, Wykes V, Bellamy TC, Garthwaite J. A new and simple method for delivering clamped nitric oxide concentrations in the physiological range: Application to activation of guanylyl cyclase-coupled nitric oxide receptors. Molecular Pharmacology. 2003 Dec;64(6):1349-56.

341. Pinder AG, Pittaway E, Morris K, James PE. Nitrite directly vasodilates hypoxic vasculature via nitric oxide-dependent and -independent pathways. Br J Pharmacol. 2009 Aug;157(8):1523-30.

342. Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, Fenyk-Melody J, et al. Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. J Clin Invest. 2001 Oct;108(8):1167-74.

343. Varas R, Wyatt CN, Buckler KJ. Modulation of TASK-like background potassium channels in rat arterial chemoreceptor cells by intracellular ATP and other nucleotides. J Physiol. 2007 Sep 1;583(Pt 2):521-36.

344. Handa N, Takagi T, Saijo S, Kishishita S, Takaya D, Toyama M, et al. Structural basis for compound C inhibition of the human AMP-activated protein kinase alpha2 subunit kinase domain. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 2011 May;67(Pt 5):480-7.

345. Hawley SA, Pan DA, Mustard KJ, Ross L, Bain J, Edelman AM, et al. Calmodulindependent protein kinase kinase-beta is an alternative upstream kinase for AMP-activated protein kinase. Cell Metab. [Article]. 2005 Jul;2(1):9-19.

346. Sakamoto K, McCarthy A, Smith D, Green KA, Hardie DG, Ashworth A, et al. Deficiency of LKB1 in skeletal muscle prevents AMPK activation and glucose uptake during contraction. Embo Journal. 2005 May 18;24(10):1810-20.

347. Xu PW, Siegel PB, Denbow DM. AICAR and Compound C regulate food intake independently of AMP-activated protein kinase in lines of chickens selected for high or low body weight. Comp Biochem Physiol A-Mol Integr Physiol. [Article]. 2011 Aug;159(4):401-12.

348. Lizcano JM, Goransson O, Toth R, Deak M, Morrice NA, Boudeau J, et al. LKB1 is a master kinase that activates 13 kinases of the AMPK subfamily, including MARK/PAR-1. Embo Journal. [Article]. 2004 Feb;23(4):833-43.

349. Boudeau J, Sapkota G, Alessi DR. LKB1, a protein kinase regulating cell proliferation and polarity. FEBS Lett. [Review]. 2003 Jul;546(1):159-65.

350. Cotten JF, Keshavaprasad B, Laster MJ, Eger EI, 2nd, Yost CS. The ventilatory stimulant doxapram inhibits TASK tandem pore (K2P) potassium channel function but does not affect minimum alveolar anesthetic concentration. Anesth Analg. 2006 Mar;102(3):779-85.

351. Takahashi T, Osanai S, Nakano H, Ohsaki Y, Kikuchi K. Doxapram stimulates the carotid body via a different mechanism than hypoxic chemotransduction. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2005 May 12;147(1):1-9.

352. Obeso A, Gonzalez C, Rigual R, Dinger B, Fidone S. Effect of low O_2 on glucose uptake in rabbit carotid body. J Appl Physiol. 1993 May;74(5):2387-93.

353. Cataldo AM, Broadwell RD. Cytochemical identification of cerebral glycogen and glucose-6-phosphatase activity under normal and experimental conditions .1. neurons and glia. Journal of Electron Microscopy Technique. [Article]. 1986;3(4):413-37.

354. Brown AM, Ransom BR. Astrocyte glycogen and brain energy metabolism. Glia. [Article]. 2007 Sep;55(12):1263-71.

355. Dringen R, Gebhardt R, Hamprecht B. Glycogen in astrocytes: possible function as lactate supply for neighboring cells. Brain Res. 1993 Oct 1;623(2):208-14.

356. Brown AM, Sickmann HM, Fosgerau K, Lund TM, Shousboe A, Waagepetersen HS, et al. Astrocyte glycogen metabolism is required for neural activity during aglycemia or intense stimulation in mouse white matter. J Neurosci Res. [Article; Proceedings Paper]. 2005 Jan;79(1-2):74-80.

357. Brown AM, Tekkok SB, Ransom BR. Glycogen regulation and functional role in mouse white matter. J Physiol-London. [Article]. 2003 Jun;549(2):501-12.

358. Brown AM, Evans RD, Black J, Ransom BR. Schwann cell glycogen selectively supports myelinated axon function. Ann Neurol. [Article]. 2012 Sep;72(3):406-18.

359. Andersen B, Fosgerau K, Kristiansen M, Lundgren K, Westergaard N. Inhibition of glycogen phosphorylase and glycogenolysis in primary rat hepatocytes by 1,4-dideoxy-1,4-imino-D-arabinitol. Diabetes. [Meeting Abstract]. 1999;48:A447-A.

360. Rasmussen P, Madsen CA, Nielsen HB, Zaar M, Gjedde A, Secher NH, et al. Coupling between the blood lactate-to-pyruvate ratio and MCA V-mean at the onset of exercise in humans. J Appl Physiol. [Article]. 2009 Dec;107(6):1799-805.

361. Epstein PN, Boschero AC, Atwater I, Cai X, Overbeek PA. Expression of yeast hexokinase in pancreatic beta cells of transgenic mice reduces blood glucose, enhances insulin secretion, and decreases diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992 Dec 15;89(24):12038-42.

362. Swanson RA, Sagar SM, Sharp FR. Regional brain glycogen stores and metabolism during complete global ischaemia. Neurol Res. 1989 Mar;11(1):24-8.

363. Choi IY, Seaquist ER, Gruetter R. Effect of hypoglycemia on brain glycogen metabolism in vivo. J Neurosci Res. 2003 Apr 1;72(1):25-32.

364. Swanson RA, Choi DW. Glial glycogen stores affect neuronal survival during glucose deprivation in vitro. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1993 Jan;13(1):162-9.

365. Crerar MM, Karlsson O, Fletterick RJ, Hwang PK. Chimeric muscle and brain glycogen phosphorylases define protein domains governing isozyme-specific responses to allosteric activation. J Biol Chem. 1995 Jun 9;270(23):13748-56.

366. Leppanen L, Stys PK. Ion transport and membrane potential in CNS myelinated axons. II. Effects of metabolic inhibition. J Neurophysiol. 1997 Oct;78(4):2095-107.

367. Nishi K, Stensaas LJ. The ultrastructure and source of nerve endings in the carotid body. Cell Tissue Res. 1974;154(3):303-19.

368. Vazquez-Nin G, Costero I, Aguilar R, Echeverria OM. Innervation of the carotid body, types of nerve endings and their possible significance. Acta Anat (Basel). 1977;98(2):233-9.

369. Attwell D, Laughlin SB. An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2001 Oct;21(10):1133-45.

370. Gardner PR, Nguyen DD, White CW. Aconitase is a sensitive and critical target of oxygen poisoning in cultured mammalian cells and in rat lungs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Dec 6;91(25):12248-52.

371. Lee PJ, Alam J, Wiegand GW, Choi AM. Overexpression of heme oxygenase-1 in human pulmonary epithelial cells results in cell growth arrest and increased resistance to hyperoxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Sep 17;93(19):10393-8.

372. Yan LJ, Levine RL, Sohal RS. Oxidative damage during aging targets mitochondrial aconitase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Oct 14;94(21):11168-72.

373. Ho YS, Dey MS, Crapo JD. Antioxidant enzyme expression in rat lungs during hyperoxia. Am J Physiol. 1996 May;270(5 Pt 1):L810-8.

374. Cacciuttolo MA, Trinh L, Lumpkin JA, Rao G. Hyperoxia induces DNA damage in mammalian cells. Free Radic Biol Med. 1993 Mar;14(3):267-76.

375. Bassett DJ, Bowen-Kelly E, Reichenbaugh SS. Rat lung glucose metabolism after 24 h of exposure to 100% oxygen. J Appl Physiol. 1989 Feb;66(2):989-96.

376. Allen CB, Guo XL, White CW. Changes in pulmonary expression of hexokinase and glucose transporter mRNAs in rats adapted to hyperoxia. Am J Physiol. 1998 Mar;274(3 Pt 1):L320-9.

377. Ward DS, Voter WA, Karan S. The role of the carotid bodies in the counter-regulatory response to hypoglycemia. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2009;648:273-80.

378. Fagius J, Niklasson F, Berne C. Sympathetic outflow in human-muscle nerves increases during hypoglycemia. Diabetes. [Article]. 1986 Oct;35(10):1124-9.

379. Petersen KG, Schluter KJ, Kerp L. Regulation of serum potassium during insulin-induced hypoglycemia. Diabetes. [Article]. 1982;31(7):615-7.

380. Abdulrahman A, Agardh CD, Siesjo BK. Local cerebral blood-flow in the rat during severe hypoglycemia, and in the recovery period following glucose injection. Acta Physiol Scand. [Article]. 1980;109(3):307-14.

381. Cryer PE. Glucose counterregulation - prevention and correction of hypoglycemia in humans. Am J Physiol. [Editorial Material]. 1993 Feb;264(2):E149-E55.

382. Joels N, White H. The contribution of the arterial chemoreceptors to the stimulation of respiration by adrenaline and noradrenaline in the cat. J Physiol. 1968 Jul;197(1):1-23.

383. Folgering H, Ponte J, Sadig T. Adrenergic mechanisms and chemoreception in the carotid body of the cat and rabbit. J Physiol. 1982 Apr;325:1-21.

384. Llados F, Zapata P. Effects of adrenoceptor stimulating and blocking agents on carotid body chemosensory inhibition. J Physiol. 1978 Jan;274:501-9.

385. Pizarro J, Warner MM, Ryan M, Mitchell GS, Bisgard GE. Intracarotid norepinephrine infusions inhibit ventilation in goats. Respir Physiol. 1992 Dec;90(3):299-310.

386. Rocher A, Caceres AI, Almaraz L, Gonzalez C. EPAC signalling pathways are involved in low PO₂ chemoreception in carotid body chemoreceptor cells. J Physiol. 2009 Aug 15;587(Pt 16):4015-27.

387. Fabbri E, Brighenti L, Ottolenghi C. Inhibition of adenylate cyclase of catfish and rat hepatocyte membranes by 9-(tetrahydro-2-furyl)adenine (SQ22536). Journal of enzyme inhibition. [Comparative Study; ; Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 1991 1991;5(2):87-98.

388. Cunha RA. Adenosine as a neuromodulator and as a homeostatic regulator in the nervous system: different roles, different sources and different receptors. Neurochem Int. [Review]. 2001 Feb;38(2):107-25.
389. Hourani SM, Bailey SJ, Nicholls J, Kitchen I. Direct effects of adenylyl 5'-(beta,gammamethylene)diphosphonate, a stable ATP analogue, on relaxant P1-purinoceptors in smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol. 1991 Nov;104(3):685-90.

390. O'Connor SE, Wood BE, Leff P. Characterization of P2X-receptors in rabbit isolated ear artery. Br J Pharmacol. 1990 Nov;101(3):640-4.

391. Thompson CM, Wyatt CN. Inhibition of adenylate cyclase attenuates muscarinic Ca²⁺ signaling by a PKA-independent mechanism in rat carotid body Type I cells. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011 Jan 31;175(1):90-6.

392. Kumar P, Prabhakar N. Sensing hypoxia: carotid body mechanisms and reflexes in health and disease. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2007 Jul 1;157(1):1-3.

393. Kumar P, Bin-Jaliah I. Adequate stimuli of the carotid body: more than an oxygen sensor? Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2007 Jul 1;157(1):12-21.